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Foreword

Established during World War II to advise the President regarding the strate-
gic direction of the armed forces of the United States, the Joint Chiefs of Staff
(JCS) continued in existence after the war and, as military advisers and planners,
have played a significant role in the development of national policy. Knowledge
of JCS relations with the President, the National Security Council, and the Secre-
tary of Defense in the years since World War II is essential to an understanding of
their current work. An account of their activity in peacetime and during times of
crisis provides, moreover, an important series of chapters in the military history
of the United States. For these reasons, the Joint Chiefs of Staff directed that an
official history be written for the record. Its value for instructional purposes, for
the orientation of officers newly assigned to the JCS organization, and as a source
of information for staff studies will be readily recognized.

The series, The Joint Chiefs of Staff and National Policy, treats the activities of the
Joint Chiefs of Staff since the close of World War II. Because of the nature of the
activities of the Joint Chiefs of Staff as well as the sensitivity of the sources, the
volumes of the series were originally prepared in classified form. Classification
designations, in text and footnotes, are those that appeared in the original classi-
fied volume. Following review and declassification, the initial four volumes, cov-
ering the years 1945 to 1952 and the Korean war, were distributed in unclassified
form within the Department of Defense and copies were deposited with the Na-
tional Archives and Records Administration. These volumes are now being made
available as official publications.

Volume III describes the participation of the Joint Chiefs of Staff in the Korean
War; their other activities during the period are covered in Volume IV, except for
activities related to Indochina which are covered in a separate series. This vol-
ume was originally planned by Mr. Wilber W. Hoare, who developed an outline
and drafted six of the first seven chapters. Following a lapse of some years, these
drafts were revised and expanded by Dr. Walter S. Poole, under the direction of
Mr. Kenneth W. Condit. Meanwhile, other chapters, or portions thereof, had been
prepared by Miss Martha Derthick, Mr. Morris MacGregor, and Miss Barbara
Sorrill. In 1968, Dr. Robert J. Watson was assigned as the responsible author. He
reviewed existing drafts, carried out additional research, and wrote Chapters 1
through 9 in essentially their present form. When he was transferred to other du-
ties, Mr. James F. Schnabel assumed responsibility for the volume and planned,



Foreword

researched, and wrote the remaining eight chapters. Subsequently, all of the
chapters were reviewed and revised by both Mr. Schnabel and Dr. Watson. Final
revision and historical editing proceeded under the supervision of Dr. Watson in
his capacity as Chief, Histories Branch, and of his successor in that position, Mr.
Kenneth W. Condit. Resource constraints have prevented further revision to re-
flect more recent scholarship.

This volume was reviewed for declassification by the appropriate US Govern-
ment departments and agencies and cleared for release. The volume is an official
publication of the Joint Chiefs of Staff but, inasmuch as the text has not been con-
sidered by the Joint Chiefs of Staff, it must be construed as descriptive only and
does not constitute the official position of the Joint Chiefs of Staff on any subject.

Washington, DC DAVID A. ARMSTRONG
March 1998 Director for Joint History
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Preface

At the time it was fought, the war in Korea was unique in recent American
military experience. Unlike World Wars I and II, which were vigorously prose-
cuted on the battlefield until the enemy surrendered unconditionally, the Korean
conflict ended without clear-cut military victory for either side. It was fought
with limited means for limited objectives. In fact, political efforts to resolve the
conflict at the negotiating table predominated during the last two years of the
conflict. During this period, neither side sought a decision by military means.

The conflict in Korea also was an important milestone in the “cold war” rela-
tions between the Communist and non-Communist nations. By launching an
unprovoked attack on a militarily insignificant country located in an area where
none of their vital interests were involved, the Communists appeared to leaders
of the non-Communist states to be giving proof of their aggressive designs for
world domination. As a result, the United States reversed the policy of reducing
its military establishment and launched an impressive expansion of its armed
forces. At the same time, the United States joined with its North Atlantic Treaty
Organization (NATO) partners to create a military command for the alliance and
to incorporate German forces in it. In the Far East, the United States also acted to
shore up the defenses of the non-Communist world by entering into treaties
with Australia and New Zealand, the Philippines, Japan, South Korea, and Na-
tionalist China.

The Korean War provided the first wartime test for the Joint Chiefs of Staff,
acting as part of the machinery set up by the National Security Act of 1947 and its
1949 amendment. In this capacity, they provided strategic direction to the United
Nations (UN) forces in the field and were the agency by which President Truman
exercised overall control of war strategy. When the focus shifted from combat to
armistice negotiations, the Joint Chiefs of Staff continued to play an active role.
They participated in all the key decisions taken during negotiations, and they
provided the channel of communications between the Government in Washing-
ton and Commander in Chief, United Nations Command (CINCUNC), and his
armistice negotiating team in Korea.

The focus of this volume is, naturally, on the Joint Chiefs of Staff. But as they
were not acting in a vacuum, it has been necessary to describe the context in
which they functioned. To this end, the actions of the President and the Secre-
taries of State and Defense concerning overall military strategy and armistice ne-
gotiations have been described in some detail. In addition, the consequences of
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Preface

these actions, on the battlefield and at the negotiating table, have been sketched
in broad outline.

The authors received help from many sources during the preparation of this
volume and gladly acknowledge their indebtedness. A special debt is owed to
Mr. Ernest H. Giusti and Mr. Vernon E. Davis, respectively Chief of the Histori-
cal Division and Chief of the Special Projects Branch during most of the time
this volume was being written, for their support and encouragement. Without
the research assistance of Mr. Sigmund W. Musinski and his staff in the JCS
Records Information and Retrieval Branch, and of the Modern Military Records
Division, National Archives and Records Service, the authors’ task would have
been far more difficult. Special thanks are due to CWO William A. Barbee and
Janet M. Lekang of the JCS Declassification Branch for the many hours they de-
voted to reviewing and declassifying JCS documents cited in the volume. The
maps were prepared by the JCS Graphics Branch. Mrs. Janet W. Ball, Editorial
Assistant, made an invaluable contribution through her cheerful and efficient
direction of all phases of preparing the original manuscript. We thank Ms. Susan
Carroll for preparing the Index, and Ms. Penny Norman for performing the
manifold tasks necessary to put the manuscript into publishable form.

JAMES F. SCHNABEL
ROBERT ]J. WATSON
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Korea in US Policy, 1945-1950

The Partition of Korea

ne of the war aims formulated by the Allied Powers in World War II was to

dismantle the Japanese Empire and to force Japan to contract within her
own ethnic boundaries. At the Cairo Conference in 1943, President Franklin D.
Roosevelt, Prime Minister Winston S. Churchill, and Generalissimo Chiang Kai-
shek promised that, on the conclusion of the war, Japan would be expelled from
“all the islands in the Pacific which she has seized or occupied since the begin-
ning of the first World War,” from “all the territories Japan has stolen from the
Chinese,” and from “all other territories which she has taken by violence and
greed.” These “other territories” included Korea, an ancient kingdom that had
been a Japanese dependency since 1910. The Cairo Declaration promised that “in
due course Korea shall become free and independent.”

Representatives of the same three powers met at Potsdam on 26 July 1945, after
the end of the war in Europe. They issued a proclamation calling upon Japan to
surrender upon certain specified conditions, one of which was that “the terms of
the Cairo Declaration should be carried out.” This demand was rejected by Japan.'

The Soviet Union was not at war with Japan in July 1945 and was not a party
to these declarations. However, President Roosevelt and his successor, President
Harry S Truman, had briefly discussed the Korean question with Prime Minister
Josef V. Stalin, who had accepted a suggestion by Mr. Roosevelt that Korea be
placed under an international trusteeship pending establishment of an indepen-
dent government for that nation.?

Beyond this general agreement, comparatively little thought was given to the
future of Korea while World War II was in progress. More immediate concerns
engaged the attention of military and political planners in Washington. Prepara-
tion of policy recommendations regarding the surrender and occupation of
enemy territory was the responsibility of the State-War-Navy Coordinating Com-
mittee (SWNCC). The Committee had established a Far East Subcommittee,
which in March and April 1945 circulated several papers relating to the occupa-
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tion of Korea. These, however, dealt with the procedure by which policy was to
be formulated, rather than with the substance of policy. Of particular interest was
SWNCC 79, concerning occupation forces for Korea. It provided that the Depart-
ment of State would prepare a preliminary draft containing recommendations for
the national composition of the occupying forces, which would be circulated for
comment to the Joint Chiefs of Staff and the War and Navy Departments and
subsequently revised and issued in final form.?

In May 1945 Admiral William D. Leahy, the senior member of the Joint Chiefs
of Staff, received from the White House a proposal submitted by Mr. Soon K.
Hahn, a Korean. Mr. Hahn argued that Korea and Manchuria were strategically
of cardinal importance and urged that the United States “permanently occupy”
both regions with its armed forces in order to prevent Russia from gaining con-
trol over them. Admiral Leahy passed this extraordinary proposal to his col-
leagues, asking that some appropriate JCS committee provide an informal opin-
ion on which a reply might be based. The matter was referred to the Joint
Strategic Survey Committee (JSSC), the members of which replied tersely that the
diversion of resources for this purpose from military operations against Japan
would be unjustified at that time.*

The subject of Korea was touched on during discussions between US and
Soviet representatives at the Potsdam Conference. The Soviet Union was commit-
ted to enter the war against Japan, and it was recognized that lines of demarcation
would be necessary between US and Soviet forces. The Joint Chiefs of Staff dis-
cussed this subject with the Chiefs of Staff of the Union of Soviet Socialist
Republics (USSR). The two parties agreed on zones of operation for air and naval
forces in the general area of Japan and Manchuria, but the question of a boundary
for ground operations in Korea did not arise. US officers had been prepared to
suggest a line that would place the capital, Seoul, and at least one other major port
in the US zone. Presumably such a line would have been very near the one ulti-
mately selected—the 38th parallel.®

A few weeks after the Potsdam Conference, Japanese resistance suddenly col-
lapsed. On 6 August 1945 the US Army Air Force dropped the world’s first
atomic bomb upon the Japanese city of Hiroshima. Two days later, Soviet Russia
declared war on Japan. On 9 August a second nuclear weapon was dropped on
Nagasaki. The next day the Japanese Government announced over the radio its
willingness to surrender, subject only to the stipulation that the Emperor be
allowed to retain his position—a condition that was acceptable to the allies.

With these developments, the disposition of Korea and other territories under
Japanese rule suddenly became a matter of urgency. The leisurely procedural
schedule drawn up by the Far East Subcommittee of SWNCC for regulating the
occupation of Korea went into discard. On the night of 10 to 11 August 1945, offi-
cers of the Operations Division (OPD) of the War Department General Staff
began drafting General Order No. 1, which was intended to instruct General
Douglas MacArthur, as Supreme Commander for the Allied Powers, regarding
the surrender and occupation of Japan. The first paragraph of this directive, writ-
ten by Colonel C. H. Bonesteel, III, USA, designated the various commands and
countries that would accept the surrender of Japanese forces in each area.

2
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JCS and National Policy

Colonel Bonesteel was aware that Soviet troops were within easy reach of Korea,
while those of the United States were hundreds of miles away. At the same time,
he deemed it advisable to minimize as far as possible the area of Korea that
would fall into Soviet hands. He therefore wrote into his draft a provision that
Soviet forces would be responsible for accepting the surrender of Japanese troops
north of latitude 38°, while enemy units south thereof would surrender to US
forces. This line, bisecting the Korean peninsula near the center of its length,
would place Seoul and its port, Inch’on, within the US area of responsibility, as
well as the important port of Pusan in southeastern Korea.

The completed draft of General Order No. 1 was at once forwarded to the Joint
Staff Planners (JPS). The Navy member of that body, Rear Admiral M. B. Gardner,
USN, registered the only known disagreement with the 38th parallel proposal. He
advocated moving the line north to 39°, in order to bring the important city of
Dairen, on the Liaotung peninsula of Manchuria, within the US zone. Brigadier Gen-
eral George A. Lincoln, USA, the Army member, replied that the Soviets would be
unlikely to accept a line so far north. A State Department representative (Assistant
Secretary James C. Dunn) was informally consulted; he upheld the Army view, and
Admiral Gardner’s suggestion was rejected. The draft was then circulated for review
by the Joint Chiefs of Staff and the Service Secretaries, together with two other docu-
ments: a proposed directive to General MacArthur as Supreme Commander for the
Allied Powers and an “instrument of surrender” to be signed by Japan.”

The two latter documents were rushed through the machinery of government
and were approved by the President on 13 August 1945.% General Order No. 1,
however, was held up for minor changes that reflected the swiftly changing situa-
tion. As written, it had specified that the “Commanding General, U.S. Expedi-
tionary Forces in Korea” would be responsible for receiving the Japanese surren-
der in southern Korea. The Joint Staff Planners, formally reviewing General Order
No. 1 preparatory to JCS action, recommended that this task be assigned to Gen-
eral MacArthur as Commander in Chief, US Army Forces, Pacific, since the Joint
Chiefs of Staff had made him responsible for the occupation of Korea. The Plan-
ners also endorsed a request by the British Chiefs of Staff for a larger role for
Admiral Louis Mountbatten, the Supreme Allied Commander for South East Asia.’

The Joint Chiefs of Staff adopted the JPS recommendations in the comments on
General Order No. 1 that they sent to the SWNCC on 14 August. Concerning the
general subject of the division and occupation of Korea, they commented as follows:

The parallel 38° north has been selected in Korea since this gives to U.S. forces
the port and communications area of Keijo [Seoul] and a sufficient portion of
Korea so that parts of it might be apportioned to the Chinese and the British in
case some sort of quadripartite administration eventuates. The Joint Chiefs of Staff
do not know of any detailed arrangements for the administration and government
of Korea after the f;panese surrender and urge that the appropriate governmental
authorities take steps at once in order that guidance may be made available to the
U.S. commander charged with the occupation responsibilities in Korea."

The amendments sought by the Joint Chiefs of Staff were accepted by
SWNCC in the version of General Order No. 1 that was sent to President Truman
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on 15 August. The President at once approved it subject to the concurrence of the
three major allies. All of them gave their approval; the Soviet Government asked
for certain changes (none of them involving Korea)when President Truman
rejected the request.!

General MacArthur designated the XXIV Corps, consisting of the 6th, 7th, and
40th Infantry Divisions, to occupy the southern half of Korea and to disarm the
Japanese forces there. On 8 September 1945, troops from these units began land-
ing in Korea. Lieutenant General John R. Hodge, who commanded the XXIV
Corps, became Commanding General, US Army Forces in Korea (CGUSAFIK).!?

During the next two years, the United States sought to reach agreement with
the Soviet Union on the establishment of a government for Korea. The Soviets
had committed themselves to the goal of independence for Korea by announcing
their adherence to the Potsdam Declaration when they entered the war against
Japan. Nevertheless in the Far East, as in Europe, the government of Premier
Josef V. Stalin demonstrated that its objective was to impose Communist rule on
all those territories that its forces had liberated from Axis control. Pending estab-
lishment of a unified Korean government, the United States administered south-
ern Korea through a military government. Embryonic political and administra-
tive institutions were established in order to afford the Koreans some experience
in self-government.”

For General Hodge, as CGUSAFIK, the chain of command ran through Gen-
eral MacArthur to Army headquarters in Washington and thence to the Joint
Chiefs of Staff. General MacArthur held the position of Supreme Commander,
Allied Powers (SCAP). Under the Unified Command Plan promulgated on 1 Jan-
uary 1947, he became Commander in Chief, Far East (CINCFE), while also serving
as Commanding General, US Army Forces, Far East (CGUSAFFE). The Chief of
Staff, US Army, became the JCS executive agent for the occupation of Japan and
Korea. Policy directives were issued by the SWNCC through the Joint Chiefs of
Staff. In addition, the Joint Chiefs of Staff were given an opportunity to comment
on directives in draft form and thus participated in the determination of policy.
Military aspects of the occupation were often handled directly between General
MacArthur and Army authorities, without reference to the Joint Chiefs of Staff.!*

A question that arose in the early days of the US occupation of southern
Korea was the advisability of establishing a Korean military force. In November
1945 officers in General Hodge’s headquarters drafted a plan to create regular
forces (army, navy, air force, and coast guard) which would be equipped with US
surplus stocks. General MacArthur referred the proposal to Washington, but it
was disapproved by the SWNCC, on the grounds that it might jeopardize negoti-
ations with the Soviet Union concerning the unification of Korea. The Committee
would go only so far as to authorize the issue of surplus US weapons to the
Korean National Civil Police.'

Thereupon General Hodge, on his own initiative, established a reserve organi-
zation to supplement the Civil Police in emergencies. It was allowed a strength of
25,000 men, who were to be given infantry training under US advisors and were
to be equipped with captured Japanese weapons. This organization, known as
the Constabulary, was later to evolve into the Army of the Republic of Korea.'t
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North of the 38th parallel, events had meanwhile taken a very different
course, guided by an occupying power whose objective—to incorporate Korea
into the Soviet system—was clear from the outset. The Soviet Army that entered
Korea in August 1945 brought in its train a subservient group of Korean commu-
nist exiles. These men, aided by their ideological brethren who had hidden out in
Korea under the Japanese occupation, provided the raw material for a nominally
civilian and independent government. Initially this puppet regime, like those set
up by the Soviets in eastern Europe, was camouflaged by allowing other groups
to participate. It was headed by a man who took the name of Kim Il Sung, a leg-
endary Korean hero."”

The Soviets also lost no time in building an army in north Korea. A “people’s
militia,” equipped with captured Japanese weapons, was set up immediately.®
As early as September 1947, General A. C. Wedemeyer, USA, who had recently
completed a tour of the Far East at the request of President Truman, estimated
the strength of the North Korean People’s Army (NKPA) at 125,000, and pointed
to the contrast between this powerful force and the South Korean Constabulary,
which at that time stood at 16,000 men."

Establishment of the Republic of Korea

wo years of weary and futile discussions of the Korean problem with the

Soviet Union at length convinced the US Government that a different
approach was necessary. In August 1947 the SWNCC decided that the time had
come to devise some way of withdrawing from Korea without abandoning the
entire nation to the Communists. The members recommended that a final effort
be made to seek an agreement, through a four-power conference with Soviet Rus-
sia, the United Kingdom, and China, to establish a Korean provisional govern-
ment under United Nations (UN) observation. If the Soviet Government rejected
this approach, the United States should then submit the problem of Korea to the
UN General Assembly.’

This conference proposal was approved by the British and Chinese Governments,
but, as expected, was pronounced unacceptable by the Soviet Union.* The next
step, therefore, was to approach the United Nations. Just before the General Assem-
bly opened, the Department of State asked the Joint Chiefs of Staff for an opinion
regarding the US interest in the continuing military occupation of south Korea.

The JCS reply was addressed to the newly appointed Secretary of Defense,
James V. Forrestal, on 25 September 1947. The conclusion reached by the Joint
Chiefs of Staff was that the United States “has little strategic interest in maintain-
ing the present troops and bases in Korea,” for the following reasons:

In the event of hostilities in the Far East, our present forces in Korea would be
a military liability and could not be maintained there without substantial rein-
forcement prior to the initiation of hostilities. Moreover, any offensive operation
the United States might wish to conduct on the Asiatic continent most probably
would by-pass the Korean peninsula.

6
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If, on the other hand, an enemy were able to establish and maintain strong air
and naval bases in the Korean peninsula, he might be able to interfere with
United States communications and operations in East China, Manchuria, the Yel-
low Sea, Sea of Japan and adjacent islands. Such interferences would require an
enemy to maintain substantial air and naval forces in an area where they would
be subject to neutralization by air action. Neutralization by air action would be
more feasible and less costly than large scale ground operations.

In view of the current shortage of military manpower, continued the Joint
Chiefs of Staff, the occupation force in Korea, totaling approximately 45,000 men,
“could well be used elsewhere.” Withdrawal of these troops “would not impair
the military position of the Far East Command,” unless the Soviets subsequently
established a base in south Korea from which they could mount an assault on
Japan. An additional argument for withdrawal was that the continued lack of
progress toward Korean independence might eventually result in “violent disor-
der” that would make the position of the US occupation forces untenable. To be
forced to withdraw hastily under such circumstances would severely damage US
prestige, “quite possibly to the extent of adversely affecting cooperation in other
areas more vital to the security of the United States.”?

Secretary Forrestal forwarded the JCS views to Secretary of State George C.
Marshall, without comment, on 26 September.? The Department of State made
no official reply, but the objective of withdrawal from Korea was approved a few
days later. Secretary Marshall discussed the matter with his advisors on 29
September. They agreed that the United States could not remain in Korea indefi-
nitely, but on the other hand, that it could not “scuttle and run” without severe
damage to its political standing in the world. Therefore, an effort would be made
to reach a settlement that would enable the United States to withdraw “as soon
as possible with the minimum of bad effects.”%

Already the United States had laid the problem before the General Assembly.
A resolution submitted by the US delegation called for elections in each occupa-
tion zone to select representatives for a national assembly. A UN commission
would supervise the elections and the subsequent organization of a government,
and would arrange with the occupying powers for withdrawal of their forces.
Over Soviet opposition the General Assembly on 14 November 1947 approved
the US resolution, amending it to provide for a single election throughout the
entire country, which was to take place not later than 31 March 1948.%

Following this Assembly action, the State-Army-Navy-Air Force Coordinating
Committee (SANACC) turned again to the subject of Korea.?® In a report submit-
ted on 14 January 1948, SANACC 176/35, the Far Eastern Subcommittee of
SANACC foresaw that the Soviet Union would forbid any elections under UN
sponsorship in its occupation zone. In the event of such refusal, the Subcommit-
tee recommended that the United States proceed with elections in the south. For
planning purposes, it was assumed that these elections would take place by 31
March as scheduled; that a new government would be established by 15 August
1948; and that withdrawal of occupation forces would begin at once and would
be completed by 15 November 1948. To avoid subsequent Soviet domination of
south Korea, the United States should build up the Constabulary (within limits of
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available funds, personnel, and equipment), and should provide military and
economic aid to the new government.”

The Joint Chiefs of Staff were in general agreement with these recommenda-
tions. In commenting upon SANACC 176/35, they reaffirmed their view that the
United States had “little strategic interest” in maintaining in Korea forces that
were sorely needed elsewhere. They accordingly wished SANACC 176/35 to
include an unequivocal declaration that US troops would be withdrawn “at the
earliest practicable date,” instead of a statement that withdrawal “may be
assumed.” They warned that it was unlikely that the Constabulary could be
brought to a level of strength that would enable it to defend the country alone,
and that eventual Soviet domination of all Korea would therefore have to be
accepted as probable. However, a stronger Constabulary might deter attacks from
Communist Korea, and limited military aid to south Korea was therefore justifi-
able provided it did not detract from more important programs of assistance.*

SANACC 176/35 was never officially approved and is of interest only in that
it elicited from the Joint Chiefs of Staff another declaration of their desire to dis-
engage from Korea. The Executive Secretary of the newly established National
Security Council pointed out to the members of SANACC that the actions recom-
mended in SANACC 176/35 would have a “far-reaching effect.” Consequently,
before these actions were carried out, the President and the Council should first
consider and approve a basic “position paper” on Korea.?

For this purpose, SANACC’s Far Eastern Subcommittee drafted a new report,
SANACC 176/39, which the parent Committee approved on 25 March 1948. The
shape of events had now become somewhat clearer. The UN Temporary Com-
mission on Korea (UNTCOK) had been forbidden to enter the Soviet zone and
had decided to proceed with the establishment of a separate government in the
south.® The US relationship with this prospective new regime was the subject of
SANACC 176/39. Two possible courses of action were rejected: to abandon
entirely the Korean Government, or to guarantee by force of arms its political
independence and territorial integrity. The recommended alternative was to pro-
vide support “within practicable and feasible limits,” as a means of enabling the
United States to withdraw from Korea with a minimum of adverse effects. Every
effort should be made to create conditions for withdrawal by 31 December 1948.
To this end, the United States should expand, equip, and train the Constabulary
to protect south Korea against anything short of an “overt act of aggression.”
Preparations should also be made to provide economic and military aid, the lat-
ter to include the establishment of a military advisory group. But the United
States “should not become so irrevocably involved in the Korean situation that
any action taken by any faction in Korea or by any other power in Korea could be
considered a casus belli for the U.S.”3!

The Joint Chiefs of Staff gave their endorsement to SANACC 176/39.%2 The
National Security Council and the President subsequently approved it as NSC 8. 3

Plans for expanding the Constabulary, as called for by NSC 8, were already in
existence. General Hodge, with the approval of General MacArthur, had recom-
mended an increase to 50,000 men, who would be furnished with equipment
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transferred from US Army Forces in Korea. The Joint Chiefs of Staff approved
this plan on 18 March 1948.%

Elections in the US occupation zone, the first step toward the establishment of
a government, took place on 10 May 1948, somewhat later than originally plan-
ned. The UN Temporary Commission on Korea observed the electoral process
and certified the results as “a valid expression of the free will of the electorate” in
those parts of the country that were accessible to it. The winning candidates con-
vened as a National Assembly, approved a constitution, and elected Dr. Syngman
Rhee, an elderly patriot who had spent years of exile in the West, as their Presi-
dent. On 15 August 1948 the Government of the Republic of Korea (ROK) was
formally inaugurated and the US military government in Korea came to an end.*

President Truman appointed Mr. John J. Muccio as his Special Representative
to the Republic of Korea with the personal rank of Ambassador. Mr. Muccio
established the US diplomatic mission in Korea on 26 August.*

A counterpart of the Republic of Korea sprang into existence on the other side
of the 38th parallel several weeks later. The origin of this Communist govern-
ment actually dated from 1947, when a “People’s Assembly” gathered in
P’yongyang, the northern capital. In April 1948 this body approved a constitu-
tion for a “Democratic Republic” on the Soviet model. Even earlier, in February
1948, the Assembly had officially announced the establishment of a “People’s
Army.”" Elections for a new assembly were held in August 1948. This new body
formally ratified the constitution and on 9 September 1948 proclaimed the exis-
tence of the “Democratic People’s Republic of Korea.”

The political cleavage of Korea was now complete. Two separate and hostile
governments glowered at one another across a boundary that had originally been
devised solely for the temporary convenience of military commanders in the
closing days of World War II. The seeds of war thus sown along the 38th parallel
were to bear fruit within less than two years.

Withdrawal of US Occupation Forces

ithdrawal of US troops from Korea had originally been scheduled to

begin on 15 August 1948. This intention had been written into SANACC
176/35, as already noted. Later, however, the Department of the Army agreed
to postpone the movement by a month and to allow until 15 January 1949 for
its completion. The delay was granted at the request of the Department of State
in order to afford the new South Korean Government more time in which to
establish itself.*

Removal of troops began on schedule,® but it was not certain that the process
would be completed by the planned deadline. The administration decided that
the Korean question should first be reconsidered by the General Assembly. When
the Soviet Government informed the United States on 18 September that all its
troops would be withdrawn by the end of the year and expressed the “hope” that
the United States would follow suit, the US reply was that the withdrawal issue
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was “part of the larger question of Korean unity and independence,” on which
the US views would be presented “at the appropriate time” to the Assembly.*!

Before the General Assembly could act, two developments cast doubt upon
the advisability of a complete US withdrawal in the near future. In October and
November 1948 the new South Korean Government was severely shaken by
rebellions, instigated by Communists, of units of the Constabulary.# About the
same time, the civil war in China swung decisively against the Nationalists; Mao
Tse-Tung’s Communist forces, sweeping from one victory to another, completed
their conquest of Manchuria and regrouped for a move southward.* It became
evident that South Korea would soon have a third hostile Communist neighbor—
a very large and populous one.

Confronted with these events, President Rhee sought to delay the departure
of US forces until those of his own country had grown strong enough to defend
their new nation.#

In Seoul, Ambassador Muccio backed up South Korea’s request; he consid-
ered that full withdrawal by mid-January would be “inopportune.” Both he and
the Commander of US Army Forces in Korea (Major General John B. Coulter,
who had succeeded General Hodge) thought that an invasion from North Korea
was possible in the near future.>

In Washington, postponement had in fact already been decided upon. On
9 November 1948 the Department of State, asked by the Department of the Army
to confirm the deadline of 15 January 1949, pronounced an opinion that it would
be unwise to enter into the “final and irreversible stages of troop withdrawal”
until the UN General Assembly had acted on the Korean problem.* Accordingly,
on 15 November 1948 the Army instructed General MacArthur to retain in Korea,
for an indefinite period, one reinforced regimental combat team, with a maxi-
mum strength of 7,500 men.#

This decision was not at once communicated to President Rhee, who contin-
ued to seek assurances that US troops would remain.*® At the same time, the
ROK Government moved to strengthen its forces. In November 1948 the National
Assembly enacted legislation converting the Constabulary into a regular army
and establishing a Department of National Defense.# The new army soon out-
stripped the 50,000-man limit underwritten by the United States; by early 1949 its
strength stood at 65,000.% US advisory assistance was continued in accord with
an agreement that had been worked out between President Rhee and General
Hodge. The strength of the Provisional Military Advisory Group (PMAG) at
Headquarters, USAFIK, increased from 100 to 241 between 15 August and 31
December 1948.5!

On 12 December 1948 the UN General Assembly declared the Republic of
Korea to be the only lawful government in that country and established a perma-
nent Commission on Korea (UNCOK) to pursue the goal of unification. At the
same time, the Assembly recommended that all occupation forces be removed
from both north and south “as early as practicable.” 5

The Soviet Union, true to its word, removed the last of its troops before the
end of the year.® The United States was committed to eventual withdrawal, but it
remained to be determined when such a step would be “practicable.” The
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Department of the Army sought the advice of General MacArthur, who replied
on 19 January 1949 that the long-range prospects of the Republic of Korea were
poor. It was, he declared, “not within the capabilities of the US to establish
Korean security forces capable of meeting successfully a full-scale invasion from
North Korea supported by Communist-inspired internal disorder.” Therefore, the
withdrawal date should be based on short-range military and political considera-
tions. The approaching spring would afford a favorable opportunity to with-
draw, he believed; the harvest of winter cereals would be in, US economic aid
would be showing results, and South Korea’s internal politics would therefore be
more stable. General MacArthur suggested the anniversary of the election (10
May 1949) for the final withdrawal. There was no military reason for prolonging
the occupation beyond that date. Establishment of Korean forces adequate to
ensure internal security was “substantially complete,” and further training assis-
tance, if necessary, could be dispensed through a military mission.

General MacArthur’s implied conviction that South Korea would never be
able to defend herself was not shared by President Rhee and his advisors, who
planned a massive increase in the forces at their disposal. They contemplated a
six-division army, 100,000 strong, which would include an air force of 6,000 men
equipped with 350 combat and transport aircraft, as well as a navy of sixty-seven
vessels and 10,000 men that would supplant the small coast guard then in exis-
tence. Early in 1949 the South Korean Government disclosed these plans to the
US Embassy in Seoul, with a request that the United States furnish the assistance
that would be necessary for their execution.

The plans were forwarded to the Chief of Staff, US Army, General Omar N.
Bradley, who in turn relayed them to his JCS colleagues. General Bradley consid-
ered them far too ambitious. He recommended that the United States confine
itself to provision of minimum support for the manpower levels already
approved (50,000 for the Constabulary and 3,000 for the Coast Guard). He
favored establishment of an air detachment but believed that it should be
equipped only with liaison aircraft.s

The two issues of the size of South Korea’s forces and the final withdrawal of
US troops were considered by the Joint Chiefs of Staff in connection with a review
of US policy toward Korea that was instigated by the Department of State after the
action of the UN General Assembly.® The National Security Council (NSC) staff
circulated a draft report on the subject, NSC 8/1, on 16 March 1949. The conclu-
sion reached in this paper was that the United States should continue to provide
political support as well as economic, technical, and military assistance to South
Korea. Military assistance for an army of 65,000 men should also be furnished.
The existing PMAG should be given a permanent basis and should be responsible
for advising both the ROK Army and the Navy. Legislative authorization should
be sought to continue military and economic assistance through fiscal year 1950.

The drafters of NSC 8/1 had recognized that US assistance might not suffice
to prevent the North Koreans from attempting to overthrow the Republic of
Korea by subversion or by outright aggression. The opinion of the Commander
in Chief, Far East (CINCFE), however, was cited in support of the conclusion that
this danger would exist no matter when US forces withdrew, and that no advan-
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tage would accrue from postponing the withdrawal. It was, therefore, recom-
mended that the last US forces be removed by 30 June 1949, subject to consulta-
tion with the UN Commission on Korea and with the ROK Government.5

The Joint Chiefs of Staff endorsed NSC 8/1 with reservations. While favoring
the withdrawal deadline of 30 June 1949, they did not believe that it should be
subject to international consultation. Moreover, they believed, there should be no
commitment to provide major naval or air support for the Republic of Korea.
References to a South Korean “Navy” should be deleted from NSC 8/1, and it
should be made clear that any air force would be a part of the ROK Army.>®

The National Security Council approved NSC 8/1 on 22 March 1949, amend-
ing it as the Joint Chiefs of Staff desired.®® President Truman approved it on the
following day as NSC 8/2.%

Thus the United States was committed to removal of the last of its forces from
Korea by the end of fiscal year 1949. Just before the deadline, however, one mem-
ber of the Joint Chiefs of Staff decided that the National Security Council should
take another look at Korean policy. General Bradley, fearing that the withdrawal
might be followed by an invasion from North Korea, had his staff prepare a
study of the courses of action that would be open to the United States in that sit-
uation. When it was completed, he submitted it to his colleagues on 10 June 1949,
asking that it be forwarded to the NSC.

The study considered the possibility that the United States might, in case of
war, apply the Truman Doctrine to South Korea (supplying military aid on a
scale sufficient to enable the ROK Government to defeat the Communists) or
intervene unilaterally with its own forces. Both of these courses of action were
rejected on the grounds that the resulting commitment of US resources would be
out of proportion to the low strategic value of Korea. Instead, it was recom-
mended that the United States appeal to the UN Security Council. Depending on
the decision taken by that body, the United States might subsequently participate
in a “police action” under UN sanction, furnishing US units as part of an interna-
tional force. Such military action should, however, be regarded as a last resort. If
it became necessary, the US position “should be firm and unequivocal and call
for complete cooperation and full participation by other member nations.”

The authors of the study foresaw that the Security Council might well be par-
alyzed by a Soviet veto. On the other hand, it was possible that the Soviets might
abstain. Such an abstention, “although a non-committal approach, will permit
police action measures and sanctions if such appear warranted later.” The
prophetic accuracy of this remark was to become evident a year later.t!

On the advice of the JSSC, the Joint Chiefs of Staff decided not to forward the
Army study to the NSC, because of its “predominantly political tenor” and
because they had already made clear their views on the strategic position of
Korea. At General Bradley’s request, however, they issued a memorandum for
his guidance in which they declared that Korea was of “little strategic value to
the United States,” that any commitment of US military force in Korea would be
ill advised, and that the introduction of an international army under UN sanction
would be practicable only if the forces envisioned by Article 43 of the UN Char-
ter were in existence.®2
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The last elements of the USAFIK departed on 29 June 1949, under observation
of the UN Commission on Korea. Effective at midnight, 30 June, Headquarters
USAFIK was discontinued.®* On the following day the provisional US advisory
mission in Korea assumed permanent status as the United States Military Advi-
sory Group to the Republic of Korea (KMAG). General MacArthur, as CINCFE,
relinquished all responsibility in Korea except for logistic support of KMAG as far
as the waterline and for emergency evacuation of US personnel if necessary. **

The departing US troops left behind small arms and ammunition, plus light
artillery, mortars, and some vehicles, sufficient for a force of 50,000 men. Subse-
quently, equipment for an additional 15,000, as approved in NSC 8/2, was fur-
nished from US stocks in Japan.®

Congress showed itself agreeable to the provision of further military assis-
tance. Legislation enacted in October 1949 appropriated $27,640,000 for the
Republic of Korea, Iran, and the Philippines, leaving it to the administration to
divide up the total.® A bilateral agreement with South Korea, required by law as
a condition of eligibility, was signed in Seoul on 26 January 1950.

The US military aid program for South Korea was intended to support an
army of 84,000 men.%® The South Korean Government, however, planned to
expand beyond that figure. By August 1949 the ROK Army had almost reached
the goal of 100,000 men, and eight infantry divisions had been established
instead of the six originally projected. Two months later the air detachment was
removed from the Army and given the status of a separate Air Force. US advisors
had opposed these developments, believing that they would severely strain
South Korea’s manpower and economy. Nevertheless, once the South Korean Air
Force was established, KMAG accepted the responsibility of advising it and rec-
ommended that the United States provide a limited number of fighter aircraft for
South Korea.”

The Problem of Taiwan

ith the end of the US occupation, the subject of Korea receded into the
background, and a new difficulty arose to engage the attention of US poli-
cymakers. In China, Mao Tse-tung’s forces began a southward drive that was to
bring all China under their control. Chiang Kai-shek’s forces (to which the
United States had furnished large amounts of military aid) proved utterly inca-
pable of stemming the advance of the “People’s Liberation Army.” On 1 October
1949, with most of mainland China in their grasp and the outcome no longer in
doubt, the new rulers of China proclaimed the foundation of the “Chinese Peo-
ple’s Republic.”7
It could safely be assumed that Communist China would stand shoulder to
shoulder with Soviet Russia on major world issues. Thus the world balance of
power seemed likely to tip in favor of the Communist bloc. For the administra-
tion, the new Far Eastern situation presented internal as well as external prob-
lems. Some elements of US public opinion, and their spokesmen in Congress,
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ascribed the collapse of the Chiang regime to mistaken US policies and urged a
massive last-minute aid program to try to shore up the crumbling Chinese
Nationalist regime.”!

In the hope of silencing its critics by spreading all the facts on record, the Tru-
man administration in August 1949 released a voluminous compilation of docu-
ments tracing the history of US relations with China, some of them going back to
the nineteenth century but most dating from World War II or later. They seemed
to point to the conclusion that, in Secretary Dean G. Acheson’s words, the out-
come of the Chinese civil war was “the product of internal Chinese forces . . . which
this country tried to influence but could not,” and that the United States had no
choice but to accept the new situation that had come into being in China. But this
“White Paper” failed to put an end to the controversy.”

The long-range consequences of the collapse of Nationalist China were for the
future to determine, but one of the results had to be faced immediately. The
island of Taiwan, or Formosa, off the coast of China, had historically been a part
of the Chinese Empire.” Seized by Japan in 1895, it was returned to China at the
end of World War 11, in accord with the Cairo Declaration. A victorious Commu-
nist regime in China could be expected as a matter of course to lay claim to Tai-
wan. In hostile hands, it would jeopardize the US position in the Western Pacific,
which was anchored in the nearby Philippine and Ryukyu Islands.

Beginning in November 1948, while the outcome of the Chinese Civil War was
still in doubt, the President and the National Security Council devoted consider-
able attention to the problem of Taiwan. They recognized the importance of pre-
venting the island from falling into unfriendly hands but agreed that no military
forces should be committed for the purpose; political, diplomatic, and economic
measures would be used instead. This policy, which accorded with the recom-
mendations of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, was reaffirmed in October 1949, after the
proclamation of the “Chinese People’s Republic.” 74

Driven from the mainland, Chiang Kai-shek and his supporters took refuge
on Taiwan, where they maintained their claim to be regarded as the legal gov-
ernment of all China. The United States continued to accord diplomatic recogni-
tion to Chiang’s regime. In October 1949 the National Security Council recom-
mended, and the President agreed, that economic aid to the Nationalists would
be furnished to the extent authorized by existing legislation. Whether or not
such future assistance would be provided was a matter for later decision, to be
made in the light of Chiang’s ability to govern the island effectively and demo-
cratically. The Council considered the resumption of military aid but decided
against it.”>

This latter decision ran counter to the efforts of Chiang’s Congressional sup-
porters to include Nationalist China among the beneficiaries of the Mutual
Defense Assistance Act (MDAA) of 1949. The administration opposed this
attempt, and the debate grew acrimonious but was settled by a compromise. The
final law, approved in Octoter 1949, authorized $75 million to accomplish in the
“general area” of China the “policies and purposes” of the act. There was no
mention of the Nationalist Government, nor was it specified that the money was
to be used for military aid.”
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For the moment, the administration took no action to make use of this discre-
tionary authority. To the Joint Chiefs of Staff, however, Chiang’s regime was
beginning to appear in a new light. With mainland China in the hands of a power
that defiantly trumpeted its hostility to the United States, the importance of Tai-
wan had to be reassessed. At the suggestion of General Collins, the Joint Chiefs
of Staff restudied its strategic value. They concluded that, while armed US inter-
vention to defend Taiwan would be unjustified, a “modest, well-directed, and
closely-supervised program of military aid” to the Nationalists would serve US
interests. On 23 December 1949 they recommended to the Secretary of Defense
that such a program be undertaken as “part of the overall problem of resisting
the spread of Communist domination in East Asia.” Subject to his approval, they
continued, they proposed to direct CINCFE and the Commander, 7th Fleet, to
make a survey to ascertain the kind and amount of aid required to hold Taiwan
against attack.”

Secretary of Defense Louis Johnson, who had replaced Mr. James Forrestal in
March 1949, was in full agreement with these recommendations and urged the
President to approve them.” Secretary Acheson, however, was opposed. He was
convinced that nothing short of armed intervention could save Taiwan, and that
any lesser involvement, through failure, would do “further damage to our pres-
tige and to our whole position in the Far East.””

The issue came before the National Security Council on 29 December 1949 in
connection with NSC 48/1, a policy paper relating to the Far East as a whole (the
origin of which is described in the next section). In drafting NSC 48/1, the NSC
Staff left the question unresolved and incorporated the views of both Depart-
ments, leaving the Council and the President to make the choice.®** The Joint
Chiefs of Staff, in commenting on NSC 48/1, had of course endorsed the Defense
view. They had also taken the opportunity to recommend the formulation of a
program to make use of the $75 million authorization in the Mutual Defense
Assistance Act, although they did not specifically suggest that the money be used
for the Chinese Nationalists.5!

The Council rejected the Defense Department view and declined to commit
the United States to provide military aid to Chiang. However, the amended ver-
sion of the paper that was ultimately adopted (NSC 48/2) included a recom-
mendation for use of the $75 million authorization.®? President Truman
approved NSC 48/2 but withheld judgment on the application of this money.
“A program will be all right,” he said, “but whether we implement it depends
on circumstances.” 8

In a public statement on 5 January 1950, President Truman settled the issue of
military aid for Taiwan and made clear the US policy regarding the status of the
island. The following two paragraphs constituted the most important part of this
announcement:

The United States has no predatory designs on Formosa, or on any other Chi-
nese territory. The United States has no desire to obtain special rights or privi-
leges, or to establish military bases on Formosa at this time. Nor does it have any
intention of utilizing its Armed Forces to interfere in the present situation. The
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United States Government will not pursue a course which will lead to involve-
ment in the civil conflict in China.

Similarly, the United States Government will not provide military aid or advice
to Chinese forces on Formosa. In the view of the United States Government, the
resources on Formosa are adequate to enable them to obtain the items which they
might consider necessary for the defense of the island. The United States Govern-
ment proposes to continue under existing legislative authority the present ECA
[Economic Cooperation Administration] program of economic assistance.

The President’s statement did not touch on the question of diplomatic recog-
nition of the Chiang regime. This matter had been dealt with in NSC 48/2. The
Council had recommended that the United States continue to recognize the
Nationalist Government “until the situation is further clarified” and avoid rec-
ognizing the Chinese Communists “until it is clearly in the United States interest
to do s0.”%

The application of this policy was to have an influence upon the Korean War
that, although wholly unexpected, was of the utmost importance. The Soviet
Union began an unsuccessful campaign to have Communist China admitted to
the United Nations and to the permanent seat on the UN Security Council that
was allotted to China in the UN Charter. On 13 January 1950 the Soviet delegate,
Yakov A. Malik, left the Council, announcing that his country would not partici-
pate in its proceedings or recognize the legality of its actions until the representa-
tive of the “Kuomintang group” had been ousted.* Quite inadvertently, the
Soviet Union thus left the Security Council free to act, unfettered by a Soviet veto,
when the Korean crisis erupted five months later.

Policy for the Far East: NSC 48/2

hen Secretary of Defense Johnson came into office, he observed with mis-

givings that the United States seemed to have no overall policy for Asia. In
a memorandum for the National Security Council on 10 June 1949, he criticized
the “day-to-day, country-by-country approach” that had hitherto characterized
the US response to the alarming course of Far Eastern developments. There was a
need, in his opinion, for a “carefully considered and comprehensive plan” aimed
at containing Communism in Asia."

The Secretary’s suggestion eventually resulted in NSC 48/2, which the Presi-
dent approved on 30 December 1949. Some of its provisions have already been
noted. Its general effect was to apply the doctrine of “containment” to the Far
East. The US objectives, as defined in NSC 48/2, were to strengthen non-Com-
munist Asia and to reduce the power of the USSR in the Far East. They were to
be pursued by nonmilitary means, such as the promotion of economic and politi-
cal development through suitable trade and investment policies and through the
application of US assistance. Regional associations of friendly Asiatic nations
were to be encouraged. Political support, as well as economic and military aid,
would be provided to the Republic of Korea. But it was recognized that the
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United States would have to “develop and strengthen the security of the area
from Communist external aggression or internal subversion.” Therefore, the
United States should “improve” its position with respect to “Japan, the Ryukyus
and the Philippines.”

In these words, the National Security Council gave implied approval to a con-
viction that was to be explicitly stated in later NSC papers: that the United States
had a vital interest, to be defended by force if necessary, in the major islands off
the coast of Asia. This doctrine was publicly expounded by Secretary of State
Dean Acheson on 12 January 1950. Discussing the crisis in Asia before the
National Press Club in Washington, the Secretary defined the nation’s military
interest in the Far East. He stressed particularly the importance of Japan, which,
he promised, would not be abandoned under any circumstances. The US “defen-
sive perimeter” in the Pacific, he continued, ran along the Aleutians to Japan,
thence to the Ryukyus and the Philippine Islands. These positions would be
defended militarily by the United States in case of necessity. He did not include
either Korea or Formosa in the “defensive perimeter.” Elsewhere in his speech,
however, he spoke of “other areas in the Pacific.” “It must be clear,” he said, “that
no person can guarantee these areas against military attack....Should such an
attack occur .. . the initial reliance must be on the people attacked to resist it and
then upon the commitments of the entire civilized world under the Charter of the
United Nations.”®

Secretary Acheson was later to be criticized for this virtual public admission
that the United States would not defend Korea.® Lacking access to the archives of
the Soviet Union or North Korea, one cannot say how far, if at all, the statement
contributed to the attack on South Korea. It should be remembered, however,
that Secretary Acheson was only stating an established policy decision (based in
part on the advice of the Joint Chiefs of Staff) which might well have become
known to hostile nations by other means. In fact, General MacArthur, almost a
year earlier, had made a similar statement in an interview with a British journal-
ist. “Our line of defense,” he said, “runs through the chain of islands fringing the
coast of Asia.” From south to north, he identified these islands as the Philippines,
the Ryukyus, Japan, and the Aleutians.” Significantly, the General omitted from
this list not only Korea but also Taiwan.

Public debate over the Far Eastern situation went on from 1949 to 1950 with
no lessening of intensity. Attention centered upon the future of the two rival
claimants to the government of China. Administration critics continued to press
for military aid to Chiang and vigorously assailed any thought of diplomatic
recognition of the People’s Republic of China.*?

The subject of Korea drew relatively little attention in this discussion. At one
point, however, economic aid to the Republic of Korea almost became a casualty
of the verbal war over China. In January 1950 the House of Representatives
rejected an administration proposal to authorize $60 million for this purpose.
The opposition was ascribed partly to a conviction that the money would be
wasted but also to irritation at the administration’s refusal to provide military
aid to the Chinese Nationalists. Following pleas from the President and from
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Secretary Acheson, the House reversed itself and the money for Korea was
made available.®

Within the administration, it appeared at first that the President’s statement of
5 January 1950 had permanently settled the question of aid to Chiang. Secretary
Johnson and the Joint Chiefs of Staff abandoned the subject. In laying down
guidance for the preparation of a program for using the $75 million MDAA
authorization, the Secretary specified that no assistance could be provided for
Taiwan except for covert operations. The “general area” of China was expanded
to include practically the entire Far East. In line with this interpretation, the Joint
Chiefs of Staff recommended that most of the money be allocated to Indochina,
where French and loyalist forces were battling Communist insurgents.

The progress of the Indochina revolt, and the evidence that Communist China
was aiding the Viet Minh rebels, were among the facts that impelled the Joint
Chiefs of Staff to question the policy of denying military aid to Nationalist China.
Early in May 1950 they pointed out to the Secretary of Defense that conditions
had changed since the preceding January. As evidence, they cited the Indochi-
nese situation, the Communists’ seizure of Hainan, and the arrival in China of
aircraft and amphibious vessels supplied by the Soviet Union. They observed
that the Nationalists “are presently absorbing the major attention and efforts of
which the Chinese Communist forces are capable of exerting outside their bor-
ders” and expressed the view that it was in the US interest to ensure continued
successful resistance by Chiang’s forces. They renewed their recommendation
that a survey mission be sent to Taiwan to determine aid requirements.*

From Tokyo, General MacArthur—who, like the Joint Chiefs of Staff, had
altered his views on the strategic importance of Taiwan—added his persuasive
voice. In a long message on 29 May 1950, he described the threat that a hostile
Taiwan would offer to the US position in the Pacific. Taiwan, he said, “is the
equivalent of an unsinkable aircraft carrier and submarine tender.” Operating
from the island, Chinese or Soviet forces could strike at US bases on Okinawa
and in the Philippines and sever the shipping lanes running southward from
Japan. While he did not advocate military aid to the Nationalists, he warned that
the United States must take some measures to prevent Communist seizure of Tai-
wan or else prepare to reinforce its positions in the Far East.%

These views were presumably transmitted to Secretary Johnson, who, how-
ever, took no action at the moment. He was planning a trip to the Far East and
doubtless wished to examine the situation for himself before reopening the issue
of military assistance. In mid-June, accompanied by General Bradley (who had
by then become Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff), he toured US military
installations in the Far East and the Pacific and held extensive discussions in
Tokyo with General MacArthur. The prospective Japanese peace treaty was the
principal topic of these conversations, but Taiwan was also discussed. General
MacArthur gave the two visitors a lengthy memorandum in which he again
stressed the importance of Taiwan and endorsed the JCS suggestion for a military
aid survey.””

There the matter stood when the Korean War broke out. Secretary Johnson
and General Bradley returned to Washington only a few hours before the news of
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North Korea’s attack. General Bradley drafted a memorandum for Secretary
Johnson to send to the President, urging the sending of an aid mission to Taiwan,
but it was overtaken by events and never used.®® The crisis in Korea led the Presi-
dent quickly to abandon the “hands-off” policy toward Taiwan that he had
announced on 5 January and ultimately to reverse his decision against furnishing
military aid to Chiang. In the months that followed, the subject of Taiwan became
bound up with that of Korea, partly because of General MacArthur’s increasing
advocacy of the cause of the Chinese Nationalists. When General MacArthur was
dismissed in April 1951, the political currents that had shaped the partisan
debate over Far Eastern policy rose powerfully to the surface. Many of the same
voices that had clamored for aid to Chiang were raised in the General’s defense,
and recriminations over the disastrous outcome of the Chinese Civil War lent
added bitterness to the ensuing debate.

The Balance of Forces in the Far East

y June 1950 the rival governments in North and South Korea had been in

existence almost two years. Each possessed military forces, but those of
North Korea were appreciably larger and better equipped. The Democratic Peo-
ple’s Republic had available a force that, according to later information, approxi-
mated 135,000 men at the time of the invasion. Most of this strength was repre-
sented by the North Korean People’s Army, which boasted seven infantry
divisions at their full combat strength of 11,000 men each, plus a separate
infantry regiment of 3,000, a tank brigade of 6,000, and a 2,000-man motorcycle
regiment—a total combat force of almost 89,000 men. Three other divisions,
newly activated, plus various other units, brought the NKPA to a total of over
116,000. It was backed up by a Border Constabulary of 18,600 men.

The heavy equipment available to the NKPA gave it an impressive superiority
in fire power. Its artillery (mostly from Soviet sources) included 122-mm how-
itzers and 76-mm guns. The Soviet Union had also supplied 150 T-34 tanks of
World War II vintage, as well as approximately 180 aircraft (of which 120 were of
combat type) for the North Korean Air Force.”

The ROK Army was outnumbered by its prospective foe and was deficient in
several important respects. The South Koreans had eight infantry divisions total-
ing 65,000 men, plus an additional 33,000 in headquarters and service troops. All
of the divisions were below their nominal strength of 10,000. Artillery was infe-
rior in numbers, range, and caliber to that of the NKPA, and there were no tanks
at all. Supplies of ammunition and of spare parts were inadequate. Training had
not progressed beyond battalion level. The ROK Air Force of 1,865 men had
available a total of 12 liaison aircraft and 10 trainers; the fighter aircraft recom-
mended by KMAG had not yet been provided. In naval forces, the two nations
were about equal; each possessed small numbers of patrol and other light craft.1?

Although some US military advisors in Korea expressed confidence in the
ROK Army, its weaknesses in equipment and training left it wholly unready to
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meet an all-out onslaught and nearly proved fatal to the Republic itself."” To a
large extent, they reflected the limited mission envisioned for the ROK Army in
US plans. The purpose of the military assistance program for South Korea, as
defined in NSC 8/2, was to provide an army “suitable for maintaining internal
order under conditions of political strife and inspired disorder and for maintain-
ing border security.” To create a force able to repel a massive onslaught by a
modern, well-equipped enemy army had been considered impossible. An addi-
tional consideration was a belief held by US advisory personnel that tanks could
not operate effectively in Korea because of the rugged terrain and the poor condi-
tion of roads and bridges. This conviction, plus the scarcity of funds available,
had led the Military Advisory Group to reject a request for tanks submitted by
the South Korean Ministry of National Defense in October 1949.102

Besides being limited in scope, the US aid program for South Korea was slow
in execution. Over $10 million was allocated for the purpose in FY 1950, but none
of this assistance had reached South Korea when the war broke out. Signal equip-
ment and spare parts totaling approximately $350,000 in value were en route at
that moment, together with another $235,000 worth of equipment and armament
for training aircraft and naval vessels which had been purchased by South Korea
as “reimbursable” aid.'"

Ultimately, the salvation of South Korea was to be made possible by the proxim-
ity of US forces—notably troops from Japan, which was still under Allied occupa-
tion. US Army units in Japan consisted of four divisions—7th, 24th, and 25th
Infantry and 1st Cavalry—making up the Eighth Army under Lieutenant General
Walton H. Walker, USA. The average strength of these divisions was about 13,000
each—far below their authorized war strength of 18,900. They were widely scat-
tered throughout the Japanese islands; the 24th and 25th, in the south, were closest
to Korea and were to be drawn on first in the emergency. Nearby, in Okinawa, was
the 29th Regiment, which was part of the separate Ryukyus Command (RYCOM).'®

Air Force elements in the Far East were divided among three numbered
forces: 5th (Japan), 13th (Philippines), and 20th (Okinawa). Collectively, they con-
stituted the Far East Air Force (FEAF), commanded by Lieutenant General
George E. Stratemeyer, USAF. Their aggregate strength totaled 18 groups of fight-
ers or fighter-bombers (approximately 350 aircraft), one wing of light bombers
(B-26s) and one of medium bombers (B-29s), and several troop carrier units.!"

Vice Admiral C. Turner Joy, USN, commanded the Navy Forces Far East
(NAVEFE), consisting of one light cruiser, four destroyers, and various mine, auxil-
iary, and amphibious craft. Not far away was the more powerful Seventh Fleet,
based in Philippine waters and commanded by Vice Admiral Arthur D. Struble,
with one aircraft carrier, one heavy cruiser, eight destroyers, and three submarines.
It was a part of the forces assigned to the Pacific Command, headed by Admiral
Arthur W. Radford, USN, who, as Commander in Chief, Pacific (CINCPAC), was
General MacArthur’s coequal.'™

The outbreak of war was to reveal that these forces were suffering from severe
defects, largely stemming from the administration’s effort to hold military appro-
priations and expenditures to a minimum. President Truman had laid down this
economy objective in 1948 and had held to it in the preparation of the budgets for
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fiscal years 1950 and 1951. Its effect was to force the Services to abandon the
plans that they had drawn, following the hasty and ill-considered demobilization
at the end of World War II, to expand their forces to levels judged necessary for
the “cold war.” Thus the Army, which in 1947 had set a goal of twenty-five divi-
sions, cut this back to ten and maintained the lower figure only with some diffi-
culty. Secretary of Defense Johnson, when he took office in 1949, had forcefully
supported the President’s economy program. He soon became wholly identified
with it in the public mind, as a result of his frequent public statements, in which
he proclaimed that “fat” was being excised without reducing “muscle.”1%

The Services were in fact well below the manpower strength authorized by
Congress, and the administration intended to keep them so. The following table
makes these facts clear:

Actual Objective
Authorized Strength in FY 51
Strength (30 June 50) Budget
Army 837,000 593,167 630,000
Navy 381,538
Marine Corps 75,370
(Navy-Marine Corps combined) 666,882 (456,908) 461,000
Air Force 502,000 411,277 416,000
Total 2,005,882 1,461,352 1,507,000

The effects of budgetary austerity were most readily apparent in the Army,
which was to bear the brunt of the fighting in Korea. Fund restrictions were
reflected in worn-out or obsolete equipment, inadequate stocks of supplies,
shortened training periods, and other serious deficiencies. Although the number
of divisions remained constant, the figures masked a serious decline in effective-
ness. In the Eighth Army, for example, most combat units were short one-third of
their combat strength so that (with one exception) infantry requirements had
only two battalions, and artillery battalions only two batteries, instead of three.*®

Several months before the Korean War, President Truman had second
thoughts about the wisdom of the rigid budget ceilings he had put into effect. In
the light of Soviet progress in nuclear weaponry (signaled by the explosion of the
first Soviet atomic bomb in August 1949, some years ahead of US expectations),
he had instructed the Secretaries of State and Defense to reexamine US strategic
objectives and plans. A working group convened for this purpose concluded in
April 1950 that programs devoted to national security should be substantially
increased. The members of the group did not spell out detailed proposals, nor
did they indicate how much additional money was needed. Their report (NSC
68) was awaiting consideration by the National Security Council when the
Korean War began.10

It was not expected that the US forces in the Far East would play a major role
in a general conflict. The Joint Outline Emergency War Plan approved by the
Joint Chiefs of Staff in December 1949 envisioned that Western Europe would be
the principal theater of action. In the face of an expected Soviet/satellite thrust
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westwards, the United States would seek to hold a bridgehead on the continent
or to return as soon as possible. In the Far East, the United States would defend
the Philippines, Japan, and Okinawa and would attempt to deny the enemy the
use of Taiwan. No mention was made of Korea, which was presumably to be
written off entirely.™"

The Eve of the Conflict

o one foresaw that the weak, underequipped occupation forces in Japan

would one day be thrown into combat in Korea. It was known, however,
that the border could erupt into war at any time, and Americans in Korea gener-
ally believed that a North Korean attack was certain."? Rumors of an impending
invasion had been current at least as far back as 1948, as already described.
Indeed, beginning in the spring of 1949 there were constant clashes along the
38th parallel. Most were on a small scale, but some involved artillery and
resulted in heavy casualties. The ROK Army gave a good account of itself in
these actions; some, in fact, were instigated by South Korean forces that crossed
the border, inadvertently or on purpose.!3

Frequent guerrilla activity in South Korea testified further to hostile Commu-
nist designs on President Rhee’s government. A steady stream of trained North
Korean agitators slipped southward across the border to instigate violent dissen-
sion. But the Communists failed to produce any outbreaks comparable in scale to
the 1948 mutinies of the Constabulary, and by June 1950 the guerrilla situation
was under control.!¥ Ambassador Muccio, speaking to a Congressional commit-
tee in the spring of 1950 in support of new military assistance legislation,
reported that guerrilla strength had dropped from a peak of 2,000 in September
1949 to 577 in April 1950, and that “the threat of north Korean aggression seems,
temporarily at least, to have been successfully contained.” He warned, however,
that “the undeniable materiel superiority of the [N]orth Korean forces would
provide [N]orth Korea with the margin of victory in the event of a full-scale inva-
sion of the Republic.” "

The North Korean rulers made no secret of their desire to “liberate” their
brethren in the south. Like President Syngman Rhee and his colleagues in Seoul,
the Communists in P’yongyang regarded their own government as the only legit-
imate one in all of Korea. In a letter to the UN Secretary-General in October 1949,
North Korea declared that it reserved the right to unify Korea by force.® Com-
munist demands for “unity” increased as the time of the attack drew near. In
June 1950 the P’yongyang radio broadcast a proposal to establish a single gov-
ernment by 15 August 1950, the fifth anniversary of Korea’s liberation from
Japan. President Rhee rejected this plan."”

Despite general awareness that a dangerous situation existed along the 38th
parallel, the North Korean invasion came unexpectedly. The Far East Command,
the intelligence community in general, and military and civilian policymakers
and advisors in Washington (including the Joint Chiefs of Staff) were alike taken
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by surprise.!'® The situation resembled that on the eve of the Japanese attack on
Pear]l Harbor in December 1941. It was known that the prospective enemy (in this
instance, the Soviet Union and its satellites) was quite capable of launching an
attack in Korea (as in many other parts of the world). But evidences of an inten-
tion to attack at a specific time and place, however clear they looked when illumi-
nated by hindsight, were difficult, at the time, to separate from mere “noise.”"?
The Joint Intelligence Committee, speaking several days after the outbreak of the
war, summed up the available intelligence as follows:

There were prior indications of the North Korean pushoff, including reports
of civilian evacuation along [the] 38th parallel, but these were not regarded as
sufficiently significant, in view of the fluid military situation in the general area,
to justify prediction of military action.!?

Not everyone agreed with this assessment, and consequently there was some
controversy over the extent to which Washington officialdom should have been
forewarned. The disagreement began on 26 June 1950, when the Senate Appro-
priations Committee, which was then holding hearings on military aid, decided
to question the Director of Central Intelligence, Rear Admiral Roscoe H. Hil-
lenkoetter. His answers seemed to imply that the Central Intelligence Agency
(CIA) had provided ample clues to North Korea’s impending action, but that
these had not been properly evaluated by other agencies of the government.!?!

As a result of this testimony, when the Director of Foreign Military Assistance
in the Department of Defense, Major General L. L. Lemnitzer, USA, appeared
before the same Committee, he was subjected to questions that he later described
as “sharp and provocative.” Not having had complete access to all available
intelligence himself, General Lemnitzer was at a disadvantage in trying to defend
the Department. But he was able to assure the Committee that such intelligence
as he had seen had warned only that North Korea was one of many places in
which trouble might occur. After the testimony, General Lemnitzer reviewed all
available CIA reports and satisfied himself that they did not support the implica-
tion that the Agency had provided specific warnings that were ignored.'?

Somewhat later, Colonel Reginald F. C. Vance, USAF, of the Joint Intelligence
Committee, studied the evidence to determine to what extent the JCS organization
had been warned by the CIA. He focused particularly on a report entitled “Cur-
rent Capabilities of the Northern Korea Regime” (ORE 18-50), dated 19 June, with
data complete as of 15 May, which, he believed, “may be considered the last word
on CIA opinion as to an impending invasion.” As its title indicated, this report
dealt only with possibilities. It did not, as had been rumored, contain specific
statements that a military highway was under construction or that villages along
the border were being evacuated. These two bits of information, according to
Colonel Vance, had never reached Army Intelligence, G-2, which would have
treated them as “critical intelligence.” “We are positively clear of accusation that
we received any indication of invasion from CIA,” was his conclusion.'?

Several months thereafter, when press comments suggested that the Far East
Command had alerted Washington, the Army’s G-2, Major General A. R. Bolling,
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conducted his own review of intelligence from all sources. His conclusion, which
supported General Lemnitzer and Colonel Vance, was that

all reporting agencies were aware of the consistently increasing strength of the
Nortlllj Korean armed forces and of their capability to invade the Republic of
Korea. At no time, however, did any of the reporting agencies give a definite date
for the opening of hostilities, or state that an invasion was imminent. On the con-
trary, the general tenor of the reporting agency comments was such as to indicate
that, rather than resorting to the overt employment of military forces for the sub-
jugation of the Republic of Korea, the North Korean regime would continue to
employ guerrilla and psychological warfare, political pressure and other means
to attain their objective.!?*

The UN Commission on Korea, which had observers along the border, noted
an increase in border incidents and recommended “careful diplomatic explo-
rations” with the Soviet Union to determine North Korea’s intentions. Secretary-
General Trygve Lie made an approach to the Soviets but learned nothing. Early
in June 1950, the Commission took alarm from North Korea’s increasing radio
demands for the “liberation” of the south and expanded its observation teams.
But at worst, the Commission expected only “some demonstration of force” as
part of an “anticipated political offensive.”1%

As to the reasons why North Korea decided to strike in June 1950, one can
only conjecture. It was widely assumed at the time that the decision was made by
the government of Premier Josef V. Stalin of Soviet Russia. Possibly, as was sug-
gested later, the Soviets were stirred to action by the prospect of a peace treaty
between the United States and Japan; they may have hoped that extension of
Communist control to the entire Korean peninsula would counterbalance the
strategic advantage that the United States could expect to obtain by allying itself
with an independent Japan.'? Certainly the degree of Soviet control over the
North Korean People’s Army, exerted through advisors at all levels, must have
necessitated advance approval from Premier Stalin.

There is no proof, however, that the Soviet Government actually instigated the
invasion. Evidence purportedly from Soviet sources—the reputed memoirs of
Nikita S. Khrushchev, who later became Prime Minister of the USSR—indicates,
for whatever it may be worth, that the initiative came from Kim Il Sung. Premier
Stalin is said to have exercised a measure of restraint, fearing US intervention,
though in the end he concurred. Mao Tse-tung is also said to have been consulted.!?

But that North Korea was guilty of flagrant aggression can hardly be doubted.'®
The superiority of the NKPA over that of South Korea, the apparent US unwill-
ingness to defend Korea, and the relative weakness and wide dispersion of US
forces doubtless combined to make the conquest of South Korea appear a reason-
ably safe venture.
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Washington Learns of the Invasion

orth Korea’s carefully prepared attack against its southern neighbor burst

forth at approximately 0400 on Sunday, 25 June 1950.! The invasion force
comprised seven infantry divisions, plus smaller units of the North Korean Peo-
ple’s Army and the Border Constabulary—a total of 90,000 men. Supported by
tanks and aircraft, the attackers surged forward against the five ROK divisions
deployed along the border. The heaviest assault came in the west, where the
North Korean I Corps had been weighted with four divisions and an armored
brigade for an assault on Seoul. Two of these divisions moved along the road
paralleling the coast, quickly capturing the city of Kaesong, just below the bor-
der, and mopping up the isolated South Korean troops on the Ongjin Peninsula.
Other forces advanced along roads that converged at Uijongbu, some 20 miles
north of South Korea’s capital.

Near the center of the peninsula, two of the three divisions of the NK II Corps
drove toward Ch’unch’on and Hongch’on, whence they could either continue
southward or swing to the west to join the assault on the capital. The remaining
division, aided by an independent infantry regiment, attacked along the east
coast, with some units moving by road and others making amphibious landings
well inside South Korean territory.

At 1100, after the invasion had been in progress for some hours, the North
Korean Government, in a radio broadcast from P’yongyang, announced that war
had been declared. A startled world learned that the Democratic People’s Repub-
lic had been treacherously invaded by the forces of the “puppet” regime in Seoul
and had been forced to strike back in self-defense.?

In Washington, DC, halfway around the world, it was still Saturday after-
noon, 24 June, when the North Koreans struck. Government officials, wholly
unaware of any impending crisis, had begun a leisurely schedule of weekend
activities. President Truman had left to visit his family home in Independence,
Missouri, after stopping off enroute to dedicate the new Friendship Airport, near
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Baltimore. General J. Lawton Collins, Chief of Staff, US Army, was at his beach
cottage on the Chesapeake Bay. Secretary of the Air Force Thomas K. Finletter
was on vacation in New England, as was Warren R. Austin, chief US delegate to
the United Nations. Secretary of State Dean G. Acheson was relaxing at his farm
in suburban Maryland.?

Secretary Johnson and General Bradley, winding up a tour to the Far East, had
returned to Washington about noon. During the trip, the Secretary, in his conver-
sations, had indicated great interest in Taiwan. General Bradley concluded that
he planned to discuss the subject with President Truman at an early opportunity.*

News of the North Korean attack took some hours to reach Washington. US
military advisors with front line South Korean units reported the first contacts to
KMAG headquarters in Seoul. As the reports accumulated, it became evident
that something more than a mere border raid was under way.’

From Seoul, a United Press reporter, the US Military Attaché, and Ambassador
John J. Muccio all relayed the news to Washington some time around 0930 Korean
time, or approximately 2030 Eastern Daylight Time (EDT) (Saturday night) in
Washington.® The reporter’s dispatch was the first to arrive. At 2104 United Press
officials were attempting to have it confirmed by the Department of State.” Ambas-
sador Muccio’s message reached the Department at 2126 EDT.? It read as follows:

According Korean Army reports which partly confirmed by KMAG field
advisor reports, North Korean forces invaded ROK territory at several points this
morning. Action was initiated about 4 A.M. Ongjin blasted by North Korean
artillery fire. About 6 A.M. North Korean infantry commenced crossing parallel
in Ongjin area, Kaesong area, Chunchon area and amphibious landing was
reportedly made south of Kangnung on east coast. Kaesong was reportedly cap-
tured at 9 A.M. with some 10 North Korean tanks participating in operation.
North Korean forces, spearheaded by tanks, reportedly closing in on Chunchon.
Details of fighting in Kangnung area unclear, although it seems North Korean
forces have cut highway. Am conferring with KMAG advisors and Korean offi-
cials this morning re situation.

It would appear from nature of attack and manner in which it was launched
that it constitutes all out offensive against ROK.?

Officials of the Department of State at once relayed their information to Secre-
tary of the Army Frank Pace, who in turn notified Secretary of Defense Johnson.
In fact, both of these officials had already been contacted by reporters seeking
confirmation of the news from Seoul. At the moment, there was no occasion for
either official to act. Secretary Johnson eventually retired after delegating to Mr.
Pace the responsibility for acting in behalf of the Department of Defense.!

Messages from the Military Attaché in Seoul provided official notification to
the Department of the Army. In the Operations Division (G-3) of the Army’s
General Staff, the duty officer had been alerted at 2200 by an officer of the Public
Information Division who had heard press reports of fighting along the 38th par-
allel and wanted information about the status of US forces in Korea. The inquirer
was referred to the Far East-Pacific Branch of G-3. The first message from the
Attaché, briefer than Ambassador Muccio’s but with much of the same informa-
tion, was available in G-3 at 2245. Forty-five minutes later came a second mes-
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sage, reporting that North Korea had declared war and that civilian refugees
were already beginning to clog the roads. At this point, the duty officer notified
Major General Charles L. Bolte, Assistant Chief of Staff for Operations, and his
deputy, Brigadier General Thomas S. Timberman.!

Assuming the burden of acting for the Department of the Army, General Tim-
berman established liaison with the ranking State Department official on duty,
Mr. Dean Rusk, Assistant Secretary for Far Eastern Affairs. At 0010 on 25 June,
General Timberman ordered the establishment of a command post in G-3 and
instructed the duty officer to make certain that any information forwarded by the
Department of State was relayed to CINCFE.

At 0035 EDT a third message from the Attaché, reporting two YAK aircraft
over Seoul, was received in G-3. Two minutes later a copy of Ambassador Muc-
cio’s dispatch came in. The duty officer contacted his opposite numbers in the
Navy and the Air Force and found that they were already aware of the situation.!

Meanwhile, word of the attack had also reached the JCS organization, with
the Washington press representatives providing the early notification. Lieutenant
Colonel C. V. Clifton, USA, of the Chairman’s office, was the JCS duty officer on
the evening of 24 to 25 June. At 2330 he received an inquiry from a reporter who
had sought information in vain from Department of Defense (DOD) officials.
Checking with the JCS Message Center, Colonel Clifton learned that the rumored
invasion had been officially verified and that Rear Admiral Arthur C. Davis,
USN, Director of the Joint Staff, had already been notified. Colonel Clifton called
his superior, Colonel W. S. Matthews, USA, who at first considered it unneces-
sary to notify General Bradley, but eventually agreed to do so. (In fact, General
Bradley, like others, had already received inquiries from reporters, whom he
could not enlighten.)

Subsequently Colonel Clifton, after consulting with Admiral Davis, concerned
himself with the preparation of a brief news announcement that the US Govern-
ment knew of the invasion and that no US troops were involved. This statement,
drafted with the aid of members of the DOD Office of Public Information and
hastily cleared with the Department of State, was released to the press early on
Sunday morning.!?

As the night wore on, further information trickled in. Noteworthy was
CINCFE’s first message, based on reports from the Attaché and from KMAG,
which was received in G-3 at 0502. It reported that all territory west of the Imjin
River—the extreme northwestern part of South Korea, including the Ongjin Penin-
sula and the cities of Yonan, Kaesong, and Panmunjom—was considered lost.
CINCEFE believed that South Korea would try to defend along a line running from
the southeast bank of the Imjin eastward through Ch’unch’on to Kangnung.!4
Shortly thereafter, however, the Chief of KMAG, Colonel W.H.S. Wright, reported
that two North Korean regiments had already crossed the Imjin 25 miles north of
Seoul, though they were presently being contained.’> At 0610 the Military Attaché
reported that three North Korean fighter aircraft had strafed Kimpo airfield, near
Seoul.' Later came a message from Ambassador Muccio urging the Department
of State to support an urgent request that KMAG had made to CINCFE for imme-
diate shipment of a ten days’ supply of ammunition for the ROK Army."”
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The Attack and the Response

None of these messages required immediate decision by military authorities.
Indeed, there was no opportunity for any action on their part, since, as Secretary
Johnson later said, “we really had very little to go on.”*® There is no evidence that
any JCS members, other than General Bradley, were notified that night.

In contrast, the Department of State hummed with activity all night long. Sec-
retary Acheson had been informed promptly and had tentatively decided that the
United States should put the matter before the Security Council as soon as possi-
ble. The Secretary then telephoned President Truman in Independence, gave him
the news of the crisis, and obtained his approval for the UN appeal. The UN Sec-
retary-General, Trygve Lie of Norway, had already been alerted. Assistant Secre-
tary Rusk and his colleagues spent the rest of the night in making preparations for
a meeting of the Security Council. They also kept in close touch with G-3.%

The Initial US Response

hen Sunday morning dawned in Washington, it was evening in Korea and

the invasion had been in progress for more than twelve hours. At first the
messages that poured into the capital from Seoul and Tokyo, adding further
details to the store of information available there, did not sound excessively
alarming. A CINCFE summary, received in G-3 at 1035,2' estimated the balance
of forces as three NK divisions against four for South Korea, with a fifth ROK
division moving up toward the battle front. The relinquishment of the territory
west of the Imjin was reported to be in accord with an existing defense plan; it
did not represent a “vital loss.” North Korea’s intentions were obscure, but the
attack was “serious in strength and strategic intent,” and had achieved tactical
surprise, from which South Korean forces were struggling to recover. CINCFE
concluded with a report that he was expediting the shipment of munitions to
Korea and a suggestion that the Seventh Fleet be moved toward Korean waters
as a precautionary measure.?

About the same time, however, Major General C. A. Willoughby, G-2 of the
Far East Command, was rendering a less reassuring report in a teletype confer-
ence (telecon) with officers in Washington—the first of many such conferences to
be held in the days that followed. General Collins, hastily summoned from his
vacation retreat, took part in this conference, along with his principal subordi-
nates and representatives of the other Services, of CIA, and of the Department of
State. General Willoughby told the Washington conferees that two North Korean
divisions were attacking along the roads toward Uijongbu and that forty tanks
were reported within five kilometers of that important road junction. “General
situation points to tank breakthrough via Uijongbu,” he declared. Already
Ambassador Muccio had ordered US dependents evacuated from Seoul. On the
other hand, according to General Willoughby, the withdrawal of ROK units had
been orderly; the morale of the people was good, and the Government of South
Korea was “reported to be standing firm and maintaining internal order.”
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In a message probably received in Washington soon after the telecon began,
KMAG assessed the North Korean attack as a “full scale deliberate offensive”
that was supported directly by armor and artillery and indirectly by aircraft. The
attack had penetrated the border at five separate points, to a depth of approxi-
mately six miles. KMAG forecast that the attack would continue the next day,
with direct air support and possibly with additional amphibious landings, this
time on the west coast. Any additional forces thrown in by North Korea would
divert South Korea's reserves and make it impossible to launch the counterat-
tacks that were planned by the ROK Army.%

Before the day was out, it was clear beyond a doubt that South Korea’s mili-
tary position was deteriorating. A CIA report gave information that the Capitol
Division of the ROK Army was reinforcing the 7th Division for the “final
defense” of Seoul. There was “brisk fighting,” but “no effective resistance” except
in the vicinity of Uijongbu, while on the east coast, an amphibious landing by a
North Korean battalion below Kangnung had succeeded in severing both the
road along the coast and the one that swung westward toward the interior.” And
a second message from the Chief of KMAG, sent apparently some time after mid-
night in Korea, or about noon in Washington, announced that Ch'unch’on,
P’och’on, and Tongduch’on-ni—key points on three of the roads leading to
Seoul—had all fallen to the invaders.?

Alarming messages also flowed into Washington via diplomatic channels.
Ambassador Muccio’s report that he had decided to order evacuation of US
dependents reached the Department of State at 1132 hours.”” Later the Ambas-
sador reported an interview with a distraught President Syngman Rhee, who
announced that the government would move to Taejon, approximately 100 air-
line miles south of Seoul.?®

In addition to Ambassador Muccio, the Department of State happened to
have in the Far East another source of information and advice in the person of
John Foster Dulles, who three years later was to occupy the Secretaryship. Earlier
in 1950 he had been appointed a special advisor to Secretary Acheson in the
interests of bipartisan foreign policy. At the moment of the North Korean attack,
he was in Japan, investigating the possibility of a peace treaty.* His companion
on this journey was Mr. John M. Allison, Director of the Office of Northeast
Asian Affairs in the Department of State. On Sunday morning, about 1030,% the
Department received from Messrs. Dulles and Allison a message containing the
first recommendation for strong US action in the crisis. It read as follows:

It is possible that South Koreans may themselves contain and repulse attack
and, if so, this is the best way. If, however, it aﬁpears they cannot do so then we
believe that US forces should be used even though this risks Russian counter
moves. To sit by while Korea is overrun by unprovoked armed attack would start
disastrous chain of events leading most probably to world war. We suggest that
Security Council might call for action on%ehalf of the organization undger Article
106 by the five powers or such of them as are willing to respond.3!

This message pointed the way toward the course of action that the United
States was ultimately to adopt. At the time it was received, however, the question
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of employing force to rescue South Korea had not arisen. Diplomatic action—an
appeal to the United Nations—was the chosen course of action, and as during the
night just passed, military planners played a secondary role on Sunday morning.
General Bradley, the JCS Chairman, had been scheduled to fly to Norfolk that
afternoon with Secretary Johnson to attend an orientation conference for civilian
leaders. After discussing the matter informally with the other JCS members, the
General and the Secretary concluded that there was no reason why they should
not go through with the trip.»

Before leaving, General Bradley put on record some of his thoughts on the
new crisis for the benefit of his colleagues. He did so in connection with a memo-
randum on the subject of Taiwan, which, in his eyes, clearly outstripped Korea in
importance. Aware of Secretary Johnson’s intention to discuss Taiwan with Presi-
dent Truman, General Bradley sent the other JCS members a draft memorandum,
intended for the Secretary to send to the President, which recommended that a
survey team be sent to the island to ascertain how it could be prevented from
falling into unfriendly hands.

While in the Far East, General Bradley had discussed the ROK Army with
Brigadier General William L. Roberts, USA, the outgoing Chief of the KMAG. On
the basis of what he had then learned, General Bradley felt somewhat optimistic
regarding South Korea’s ability to survive, since, like others in Washington at
that time, he underrated the military strength of North Korea. “I am of the opin-
ion,” he wrote to his colleagues, “that South Korea will not fall in the present
attack unless the Russians actively participate in the operation. Therefore,” he
continued, “if Korea falls, we may want to recommend even stronger action in
the case of Formosa in order to offset the effect of the fall of South Korea on the
rest of East Asia.” General Bradley evidently had little or no thought that the
United States might reverse its earlier decision and fight to save South Korea.®

The constant round of activity in the State Department that had begun on Sat-
urday night continued into Sunday. Preparations for a forthcoming meeting of
the UN Security Council went hand in hand with consideration of a graver con-
tingency—that North Korea’s invasion might continue regardless of any action
that might be taken by the United Nations. To consider what to do in this event,
officials of State and Army held a joint meeting beginning at 1130 on Sunday
morning. Secretary Acheson took part in this meeting, along with Under Secre-
tary Webb, Assistant Secretary Rusk, and others. General Collins and General
Timberman were the principal Army representatives.*

At this conference, the State representatives suggested a program of action to
provide a measure of US support for the hard-pressed South Korean forces.?
After some discussion, during which other JCS members were apparently con-
sulted,’ the State Department suggestions were tentatively approved. Since most
of them involved action by CINCFE, the Army representatives at once transmit-
ted them to that commander by telecon, as follows:

1. CINCFE should be authorized to send to Korea any military equipment rec-
ommended by the US mission to Korea, regardless of current programs.
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2. US military advisors should remain with South Korean forces so long as the
latter were combat effective.

3. CINCFE’s area of responsibility should be extended to include operational
control of all US military activities in Korea.

4. Forces from CINCFE’s command (principall Navl}é and Air) should be
employed to establish a protective zone around Seoul, Kimpo Air Base, and
Inchon, to ensure safe evacuation of US nationals and to gain time for reaction to
political measures now before the United Nations.

5. In the event that the UN Security Council called on member nations to take
direct action in Korea, CINCFE should be authorized and directed to employ forces
of his command, plus units from the Seventh Fleet, to stabilize the combat situa-
tion, including if feasible the restoration of original boundaries at the 38th parallel.

The last of these suggestions was particularly significant. The planners had
already faced up to the possibility that the United States might find it necessary to
resort to force. It was made clear to CINCFE, however, that the recommendations
had not yet been approved by the President and that they were being transmitted
merely for planning purposes. CINCFE was told also that the Department of State
had concurred that a survey group from the Far East Command should be sent to
South Korea at once to determine how much aid would be needed (including the
possible use of military forces) to hold the Seoul-Kimpo-Inch’on area.”

Meanwhile Secretary Acheson had again called President Truman early in the
afternoon. He read to the President the draft of a US resolution for the Security
Council, which would call on North Korea to end hostilities and withdraw to the
original border, but he warned that North Korea probably would not comply.
The President foresaw that some painful decisions would soon be required and
that his presence in Washington was essential. He told the Secretary that he
would return immediately and asked that suitable recommendations be drawn
up for presentation to him as soon as he arrived. Later, enroute home via aircraft,
the President directed his radio operator to send another message to the Secre-
tary, asking him to assemble the chief military and diplomatic policy advisors for
a dinner and conference at Blair House, across from the White House (which was
at that time being repaired).?

The President had become convinced that the United States could not afford to
let South Korea fall to aggression. According to his later account, he spent his time
on the return trip reviewing those instances before World War II in which the
Western democracies had evaded direct challenges and had allowed Manchuria,
Ethiopia, and Austria to be seized by totalitarian powers whose appetites grew
instead of diminishing. As he wrote:

I felt certain that if South Korea was allowed to fall Communist leaders would
be emboldened to override nations closer to our own shores. If the Communists
were permitted to force their way into the Republic of Korea without opposition
from the free world, no small nation would have the courage to resist threats and
aggression by stronger Communist neighbors. If this was allowed to go unchal-
lenged it would mean a third world war, just as similar incidents had brought on
the second world war. It was also clear to me that the foundations and the princi-
ples of the United Nations were at stake unless this unprovoked attack on Korea
could be stopped.®
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Secretary Acheson was also thinking along similar lines, as indicated in the fol-
lowing account of his state of mind on Sunday evening, taken from his memoirs:

Plainly, this attack did not amount to a casus belli against the Soviet Union.
Equally plainly, it was an open, undisguised challenge to our internationally
accepted position as the protector of South Korea, an area of great importance to
the security of American-occupied Japan. To back away from this challenge, in
view of our capacity for meeting it, would be highly destructive of the power
and prestige otPthe United States. By prestige I mean the shadow cast by power,
whic% is of great deterrent importance. Therefore, we could not accept the con-
quest of this important area by a Soviet puppet under the very guns of our defen-
sive perimeter with no more resistance than words and gestures in the Security
Council. It looked as though we must steel ourselves for the use of force. That
did not mean, in words used later by General Mark Clark, that we must be pre-
pared “to shoot the works for victory,” but rather to see that the attack failed.®

While the President was in flight toward Washington, the UN Security Coun-
cil, called into emergency session, was meeting at Lake Success, New York, to con-
sider the new threat to peace. The Soviet representative, Yakov A. Malik, was
absent by choice, so the Council was free of the threat of a Soviet veto. After sev-
eral hours of debate, the Council approved with slight amendment a resolution
presented by the US delegation. As finally passed, this resolution noted with
“grave concern” the “armed attack” upon South Korea and characterized this
action as “a breach of the peace.” It called for “immediate cessation of hostilities”
by both sides and for withdrawal of North Korean forces to the 38th parallel. All
UN members were urged “to render every assistance to the United Nations in the
execution of this resolution and to refrain from giving assistance to the North
Korean authorities.” The vote on the resolution was 9-0, with Yugoslavia abstain-
ing because that country’s principal delegate was on vacation and could not be
reached.*!

Also during Sunday afternoon, the Department of State instructed the US
Embassy in Moscow to deliver a note asking the Soviet Union to disavow
responsibility for the “unprovoked and unwarranted attack” on South Korea and
to “use its influence with North Korean authorities to withdraw their invading
forces immediately.”#? The purpose of this step, as later explained by the Secre-
tary of State, was twofold: (1) to make it clear to the Soviets that they could not
use their satellites as cat’s paws for aggressive action without directly involving
their own prestige and (2) to counteract the Soviet “peace” offensive, which had
been under way for some months and was apparently deluding many people.#

Late in the afternoon, President Truman’s plane landed at Washington Airport
and he hurried to Blair House to meet with his advisors. The conference began
about 1945 and lasted until approximately 2300. Those present included General
Bradley and Secretary Johnson, who had returned from Norfolk, as well as the
other three JCS members: General J. Lawton Collins, USA; Admiral Forrest P.
Sherman, USN; and General Hoyt S. Vandenberg, USAF. The Service Secretaries
were also present: Frank Pace (Army), Francis P. Matthews (Navy), and Thomas
K. Finletter (Air Force). The Department of State was represented by Secretary
Acheson and his principal assistants.*
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In the opening conversation that preceded dinner, Secretary Johnson, as Gen-
eral Bradley had foreseen, seized the opportunity to introduce the subject of Tai-
wan, which in his view, as he later said, “entered into our security more than
Korea.” At his request, General Bradley read aloud a memorandum given them
by General MacArthur during their recent visit to Tokyo, urging that CINCFE be
authorized to send a survey party to determine the amount of aid needed to keep
the island out of Communist hands. The President, instead of responding
directly, ruled that all discussion of the Far Eastern situation would be postponed
until after dinner.*

When dinner was over and the staff had withdrawn, the President asked Sec-
retary Acheson for his views on the Korean crisis. The Secretary, as he wrote later,
“gave a darkening report of great confusion,” and then presented the major rec-
ommendations drawn up in the State-Army conference earlier that day: that
arms and equipment be sent to Korea at once by CINCFE and that US forces be
ordered to protect the evacuation of US nationals. He recommended also that the
Seventh Fleet be ordered to proceed northward from its station in the Philippine
Islands and given a mission of preventing any attack from mainland China
against Taiwan or vice versa. The Secretary described his proposals as the joint
recommendation of the Department of State and the Joint Chiefs of Staff.

These recommendations were endorsed, tacitly or explicitly, by all those
present. General Bradley expressed the feelings of the group with his remark,
“We must draw the line somewhere.” In Mr. Truman’s later words, there was

complete, almost unspoken acceptance on the part of everyone that whatever
had to be done to meet this aggression had to be done. There was no suggestion
from anyone that either the United Nations or the United States could back away
from it. This was the test of all the talk of the last five years of collective security.

The conferees went on to discuss the effectiveness of Secretary Acheson’s
measures in the light of the probability that the North Korean aggression would
continue. General Bradley and Secretary Pace doubted the advisability of send-
ing US ground forces to Korea. Admiral Sherman stressed the importance of pro-
tecting South Korea’s coasts. General Vandenberg thought that US aircraft could
stop the North Korean armed forces if the Soviets did not intervene. The Presi-
dent asked a number of penetrating questions regarding the size and readiness of
US forces in the Far East-—questions that showed that he was facing up to the
possibility of US intervention.

In the end, the President approved all of the recommendations made by Secre-
tary Acheson, with the stipulation that the Seventh Fleet mission would be sub-
ject to review when the units had reached position in the Taiwan Straits. The Sec-
retary had said nothing about a CINCFE survey mission to Korea; General
Collins brought up the subject, evidently feeling the need for a high-level deci-
sion on this question, and the President approved it. At the same time, Mr. Tru-
man, looking beyond the immediate situation, directed certain steps that would
be necessary if the United States were ultimately to intervene in Korea. He
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instructed the Service Chiefs to prepare orders for use of US military forces if the
Security Council should call for such action. Also, at the suggestion of Secretary
Johnson, he authorized a shift of jet aircraft to US bases in the Ryukyus.*

Following the meeting, three members of the Joint Chiefs of Staff—Generals
Collins and Vandenberg, and Admiral Sherman—accompanied by Secretaries
Pace and Finletter, conferred by teletype with General MacArthur and his imme-
diate subordinates. The President’s decisions were conveyed to CINCFE in the
following words:

1. CINCFE authorized to dispatch survey party to Korea for purposes out-
lined in. .. earlier telecon this date.

2. CINCFE authorized to send any ammunition and equipment to Korea he
deems necessary to prevent loss of Seoul-Kimpo-Inchon area with appropriate
air and naval cover to insure safe arrival.

3. FECOM [Far East Command] authorized to take such action by air and
Navy as necessary to prevent overrunning of Seoul-Kimpo-Inchon area in order
to insure safe evacuation US dependents and such other US noncombatants as
determined by USEmb Korea.

4. 7th Fleet ordered to proceed immediately to Sasebo and report [to] COM-
NAVFE [Commander, Naval Forces Far East] for operational control.

CINCFE was warned that “further high level decisions may be expected as
military and political situations develop.” Asked if further instructions were nec-
essary, General MacArthur replied “no.” He gave a rather reassuring report on the
situation in Korea. The Ambassador and the Chief of KMAG reported “increased
steadiness” of South Korean troops in the vicinity of Seoul; the landing in the
vicinity of Kangnung had been contained, and Ch"unch’on had been retaken.”

As Sunday evening, 25 June 1950, drew to a close in Washington, the steps
that the United States had taken toward intervention in Korea were highly tenta-
tive. It would have been easy, with no sacrifice of national prestige, to have
stopped with these measures, writing off South Korea as a total loss in accord
with the policy adopted in 1949. But the President and the Secretary of State had
made up their minds that they would do no such thing. If the North Korean
attack should continue, in defiance of the United Nations, they were prepared to
move toward stronger action.

On the following morning, about 1145 EDT,* President Truman released a
brief statement that the US Government “is pleased with the speed and determi-
nation with which the United Nations Security Council acted” and “will vigor-
ously support the effort of the Council to terminate this serious breach of the
peace.” Nothing was said about the kind of support that the United States might
offer. But the final paragraph carried a solemn warning that the government of
Premier Kim Il Sung in North Korea might well have heeded more carefully:

Those responsible for this act of aggression must realize how seriously the
Government of the United States views such threats to the peace of the world.
Willful disregard of the obligation to keep the peace cannot be tolerated by
nations that support the United Nations Charter.#
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Air and Naval Forces Committed to the Battle

he dawn of Monday, 26 June 1950, in Washington brought an end to the cau-

tious optimism that CINCFE had expressed on Sunday night in his teletype
conversation with the Joint Chiefs of Staff. In Korea, the ROK Army had planned
a counterattack to remove the threat to Uijongbu, with two divisions operating
along the roads leading north and northeast from that city. The operation began
on the morning of 26 June in Korea, or Sunday evening in Washington. At first it
showed some promise; the ROK 7th Division, moving northward, drove back the
North Korean 4th Division. It was perhaps this early success that was responsi-
ble in part for CINCFE’s encouraging report on Sunday night, and also for a sim-
ilar message by Ambassador Muccio about the same time. ROK troops, according
to the Ambassador, had made a “gallant comeback” and had stabilized the situa-
tion; there was some evidence that North Korean armor and artillery was “with-
drawing all along the line.”"!

But this promising start was nullified by the utter failure of the second prong
of the attack, along the northeastern road. The ROK 2d Division, charged with
this mission, was soon in retreat before the NK 3d Division. By the end of the day
both ROK divisions had fallen back toward Seoul, abandoning Uijjongbu to the
foe. Elsewhere, other ROK units stood firm; the 1st Division on the south bank of
the Imjin northwest of Seoul, the 6th at Ch’'unch’on in the center, and the 8th on
the east coast north of Kangnung. The collapse of the counterattack, however,
had sealed the fate of South Korea’s capital. In the words of an official US Army
historian, “The failure of the 2d Division above Uijongbu portended the gravest
consequences. The ROK Army had at hand no other organized force that could
materially affect the battle above Seoul.”*

When Uijongbu fell, it was Monday morning, 26 June 1950, in Washington.
The passing hours brought messages warning of the grave threat to Seoul.> In
midafternoon, CINCFE reported the opinion of Colonel Wright, Chief of KMAG,
that, as of 270145 Korean time, the situation was “critical” owing to the “demor-
alization” of South Korea’s Chief of Staff, General Chae Byong Duk. The 2d and
7th Divisions were under orders to resume their counterattack at daybreak, but
Colonel Wright saw little prospect of their success. With the exception of a single
regiment in the vicinity of Pusan, far to the south, the entire South Korean Army
was now committed to the battle. Colonel Wright believed that the North Kore-
ans could take Seoul within twenty-four hours. Apparently few plans were being
made to fight on after the capital was lost. General Chae’s attitude was that the
fall of Seoul meant the fall of South Korea. “The situation is practically hopeless,
but it need not be,” was Colonel Wright’s summary, according to CINCFE.

In a later message, CINCFE gave his own highly alarming assessment of the
situation as of 271000 Korean time (262100 EDT). “Piecemeal” commitment of two
reserve ROK divisions (the 3d and 5th), he reported, “has not succeeded in stop-
ping the penetration recognized as the enemy main effort for the past 2 days.”
North Korean tanks were reported to be entering the suburbs of Seoul, and the
South Korean Government had fled southward. CINCFE’s conclusion was:
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South Korean units unable to resist determined Northern offensive. Contribu-
tory factor exclusive enemy possession of tanks and fighter planes. South Korean
casualties as an index to fighting have not shown adequate resistance capabilities
or the will to fight and our est[imate] is that complete collapse is imminent.

The departure of President Rhee and his cabinet had been reported by
Ambassador Muccio, who was not sure of their destination, though he had heard
a rumor that the President was bound for Chinhae, a naval base on the south
coast near Pusan. The Ambassador was able to counterbalance this news with an
encouraging item: he had been assured by the acting Prime Minister that the
ROK Army was determined to go on fighting.5®

Before leaving Seoul, the Korean National Assembly had approved an urgent
appeal to the United States asking “effective and timely aid” in defeating the
aggression, with another similarly worded plea to the UN General Assembly.
Ambassador Muccio forwarded the texts of these appeals to Washington on Mon-
day morning.” In the afternoon, South Korea’s Ambassador to the United States,
Mr. John M. Chang, went to the White House to deliver a copy of this appeal and
to pass on the substance of another plea communicated to him several hours ear-
lier by President Rhee via telephone. The Ambassador’s mien reflected the
increasingly desperate situation of his government. President Truman tried to
cheer him up by telling him that military materiel for his country’s forces was on
its way.%®

The forecasts of impending catastrophe voiced by US representatives in the
Far East and by the Government of South Korea on 26 June were reinforced by a
report submitted by the United Nations Commission on Korea (UNCOK). This
message, sent to Washington by Ambassador Muccio for relay to the UN Secre-
tary-General, warned that:

North Korean advances have created dangerous situation with possibilities of
rapid deterioration. Impossible estimate situation which will exist tomorrow in
Seoul. In view commission’s past experience and existing situation commission
convinced North Korea will not heed council resolution nor accept UNCOK good
offices. Suggests for council consideration either invitation both parties agree on
neutral mec%iator to negotiate peace or request a member government undertake
immediate mediation. éommission decided standby in Seoul. Danger is that crit-
ical operations now in progress may end in matter of days and question of cease
fire and withdrawal North Korean forces as suggested council resolution prove
academic.%

Amid this succession of gloomy reports, one bright spot for the United States
was the beginning of the successful evacuation of US nationals from Korea,
under the supervision of Ambassador Muccio. Early on Monday morning, 26
June (Korea time), Americans from Seoul were transported to the port of
Inch’on, where as many as possible crowded aboard a Norwegian freighter in
the harbor. By 1630 the vessel was loaded and weighed anchor, bound for Japan.
Those who could not find places on this ship were subsequently evacuated by
airlift from Kimpo airfield, near Seoul, or from Suwon, farther south. Other
nonessential US nationals from Taejon, Taegu, and Pusan made their escape by
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ship from the last-named city. By 29 June the evacuation had been completed
without a single casualty.®

During the evacuation, F-82 fighter aircraft of the Far East Air Force, operating
from Japanese bases, prevented any interference by North Korean aircraft. In the
process, US and NK forces clashed for the first time. At 270810 in Korea (261910
EDT), two US pilots shot down a YAK-3 fighter over Kimpo airfield. Several oth-
ers were subsequently destroyed in the next few days, with no US losses.®!

Throughout the day of 26 June, the Korean crisis doubtless weighed heavily
upon the Joint Chiefs of Staff. In the afternoon, they met formally for the first
time in four days to discuss Taiwan and various other subjects; no doubt the situ-
ation in Korea was touched upon during the meeting.®? Earlier, General Collins
had received a report of developments by teleconference from FECOM. Two of
his senior subordinates, General Wade H. Haislip and Lieutenant General
Matthew B. Ridgway, again consulted FECOM at 1930 that evening.®?

Admiral Sherman conferred with Vice Admiral Arthur D. Struble, Comman-
der of the Seventh Fleet, who happened to be in Washington when the Korean
crisis broke. He had been scheduled to return to the Far East on Sunday, 25 June,
but at Admiral Sherman’s request, postponed his departure until after the con-
clusion of the pending Sunday evening talks with the President. On the follow-
ing day, 26 June, Admiral Sherman told him that US forces “would definitely be
committed in Korea.”¢* Presumably Admiral Sherman based this forecast on his
observation of the attitude of the President as revealed at the Sunday meeting.

Since it was becoming clear that North Korea had no intention of complying
with the Security Council resolution of 25 June, the Department of State, which
continued to take the initiative, drew up plans for the next step. On Monday
morning, 26 June, Secretary Acheson had testified before Congress concerning
forthcoming appropriations. When he returned to his office, the Secretary spent
the afternoon preparing a new set of proposals to submit to President Truman.
After conferring with officials of the Department of Defense (who are not named
in available sources), Secretary Acheson telephoned the President about 1930 and
persuaded him to call another meeting at Blair House later that evening.*

At 2100 on 26 June, most of those who had taken part in the Sunday night
conference, including the Joint Chiefs of Staff, assembled at Blair House once
more.% There was a brief discussion of the alarming news from South Korea.
General Bradley described the military situation, indicating General MacArthur’s
expectation that Seoul would soon fall. When General Vandenberg reported the
destruction of the first North Korean fighter aircraft, the President expressed the
hope that it would not be the last.

General Vandenberg then read the orders that had been sent to US Air Force
(USAF) units operating in Korea, directing them to take “aggressive action” against
any aircraft interfering with their mission or operating in a manner unfriendly to
South Korean forces. He added, however, that USAF aircraft had been avoiding
combat in situations where the direct execution of their orders was not involved.

Secretary Acheson proposed that US air and naval forces be instructed to
waive all restrictions on their operations within Korea and to offer the fullest pos-
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sible help to South Korean forces, including attacks on North Korean troops,
armor, and artillery. He hoped that such action would provide the ROK forces a
breathing spell in which to regroup. The President approved this suggestion, but
stipulated that, for the time being at least, no action was to be taken north of the
38th parallel.

In order to give international sanction to this open military intervention, Sec-
retary Acheson proposed that a resolution be presented to the UN Security Coun-
cil, which was scheduled to meet the next day. Such a resolution, he believed,
would receive full support from all UN members except the Communist nations.
A draft resolution for this purpose, recommending that UN members render
such assistance as was needed to help South Korea repel the attack, was read to
the group by Mr. John D. Hickerson of the State Department. The Chief Executive
emphatically endorsed it, saying he wanted “everyone in on this, including
Hong Kong.”

Continuing his proposals, Secretary Acheson again recommended that the US
Seventh Fleet be charged with preventing hostilities between Taiwan and Com-
munist China. He also recommended accelerated military assistance to the Gov-
ernment of the Philippines, which was beset with a Communist insurgency, in
order that the United States might have a “firm base” there. Ranging farther
afield, he urged that aid to Indochina be stepped up and that a strong military
mission be sent there. Secretary Johnson expressed complete agreement with
these recommendations, and President Truman approved them.

General Collins characterized the military situation in Korea as “bad” and
expressed doubt that air power would suffice to stabilize the situation. Secre-
taries Acheson and Johnson stressed that the United States must do something,
even if its efforts proved unsuccessful. The Secretary of Defense then queried
each of the military representatives regarding the actions that had been
approved, and found that none had any objections. There was some discussion of
possible Soviet reaction, but the consensus was that this was unlikely.

President Truman observed that he had exerted his utmost for five years to
prevent the kind of situation that had now developed in Korea. Nevertheless, he
went on, the United States must do everything possible to meet the situation—
"for the United Nations.” General Bradley warned that if US ground forces were
sent to Korea, it would be impossible to meet other commitments without mobi-
lization. The President instructed the Joint Chiefs of Staff to study the question of
mobilization. “I don’t want to go to war,” he added. It was agreed, after a short
discussion, that no decision on mobilization would be made for a few days.

Throughout the meeting, it was apparent that Secretary Acheson was the
motivating force and that his proposals commanded the assent of all concerned.
When the meeting adjourned (after lasting only an hour or so), the President had
approved all of the Secretary’s recommendations.®”

Following the meeting, the Joint Chiefs of Staff, accompanied by the Secre-
taries of the Army and the Air Force, held a teleconference with General
MacArthur and his principal subordinates. The following instructions were given
to CINCFE:
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All restrictions on employment of FECOM Navy and Air Forces are removed.
They will offer fullest possible support to South Korean (SK) forces so as to per-
mit these forces to reform.

Purpose of above action is to support SK forces in accordance with resolution

of United Nations aglproved 25 June.

In addition 7th Fleet will take station so as to prevent invasion of Formosa
and to insure that Formosa not be used as base of operations against Chinese
mainland.

Detailed instructions reference Navy and Air Forces follow:

All restrictions which have previously prevented the full utilization of the
U.S. Far East Air Forces to support and assist the defense of the South Korean ter-
ritory are lifted for operations below the 38th parallel. All North Korean tanks,
guns, military columns and other military targets south of the 38th parallel are
cleared for attack by U.S. Air Forces. The purpose is to clear South Korea of
North Korean military forces. Similarly Nava?forces may be used without restric-
tion in coastal waters and sea approaches of Korea south of 38th parallel against
forces engaged in aggression against South Korea.

General MacArthur was also instructed to use every available method to
inform South Korea’s civilian and military leaders, as well as Ambassador Muc-
cio, of these decisions. On his part, the General was able to report that the first
ship carrying ammunition and artillery would be ready to depart Yokohama later
that day and would reach Pusan within three days; additional ammunition and
other vital supplies would be airlifted as soon as a suitable landing point could
be determined.®

By a separate message, the Joint Chiefs of Staff transferred operational control
of the Seventh Fleet from CINCPAC to CINCFE and assigned it the mission of
preventing, by naval and air action, any attack on Formosa or any sea or air
offensives from Formosa against the Chinese mainland.*’

The decisions made on the evening of 26 June were announced to the nation
in a statement released by President Truman on the following morning. This
statement had been drafted in the Department of State and revised in consulta-
tion with officials of the Department of Defense (including Secretary Johnson and
General Bradley) after the evening meeting.”® News of the gravest step of all—the
interposition of US forces in the fighting in Korea—was contained in a single,
brief sentence: “...I have ordered United States air and sea forces to give the
Korean Government troops cover and support.” The President justified this mea-
sure on the grounds that North Korea had ignored the Security Council resolu-
tion demanding an end to hostilities. He urged all UN members to “consider
carefully the consequences of this latest aggression in Korea in defiance of the
Charter of the United Nations. A return to the rule of force in international
affairs,” he pointed out, “would have far-reaching effects.”

The President devoted two paragraphs of his statement to the subject of Tai-
wan. He made it clear that the policy of nonintervention in the Chinese civil war,
announced on 5 January 1950, no longer obtained. As he said:

The attack upon Korea makes it plain beyond all doubt that communism has
passed beyond the use of subversion to conquer independent nations and will
now use armed invasion and war....In these circumstances the occupation of
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Formosa by Communist forces would be a direct threat to the security of the
Pacific area and to United States forces performing their lawful and necessary
functions in that area.

Accordingly I have ordered the 7th Fleet to prevent any attack on Formosa. As
a corollary of this action I am calling upon the Chinese Government on Formosa
to cease all air and sea operations against the mainland. The 7th Fleet will see
that this is done. The determination of the future status of Formosa must await
the restoration of security in the Pacific, a peace settlement with Japan, or consid-
eration by the United Nations.”

Before releasing this statement, President Truman had read it to a group of
key Congressional leaders of both parties whom he had invited to attend a
meeting at the White House on the morning of 27 June. The Joint Chiefs of Staff
attended this meeting, as did the Secretaries of State and Defense and the Ser-
vice Secretaries. After hearing a full exposition of the Korean situation from Mr.
Acheson, the Congressmen expressed approval of the steps that had been taken
thus far.”

On the afternoon of 27 June, Congress discussed the Korean situation and the
President’s response. An overwhelming majority in both houses supported what
the President had done. A few conservative Republican Senators questioned the
President’s right to act as he had without first consulting Congress, while one
member of the House of Representatives who represented the extreme left side of
the political spectrum was harsh in his denunciation. The general conviction that
strong action was needed became evident when the House, by a vote of 3154,
approved a one-year extension of the Selective Service Act, incorporating a pro-
vision authorizing the President to mobilize reservists of all the Services. On the
next day, the Senate approved the measure by 70-0.7

The UN Security Council also met on the afternoon of 27 June. Once more
the Soviet representative failed to attend. Ambassador Austin submitted a reso-
lution urging that UN members “furnish such assistance to the Republic of
Korea as may be necessary to repel the armed attack and to restore interna-
tional peace and security in the area.” Some Council members drew back in
alarm before this forthright call for action. But eventually, just before midnight,
the resolution was approved, with one negative vote (Yugoslavia) and two
abstentions (Egypt and India).”

In Moscow, the US Ambassador to the Soviet Union, Admiral Alan G. Kirk,
USN (Ret.), had, with some difficulty, delivered a note to the Soviet Government
on 27 June. The note requested that the USSR use its influence with North Korea
to halt the attack upon South Korea. However, this request was rejected, as might
have been foreseen.”

The Failure of Limited Intervention

Decisions taken in Washington or in Lake Success could not in themselves
retrieve the worsening situation in South Korea. In Tokyo, General MacArthur,
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as soon as the Joint Chiefs of Staff informed him of President Truman'’s decision
to intervene, had ordered the Far East Air Force to hurl everything possible
against the advancing foe. Aerial operations began with attacks by B-26 bombers
on the night of 27 to 28 June (Korea time), but their effectiveness was curtailed by
adverse weather. More extensive action took place the next day. B-26s and F-80
fighter aircraft were supplemented by the use of B-29s, hastily deployed from
Guam to Japan and pressed into service as tactical weapons. Targets were North
Korean troops, tanks, artillery, and road and rail traffic.”

As a forward headquarters to aid in directing the US military effort in Korea,
General MacArthur was able to make use of the survey mission that had been
authorized by the Joint Chiefs of Staff in their initial directive on Sunday night,
25 June (or Monday morning in Tokyo). Brigadier General John H. Church was
selected to head this group. By the time he was ready to depart on 27 june, the
second JCS message, ordering air and naval support for South Korea, had been
received. General MacArthur accordingly redesignated the survey group as the
General Headquarters (GHQ) Advance Command and Liaison Group in Korea
(ADCOM).

General Church reached Korea about 1900 on 27 June. He at once established
liaison with the ROK Chief of Staff, General Chae, and stressed to that officer the
vital importance of holding the line of the Han River. But it soon became evident
to General Church that it would not be possible to drive the invaders back to the
38th parallel unless US troops were employed. He advised CINCFE of this opin-
ion on 28 June.”

The interposition of US air and naval forces was of enormous significance for the
future course of the war, but it did not save Seoul. The city had been under assault
as early as the evening of 27 June, when elements of the NK 3d Division, fresh from
the seizure of Uijongbu, reached the northern outskirts. These first invaders were
repelled, but they were soon followed by others. During the night of 27 to 28 June
the bridges over the Han River, on the southern edge of the city, were destroyed by
explosions, apparently by command of someone of authority in the ROK defense
establishment. This catastrophe, in which many civilian refugees lost their lives, pre-
vented any orderly withdrawal of troops and especially of heavy equipment.

Nevertheless the defenders of Seoul hung on through the night and on into
the following day. Elements of the enemy’s 3d and 4th Divisions finally forced
their way into the city about noon on 28 June—just about the time when the
Security Council, in New York, was approving the resolution calling on member
nations to help save South Korea. During the afternoon the remaining ROK
troops withdrew and the North Koreans took complete control, aided by a native
fifth column organized in advance by quislings.”™

Seoul had fallen, but by no means could the US response be ridiculed as “too
little and too late.” Its psychological effect had been enormous—perhaps deci-
sive. On the morning of 28 June in Korea, while the fate of Seoul was still in
doubt, Ambassador Muccio appraised this result as follows:

Situation had deteriorated so rapidly had not President’s decision plus arrival
General Church party become known here, doubtful any organized Korean resis-
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tance would have continued through night. Combat aid decision plus Church’s
orders have had great morale effect, forthcoming air strikes hoped demoralize
enemy make possible reform Korean Army south bank Han River.”

In a later message, the Ambassador stressed that it was vital to provide constant
visible evidence of the presence of US airpower, even if no profitable military tar-
gets were struck.®

The fall of Seoul was accompanied by other alarming developments. Though
the bulk of the North Korean Army remained north of the Han, elements of the
NK 6th Division crossed the river west of Seoul and seized Kimpo airfield. The
central front collapsed when the ROK 6th Division, still undefeated but now in
an untenable position, withdrew southward toward Wonju, abandoning
Ch’unch’on and Kap’yong.#!

A brief lull, lasting a day or two, then ensued while North Korean forces
regrouped for a massive thrust southward across the Han. As a result, policy-
makers in Washington had a chance to pause and take a look at the effectiveness
of the measures upon which they had embarked. The news of the fall of Seoul
reached Washington on the morning of 28 June,® but occasioned no action, since
there was nothing the United States could do at the moment. It was, as Secretary
Acheson later wrote, “a day of pause in the rush of decisions.”#

The Joint Chiefs of Staff met on 28 June and assigned two tasks to subordinate
organizations.? The Joint Strategic Survey Committee was to prepare, by 0800 on
30 June, an answer to the following question:

In the event that the current course of action now being undertaken in Korea is
unsuccessful, what course of action, from a military point of view, should be taken?

The Committee was instructed to consider the possibility of US aircraft opera-
tions north of the 38th parallel, as well as other actions that could be taken “in lieu
of committing ground troops.” The use of this phrase betokened a desire to avoid
complete involvement in Korea. In passing this assignment to the Joint Strategic
Plans Committee (JSPC), the Director of the Joint Staff, Rear Admiral Arthur C.
Davis, USN, noted that the Joint Chiefs of Staff “do not want to commit troops.”

The Joint Chiefs of Staff also directed the JSPC to prepare a directive for Gen-
eral MacArthur that would codify all the instructions given him thus far. This
draft directive should be available in time for the Joint Chiefs of Staff to submit it
to the Secretary of Defense by 0900 on 29 June. It was to contain instructions
applicable in case of Soviet intervention. As guidance for this contingency, the
Joint Chiefs of Staff appended to their instructions a policy statement drafted by
the Department of State. It declared that the decision to intervene in Korea with
air and naval forces, though taken in the “full realization” of the risk of war with
the Soviet Union, did not in itself constitute a decision to fight a major war with
that country in Korea. Hence, if substantial Soviet forces appeared, US forces
should report to Washington and await instructions, meanwhile eschewing any
action that might aggravate the situation. This statement had been transmitted
earlier that day to Secretary Johnson; he had approved it and directed the Joint
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Chiefs of Staff to include it in a “comprehensive document” to be sent to the Pres-
ident and the Secretary of State when completed.®

In another action, the Joint Chiefs of Staff endorsed a proposal by Admiral
Sherman to temporarily assign one attack carrier, one destroyer squadron, and
various auxiliaries to the Seventh Fleet, and another attack carrier and a
destroyer division to the Sixth Fleet (in the Mediterranean). The effect would be
to double the carrier strength of each fleet. They sought the approval of Secretary
Johnson for these measures and received it on the following day.*”

On the afternoon of 28 June, the Joint Chiefs of Staff, along with the Service
Secretaries, attended a meeting of the NSC—the first since 18 May and the eighth
since the beginning of 1950. The entire meeting dealt with the Korean crisis and
its implications elsewhere in the world. The possibility of a Soviet reaction was
discussed. President Truman took note of, and approved, the State Department’s
policy statement regarding Soviet intervention in Korea. He wanted a special
effort to gather intelligence on Soviet participation in Korean hostilities and on
Soviet activities in other sensitive areas, notably Yugoslavia and Iran. He directed
the NSC to make a survey of all policies relating to the entire perimeter of the
USSR and approved a suggestion by Secretary Acheson that the Department of
Defense prepare a review of US military capabilities as a guide to the range of
available options.

The President observed that he was doing his best to avoid creating a feeling
of panic among the American people. Secretary Acheson warned that the United
States would face a serious situation if the crisis in Korea dragged on instead of
being quickly resolved. Mr. Truman replied however, that he “did not intend to
back out” unless it became necessary to meet another crisis elsewhere.

The NSC members discussed a British offer of naval aid that had been made
public that day and agreed that it should be accepted. President Truman reaf-
firmed his decision against air operations north of the 38th parallel, but indicated
that he might in the future be willing to authorize attacks on North Korean air
bases and fuel sources.®

On the following day, 29 June, the Joint Chiefs of Staff had available the draft
directive for CINCFE that had been drawn up by the JSPC. The Committee’s ver-
sion went beyond a mere collation of existing instructions; in effect, it called for a
significant extension of currently authorized military activity. In the view of the
JSPC, CINCEFE should be authorized to use naval and air forces to provide the
“fullest possible support” to South Korean troops. He should be reminded that
the United States would be in a “strong political position” if its forces succeeded
in repelling the invaders without undertaking action north of the 38th parallel.
Nonetheless, he should be authorized to extend his operations into North Korea
when, in his judgment, “serious risk of loss of Southern Korea might be obviated
thereby.” If possible, however, he should consult the Joint Chiefs of Staff before
taking such action. Regarding the possibility of Soviet intervention, the JSPC pro-
posed only that CINCFE be guided by the policy statement that had been fur-
nished by the Joint Chiefs of Staff.®

The Joint Chiefs of Staff discussed this draft directive and tentatively
approved it. They then took it up with Secretary of Defense Johnson, who like-
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wise gave his approval and obtained the concurrence of the Department of
State.% In the course of these discussions, the Joint Chiefs of Staff and the Secre-
tary agreed that it would be necessary to seek Presidential authorization for Gen-
eral MacArthur to introduce American troops into South Korea: service troops
for communications and transport, and combat forces in sufficient strength to
protect the port and airfield of Pusan. They accordingly incorporated suitable
provisions for this purpose in their draft directive.”!

It was probably with considerable reluctance that the Joint Chiefs of Staff
came to the conviction that the use of US troops in Korea could no longer be
avoided. It is to be noted that they envisioned a strictly limited mission for
ground forces. There yet remained a hope that the steps taken thus far could
shore up the crumbling resistance of the ROK Army and enable it to halt the
advancing North Koreans.

But suppose this hope proved vain? This question was faced by the JSSC,
which met on 29 June. In its report the Committee concluded that, on the
assumption that North Korea continued its attack with no overt assistance from
the Soviet Union, CINCFE should be given the mission of driving North Korean
forces back across the border. For this purpose, he should be authorized to use
“any and all forces under his command,” plus any others that might be made
available by any nation. The present restrictions regarding the use of the Army
and the Marine Corps in Korea should be removed, in the Committee’s view.
Military operations against North Korean territory should be authorized, and a
blockade against that country should be established. Reinforcements should be
made available to CINCFE “as a matter of urgency.” Portions of the National
Guard and of the Service Reserves should be mobilized; UN member nations
should be called on to provide at least token forces for use in Korea. If the USSR
should openly intervene with military force in Korea or seize the opportunity to
take aggressive action in Western Europe, a new situation would arise. The
United States should then mobilize fully, evacuate US dependents from overseas,
and seek UN sanctions against the Soviet Union.*?

Expansion of the US Role

Following his conversation with the Joint Chiefs of Staff, Secretary Johnson
called President Truman and suggested another conference with his advi-
sors.”® The President acquiesced and called a meeting of the National Security
Council for 1700 that afternoon, 29 June.**

At the appointed time, the NSC assembled with all four JCS members in
attendance, as well as the Service Secretaries.®> Secretary Johnson at once submit-
ted the draft directive for CINCFE, drawing attention to the proposal to autho-
rize the introduction of US troops into South Korea. He justified this step by cit-
ing the need to establish a secure base in Korea for effective air operations. His
reasoning, which doubtless reflected the tenor of the arguments put forth by the
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Joint Chiefs of Staff earlier in the day, was summed up as follows in an account
written some months after the meeting:

Louis Johnson said our planes, operating from distant bases in Japan, were
handicapped by having little time over the target area and by lack of clear com-
munication with the ROK ground forces. Also, our planes and ships were ham-
pered by their restriction to South Korea; they could not strike at Communist
supplies and reinforcements north of the 38th parallel. And the primitive Korean
transport system made it hard for us to get supplies to the ROK troops. There-
fore, the Joint Chiefs believed that stronger measures were needed, not only to
help the ROK’s but to ensure evacuation of remaining American nationals. We
must have at least an American foothold in South Korea.%

The prospective enlargement of the US military role in Korea drew no opposi-
tion. Secretaries Pace and Acheson, however, stressed that operations north of the
38th parallel must be carefully controlled in order to limit them to military tar-
gets and to prevent border violations; President Truman agreed. The President’s
principal concern was with the paragraph relating to possible Soviet interven-
tion, which he had seen the day before but apparently had not read carefully. The
wording seemed to him, as he later wrote, to permit “an implication that we were
planning to go to war against the Soviet Union,” and he insisted that there be not
the “slightest implication of such a plan.” He instructed the Departments of State
and Defense to amend the directive to CINCFE to reflect his views.

The NSC then turned to other aspects of the crisis. Secretary Acheson read to
the members the Soviet answer to the US note of 27 June; it alleged that the war
had been instigated by South Korea and declared that the Soviet Union would
continue to adhere to “the principle of the impermissibility of interference by for-
eign powers in the internal affairs of Korea.” This reply, in Mr. Acheson’s view,
indicated that the USSR did not intend to commit forces to Korea. The Secretary
also read a statement that had been broadcast by the Government of Communist
China denouncing US support of South Korea. The President decided that the
texts of the notes exchanged between the United States and the USSR should be
released to the public.

Before the meeting ended, the President laid down two more decisions. He
wished instructions sent to General MacArthur to submit a complete daily report
on the Far Eastern situation. More important, he directed that all offers of forces
from other UN members for use in Korea should be accepted, in order that the
defense of South Korea would be a truly international effort.*”

Following the meeting, a revised directive for CINCFE was put into final form
by the Joint Chiefs of Staff, in cooperation with representatives of the Department
of State, and was approved by the two Secretaries.”® It was then transmitted to
General MacArthur’s headquarters in Tokyo. The significant portions were the
following;:

You will employ naval and air forces available to the Far East Command to

provide fullest possible support to South Korean forces by attack on military tar-
gets so as to permit these forces to clear South Korea of North Korean forces.
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Employment of army forces will be limited to essential communications and
other essential service units, except that you are authorized to employ such army
combat and service forces as to insure the retention of a port and air base in the
general area Pusan-Chinhae.

By naval and air action you will defend Formosa against invasion or attack by
Chinese Communists and will insure that Formosa will not be used as a base of
operations against the Chinese mainland by Chinese Nationalists. . ..

You are authorized to extend your operations into Northern Korea against air
bases, depots, tank farms, troop columns and other such purely military targets,
if and when, in your judgment, this becomes essential for the performance of
your missions...or to avoid unnecessary casualties to our forces. Special care
will be taken to insure that operations in North Korea stay well clear of the fron-
tiers of Manchuria or the Soviet Union. ...

The decision to commit United States air and naval forces and limited army
forces to provide cover and support for South Korean troops does not constitute
a decision to engage in war with the Soviet Union if Soviet forces intervene in
Korea. The decision regarding Korea, however, was taken in full realization of
the risks involved. If Soviet forces actively oppose our operations in Korea, your
forces should defend themselves, shouldy taEe no action to aggravate the situa-
tion, and you should report the situation to Washington.”

This message was sent to CINCEFE early on the evening of 29 June in Washing-
ton and reached its recipient on the morning of 30 June, Tokyo time.!® This was
some twelve hours or so after General MacArthur had returned to Tokyo from
his survey of the situation in Korea, which as described below, was to lead to
final, complete US involvement in hostilities there. While en route from Tokyo to
Korea, General MacArthur had, on his own initiative, issued orders by radio to
FEAF Headquarters in Japan to launch air strikes against airfields north of the
38th parallel. He took this action on the morning of 29 June (Far Eastern Time), or
almost twenty-four hours before he received the JCS authorization.!”!

The Decision to Send Combat Troops

eneral MacArthur’s determination to visit the battlefront in Korea sprang
from a desire to see the situation for himself and to give the hard-pressed
South Koreans further visible evidence of US support and encouragement.
Accompanied by key members of his staff and several newsmen, he left Japan in
his private aircraft at 0610 on the morning of 29 June. Landing at Suwon, some 20
miles south of Seoul, he conferred with General Church, Ambassador Muccio,
and President Rhee. He then drove northward to the Han River, through swarms
of refugees and of fleeing soldiers—the shattered remnants of an army that num-
bered 100,000 men only a few days earlier but could now account for barely a
quarter of that number. From the south bank of the Han, the General and his
party could observe the damage done to Seoul and the bursts of artillery fired
from across the river.
Returning to Suwon, General MacArthur departed for Japan about 1815 and
was back in Tokyo some four hours later. His trip had convinced him that US
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ships and aircraft alone could not retrieve the situation. The ROK Army could no
longer be counted on for effective resistance; South Korea could be saved only by
throwing US troops into the battle.1®

The General set forth these convictions in a message for Washington that he
drafted on the return trip to Japan.!® For unknown reasons, he did not send it
until the next day, the evening of 29 June in Washington.!® As finally dispatched,
this message read as follows:

I have today inspected the South Korean battle area from Suwon north to the
Han River. My purpose was to reconnoiter at first hand the conditions as they
exist and to determine the most effective way to further support our mission.

The Korean army and coastal forces are in confusion, have not seriously
fought, and lack leadership through their own means. Organized and equipped
as a light force for maintenance of interior order they were unprepared for attack
by armor and air. Conversely, they are incapable of gaining the initiative over
such a force as that embodied in the North Korean army.

The Korean army had made no preparations for a gefense in depth, for eche-
lons of supfply or for a supply system.I?\Io plans had been made, or if made, not
executed, for the destruction of supplies or materiel in event of a retrograde
movement. As a result, they have eltﬁer lost, or abandoned, their supplies and
heavier equipment and have absolutely no system of inter-communication. In
most cases the individual soldier, in his flight to the south, has retained his rifle
or carbine. They are gradually being gathered up in rear areas and given some
semblance of organization by an advance group of my officers I have sent over
for this purpose. Without artillery, mortars, and anti-tank guns, they can only
hope to retard the enemy through the fullest utilization of natural obstacles and
under the guidance and example of leadership of high quality.

The civilian populace is tranquil, orderly and prosperous according to their
scale of living. They have retained a high national spirit and firm belief in the
Americans. The roads leading south from Seoul are crowded with refugees refus-
ing to accept the Communist rule.

South Korean military strength is estimated at not more than 25,000 effectives.
North Korean military forces are as previously reported, backed by considerable
strength in armor and a well trained, well directed and aggressive air force
equipped with Russian planes. It is now obvious that this force has been built as
an element of Communist military aggression.

I am doing everything possible to establish and maintain a flow of supplies
through the air-head at Suwon and the southern port of Pusan. The air-head is
most vital but is subject to constant air attack. Since air cover must be main-
tained over all aircraft transportinF supplies, equipment, and personnel, this
requirement operates to contain a large portion of my fighter strength. North
Korean air, operating from nearby bases, has been savage in its attacks in the
Suwon area.

It is essential that the enemy advance be held or its impetus will threaten the
overrunning of all Korea. Every effort is being made to establish a Han River line
but the result is highly problematical. The defense of this line and the Suwon-
Seoul corridor is essential to the retention of the only air-head in Central Korea.

The Korean army is entirely incapable of counter action and there is grave
danger of a further breakthrough. If the enemy advance continues much further
it will seriously threaten the fall of the Republic.

The only assurance for the holding of the present line, and the ability to regain
later the lost ground, is through the introduction of US ground combat forces into
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the Korean battle area. To continue to utilize the forces of our Air and Navy with-
out an effective ground element cannot be decisive.

If authorized, it is my intention to immediately move a US regimental combat
team to the reinforcement of the vital area discussed and to provide for a possible
buildup to a two division strength from the troops in Japan for an early counter-
offensive.

Unless provision is made for the full utilization of the Army-Navy-Air team
in this shattered area our mission will at best be needlessly costly in life, money
and prestige. At worse, it might even be doomed to failure.1®

This message reached Washington around the middle of the night of 29 to 30
June. [t was passed for action to General Collins, who decided to seek further
information before going to the President with CINCFE's request. He accordingly
arranged a teleconference between the Pentagon and General MacArthur’s head-
quarters in Tokyo.

At 0400 on 30 June (1700 in the Far East), arrangements for the conference
were completed and communications were opened. Conferees in Washington
included General Collins; his Deputy Chief of Staff for Plans, Lieutenant General
A. M. Gruenther; the heads of the G-2, G-3, and G-4 divisions of the General
Staff; Assistant Secretary of State Rusk and Mr. Neil W. Bond, the Korean desk
officer in the State Department. The Tokyo contingent consisted of General
MacArthur himself; his Chief of Staff, Major General E. M. Almond; and several
other high-ranking officers.!””

General Collins began the conference by pointing out that CINCFE’s request
for permission to use American troops on the battlefront in Korea was a matter
for a decision by the President, which would require several hours to obtain.
Meanwhile, he authorized General MacArthur at once to move one regimental
combat team to Pusan, in accord with the terms of the JCS directive transmitted
earlier that night (JCS 84681).

General Collins then explained why General MacArthur’s request was likely
to run into opposition:

I was present at White House conference late afternoon June 29th when deci-
sion was made by President to authorize action covered in JCS 84681. Tenor of
decision clearly indicated to me that the President would wish carefully to con-
sider with his top advisors before authorizing introduction of American combat
forces into battle area.

Would the permission to move a regimental combat team suffice for the present,
asked General Collins? It seems likely that by the time this movement was com-
pleted, the President would have acted on the request for the two divisions.

General MacArthur made it clear that he wanted immediate action on his
request. His reply was:

Your authorization, while establishing basic principle that US ground combat
troops may be used in Korea does not give sufficient latitude for efficient opera-
tion in present situation. It does not satisfy the basic requirements contained in
my message C 56942. Time is of the essence and a clear cut decision without
delay is imperative.
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General Collins thereupon answered that he would at once request approval
of the President, through the Secretary of the Army, for the projected movement
of a Regimental Combat Team (RCT) to the combat zone. He then passed the
request by telephone to Secretary Pace, who had already been alerted.!%

While they awaited word from the President, the conferees continued their
long-distance conversation. The Washington party queried CINCFE for informa-
tion and learned that air strikes, with undetermined results, had been made on
airfields in North Korea following receipt of the JCS authorization. Naval opera-
tions in Korean waters so far were “not of positive nature,” owing to a lack of tar-
gets. There was little prospect that the North Koreans would have any difficulty
in getting across the Han; three railroad bridges south of Seoul were still intact,
and barges and ferries were available to transport heavy equipment. CINCFE
declined to try to estimate how long it would take to get a regimental combat
team into action; it would depend on the extent of the enemy breakthrough along
the Han, and airlift to the combat zone would not be feasible because Suwon air-
field was not secure.

At about 0500, Secretary of the Army Pace, via telephone, reached President
Truman, who was already up and getting dressed. Mr. Pace told him of General
MacArthur’s request and asked for a decision. The President immediately autho-
rized the commitment of a regimental combat team, reserving for the moment his
decision regarding the further buildup to two divisions.!®

This decision was at once relayed to the waiting General Collins, who passed
it to General MacArthur. “Your recommendation to move one RCT to combat
area is approved,” CINCFE was told. “You will be advised later as to further
buildup.” The Army Chief of Staff then closed the conference with a word of
praise for the distinguished commander in Tokyo:

Everyone here delighted your prompt action in personally securing first hand
view of situation. Congratulations and best wishes. We all have full confidence in
you and your command.

Immediately after the teleconference, General Collins telephoned his JCS col-
leagues and told them of the President’s decision.!® One of them—Admiral Sher-
man-—felt some unease. As he later described his reaction:

The decision [to send troops] had been taken on the recommendation of Gen-
eral MacArthur, who was on the spot. I had some apprehensions about it, and in
the following days I felt that the decision was a sound one. It was unavoidable,
but I was fully aware of the hazards involved in fighting Asiatics on the Asiatic
mainland, which is something that, as a naval officer, I have grown up to believe
should be avoided if possible.

It does not appear, however, that he or any other JCS members made any
protest.!

Shortly after 0700 on 30 June, after being briefed by an officer from G-2 on the
situation in Korea, President Truman called Secretaries Pace and Johnson and
told them that he was calling a meeting to discuss CINCFE’s request."? In prepa-
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ration for this meeting, the Joint Chiefs of Staff conferred with the Secretary of
Defense and the Service Secretaries at 0830 to discuss the proposed buildup to
two divisions in Korea. They approved a draft directive that would give CINCFE
the necessary authority and then adjourned to the White House at 0930 to meet
with the President and the Secretary of State.!3

When all the group was assembled, the President opened the meeting by
announcing that he had approved the sending of a US RCT to Korea and then
asked for advice regarding additional forces. He informed the others that Chiang
Kai-shek had offered to furnish 33,000 men for service in Korea if the United
States would transport them from Taiwan.* President Truman was inclined to
accept the offer, but Secretary Acheson objected that the use of Nationalist Chi-
nese forces might stimulate Communist China to intervene. The Joint Chiefs of
Staff pointed out that Chiang’s troops were no better equipped than those of
South Korea, which had proved unable to cope with North Korean tanks, and
that transport facilities could be more profitably used to send US troops and sup-
plies to Korea. Thus dissuaded, the President agreed to reject Chiang’s offer. He
then announced that he would give General MacArthur full authority to use the
ground forces under his command, with no limit on the number of divisions to
be sent to Korea. He also approved a suggestion by Admiral Sherman that a
naval blockade of North Korea be established.

These momentous decisions had the approval of all those present and entailed
little discussion. The entire meeting lasted approximately one-half hour."*>

Immediately afterward, the Joint Chiefs of Staff held a meeting, probably to
revise the directive to General MacArthur in the light of the President’s deci-
sion.'® At 1100, along with the Secretaries of State and Defense, they attended
another meeting in which the President informed Congressional leaders of both
parties that US troops would be sent to Korea. With one exception, all the hearers
indicated approval of this decision.”

Following this meeting, the White House released a brief announcement, as
follows:

In keeping with the United Nations Security Council’s request for support to
the Republic of Korea in repelling the North Korean invaders and restoring peace
in Korea, the President announced that he had authorized the United States Air
Force to conduct missions on specific military targets in northern Korea wherever
militarily necessary, and had ordered a naval blockade of the entire Korean coast.
General MacArthur has been authorized to use certain supporting ground units.!®

This statement conveyed to the public the substance of the decisions taken on
the previous evening, as well as those reached that morning. The restrained
wording of the last sentence, which fails utterly to indicate the scope of the
authority granted General MacArthur, suggests that it may have been drafted at
an earlier stage of the decision-making process and allowed to stand.’ The JSSC,
in a memorandum evidently drafted early on the morning of 30 June, in prepara-
tion for impending consideration of its report (JCS 1776/8) by the Joint Chiefs of
Staff, recommended a more sweeping announcement that the United States
would use “all of its resources, including ground combat troops . .. to execute the
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United Nations mandate.”'® This advice was not followed; probably the sugges-
tion never reached the President. It does not appear that the Joint Chiefs of Staff
were consulted in the preparation of the announcement.

Early in the afternoon, the Joint Chiefs of Staff informed CINCFE of the Presi-
dent’s decision, in the following terse message:

Restrictions on use of Army Forces imposed by JCS 84681 are hereby removed
and authority granted to utilize Army Forces available to you as proposed your
C 56942 subject only to requirements for safety of Japan in the present situation
which is a matter for your judgment.'?!

Next the Joint Chiefs of Staff held a two-hour meeting at which they consid-
ered JCS 1776/8, the report drafted by the JSSC.'?2 This paper would have
brought the Joint Chiefs of Staff face to face with the question of troop use in
Korea even without General MacArthur’s message, but most of its recommenda-
tions had been overtaken by the events of the last few hours. The Joint Chiefs of
Staff directed the JSPC to study the provision of reinforcements to General
MacArthur and the advisability of mobilizing the reserves. The JSSC had recom-
mended that political arrangements be made by the Department of State to place
General MacArthur in command of all forces made available by any country; the
Joint Chiefs of Staff decided simply that the example set by the United Kingdom,
in placing its forces at the disposal of General MacArthur, should be followed as
a precedent.'?

There yet remained one action needed to give effect to the decisions made by
President Truman on 30 June. The Joint Chiefs of Staff took this step on the fol-
lowing day, when they authorized General MacArthur to establish a naval block-
ade of Korea.!2*

The Die Is Cast

fter 30 June, there could be no turning back. The United States had fully
committed its prestige to the defense of South Korea; it was to keep its forces
engaged in action on the peninsula for three years, until a lengthy military stale-
mate was finally ended by an armistice. This commitment had been made in a
series of four separate steps, which may be recapitulated as follows:
(1) Air and naval protection for the withdrawal of US civilian personnel.
(2) Air and naval action against North Korean forces south of the 38th parallel
in support of the ROK Army.
(3) Extension of air and naval action north of the 38th parallel, to be under-
taken in part from bases within South Korea.
(4) Introduction of US troops into the combat zone.
The second step was perhaps the most significant. It reversed a policy deci-
sion made several years earlier and, when it failed to achieve its purpose, led
inexorably to the steps that followed. It was based primarily on political consid-
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erations—a realization that North Korea had openly defied the United States and
the United Nations, and a fear that grave consequences for the future peace and
order of the world would follow if the challenge were shirked. Not unnaturally,
the initiative for this decision came from the Secretary of State, who dominated
the policymaking machinery during the first two or three days of the crisis. His
thinking was clearly in harmony with that of his superior, President Truman.1?

Although the President’s military advisors were not the prime movers in the
decision to respond to the Communist challenge, they did not dissent from it.
“Neither I nor any member of the Military Establishment in my presence recom-
mended we go into Korea,” said Secretary Johnson a year later, in testifying dur-
ing the Congressional inquiry into the relief of General MacArthur. “The recom-
mendation came from the Secretary of State, but I want to repeat that it was not
opposed by the Defense Department, all the members of which had severally
pointed out the trouble, the trials, tribulations, and the difficulties.”?

Once it had been determined that the United States could not afford to allow
South Korea to be destroyed, discussion shifted from ends to means—from
“what” to “how.” Military considerations came to the fore, and the voice of the
Joint Chiefs of Staff, supported by that of the Secretary of Defense, was heard
more clearly. The decision in favor of limited air and naval intervention had been
taken in the hope that it would suffice to enable South Korea’s own defenders to
throw back the invaders. As realization dawned that this hope was in vain, the
Joint Chiefs of Staff were moved to urge a broader range of air and naval action.
They still sought to avoid outright US intervention in the ground war. But when
told by General MacArthur that only a US infantry force could save the day, they
accepted the view of their theater commander, whose brilliant reputation, stem-
ming from his outstanding accomplishments during World War II, lent enormous
weight to his counsel.

The full burden of repelling the invasion had now been laid on General
MacArthur’s shoulders, and he lost no time in meeting it. Before dawn on 1 July,
“Task Force Smith”—a battalion from the 24th Infantry Division, commanded by
Lieutenant Colonel Charles B. Smith—had started on a hurried journey that in a
few days was to bring it into contact with the North Korean spearheads thrusting
southward from Seoul. In the ten weeks that ensued, other elements of the 24th
and 25th Infantry and the 1st Cavalry Divisions were flung into the battle.
Though outnumbered and poorly trained, these forces, together with the rem-
nants of the ROK Army, slowed the rush of the enemy and provided precious
time for the United States and the United Nations to mobilize their resources for
a counterblow. While the defenders hung on to a precarious foothold in south-
eastern Korea, the Joint Chiefs of Staff, in constant communication with General
MacArthur, struggled with the new tasks that had been thrust upon them at a
moment’s notice: to establish an international army with an appropriate com-
mand structure, to reverse the disastrous effects of months of ill-advised econ-
omy in defense planning, to create a force and a strategy that would bring vic-
tory in Korea while enabling the United States to meet the commitments it had
undertaken elsewhere in the world. The JCS efforts in these directions are the
subject of the two chapters that follow.
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The United States and the United Nations

Formation of the United Nations Command

he events of the last week of June 1950 launched the United States upon a

course of action that was without parallel in the nation’s history. As the
leader of a military coalition of non-Communist countries, the United States was
about to embark upon a war fought under the aegis of an international body
whose decrees provided the political sanction for the operation. The three-way
relationship among the United States, the United Nations, and the military com-
mand in Korea raised a host of problems. How would the political objectives of
the conflict be determined? Who would provide strategic guidance to the UN
Commander? Would the latter communicate with the United Nations directly, or
only through the United States? How could the resources of the numerous UN
member nations best be mobilized for the fight? Experience provided at best only
partial answers to these questions.

In the solution of these and similar problems, political and military considera-
tions were intermingled to an unusual degree. Decisions that might be strategi-
cally correct if US forces were fighting alone could become grave errors if their
effect was to alienate nations whose support and friendship were essential. Nor
was it possible to ignore the dangers inherent in conducting military operations
near the borders of North Korea’s powerful Communist neighbor nations. “I
don’t think you can ever in modern war divorce purely military considerations
from political or overall considerations,” said General Collins during the
MacArthur hearings in 1951.! He was referring to a controversy over the bomb-
ing of Rashin, a North Korean port city near the Manchurian border. But many
other examples could be cited of the complexities faced by General Collins and
his colleagues in conducting this unprecedented war.

Although offers of military assistance from other UN members were received
in Washington before the invasion was four days old, it was obvious that the bur-
den of the fighting would fall most heavily on the United States, with its greater
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resources. The United Nations was prompt to confirm the predominant role and
authority of the United States in Korea.

On 4 July 1950 the Joint Chiefs of Staff received from the Department of State
a draft resolution, which had already been discussed informally with UN offi-
cials, to guide the formation of an international force. It provided that all forces
fighting in Korea would be placed under a unified command, to be headed by an
officer designated by the United States. This command would be authorized to
fly the UN flag, as would the armed forces of member nations serving under it.
The United States would be requested to provide the Security Council with
“periodic reports” on actions taken by the unified command. These reports
would go to a special committee of the Security Council, which would also
receive offers of assistance from member nations and transmit them to the uni-
fied command, and would advise the Security Council concerning actions taken
by members to support the resolutions of 25 and 27 June.?

After reviewing the draft, the Joint Chiefs of Staff suggested several changes.
They saw no objection either to the establishment of a unified command under a
US officer, or to the requirement that the United States furnish reports to the
Security Council. They recommended, however, that the resolution be amended
to call for “reports as appropriate” rather than “periodic reports,” in order to
make this provision “realistic and practicable.” They believed that use of the UN
flag should be restricted to the headquarters of the UN commander, fearing that
its use by participating nations might lead to confusion in combat.

Their most serious objection was to the proposal to establish a special commit-
tee of the Security Council. They preferred that this provision be omitted entirely,
but recognized that its inclusion might be politically necessary. If so, it was essen-
tial to ensure that the committee was strictly limited to the functions listed in the
draft and that it did not seek to exercise “operational control” of the forces in
Korea. Moreover, in accord with normal command procedures, the channel of
communication between the committee and the unified command should run
through the United States. At no time should there be any direct communication
between General MacArthur and the Security Council ?

Secretary Johnson forwarded these comments to the Department of State with
his endorsement. A revised version of the resolution, reflecting the JCS recom-
mendations, was thereupon approved by the President and sent to the Security
Council, where it was approved on 7 July.* As finally passed, the key provisions
of this resolution were the following:

The Security Council, having determined that the armed attack upon the
Republic of Korea by forces from North Korea constitutes a breach of the peace, . ..

Recommends that all Members providing military forces and other assis-
tance ... make such forces and other assistance available to a unified command
under the United States;

Requests the United States to designate the commander of such forces;
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Authorizes the unified command at its discretion to use the United Nations
flag in the course of operations against North Korean forces concurrently with
the flags of the various nations participating;

Requests the United States to provide the Security Council with reports as
appropriate on the course of action taken under the unified command.

The United States lost no time in complying with the request to designate the
unified commander. There was only one conceivable choice: General of the Army
Douglas MacArthur. On 8 July 1950 the Joint Chiefs of Staff formally recom-
mended his appointment.® President Truman approved this recommendation and
announced the appointment the same day. On 10 July the Joint Chiefs of Staff dis-
patched to CINCFE a directive officially appointing him commander of the com-
bined forces.”

On 14 July 1950 General Collins, on the first of what was to prove a series of
visits to the Far East, formally presented a UN flag to General MacArthur at the
Dai Ichi building in Tokyo. The Far East Commander, fully aware of the symbolic
importance of the occasion, accepted the gift “with the deepest emotion,” as he
himself said.® On 25 July General MacArthur established the United Nations
Command (UNC), with general headquarters in Tokyo.” Earlier, on 12 July, he
had made the Eighth Army responsible for directing ground operations in Korea.
The Commanding General, Lieutenant General Walton H. Walker, USA, moved
to Korea and set up the headquarters of the Eighth US Army in Korea (EUSAK).
With the approval of President Rhee, EUSAK also assumed command of the
South Korean Army."

General MacArthur’s Role and Status

In shaping the command and administrative structure necessary to conduct
military operations in Korea, US leaders were guided by two fundamental
policies, both of which had the full support of the Joint Chiefs of Staff. The first of
these defined the Korean struggle as essentially a cooperative international
effort—a collective UN resistance. This principle stemmed from President Tru-
man’s statement to the National Security Council on 29 June, that the forces aid-
ing South Korea should be “truly representative of the United Nations.” !

The Joint Chiefs of Staff manifested their conscientious regard for this princi-
ple in numerous decisions, but nowhere did they display it more clearly than in
their instructions to General MacArthur on the subject of his communiques. “For
worldwide political reasons,” they told him on 12 July 1950, “it is important to
emphasize repeatedly the fact that our operations are in support of UNSC
[United Nations Security Council].” He was to identify himself, wherever practi-
cable, as Commander in Chief of UN Forces, and to stress the activities of the
forces of other countries whenever the facts justified him in doing so."? In later
instructions, General MacArthur was directed to issue communiques or releases
from General Headquarters, UN Command, instead of from the (US) Far East
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Command. Moreover, US units were to be identified by prefacing their names
with their national designation, like those of other countries, in order to empha-
size the fact that US forces were only one element of an international army.®

The second basic policy was that control of the operation was to be centered
in Washington, not at Lake Success or in Tokyo. The principle of unity of com-
mand forbade the United Nations from exercising any control beyond the most
general overall guidance. At the same time, political considerations made it
essential that basic decisions be made by someone with a broader view than the
theater commander in the Far East.

It was to prevent the United Nations from involvement in strategy or tactics
that the Joint Chiefs of Staff had successfully opposed the establishment of a
Security Council committee in direct communications with the UN Command.
They manifested the same concern in formulating regulations for the preparation
and handling of the reports that, under the Council resolution of 7 July, were to
be submitted by General MacArthur.

The impetus to begin the flow of these reports was provided by the Depart-
ment of State. The occasion was the naval blockade of North Korea that was
authorized by President Truman on 30 June 1950 and publicly proclaimed three
days later in a warning to all shipping.** It was not entirely certain that the Secu-
rity Council resolutions of 25 and 27 June provided sufficient authority for this
action. The Department of State believed the blockade to be legal but, neverthe-
less, wished the substance of the President’s proclamation to be brought to the
attention of the Security Council, in order to remove all doubt. An initial report
from the unified command, of the kind called for by the resolution of 7 July,
seemed an appropriate vehicle for transmitting this information. It would afford
Council members an opportunity to object to the blockade; if they failed to do so,
they would tacitly confirm its legality.

On 13 July 1950 Assistant Secretary Hickerson sent the Department of Defense a
draft of a report, prepared for this purpose in the Department of State after infor-
mal consultation with G-3. It was brief, consisting of six sentences in four para-
graphs, and in effect said only that UN forces were in action. Naval forces were
described as “taking the necessary action to prevent movement by sea of [enemy]
forces and supplies.” The word “blockade” had intentionally been avoided. Secre-
tary Johnson asked the Joint Chiefs of Staff to comment on the draft and to recom-
mend procedures for the preparation and transmission of such reports.'>

The Joint Strategic Survey Committee, which considered the question of pro-
cedure, pointed out that important command problems were involved. The
members noted that the Security Council had in no wise established a “chain of
command” running to General MacArthur, nor had it authorized him to deal
directly with the United Nations. The Council resolution of 7 July had spoken of
the unified command as being “under the United States” and had specified that
reports would be furnished by the US Government, not by the UN Commander.
Reporting procedures should reflect these considerations, in the Committee’s
view. Hence, reports should be prepared under the supervision of the Joint
Chiefs of Staff, not by the Department of State, and should be forwarded to State
via the Secretary of Defense, for transmittal to the Security Council. The Joint
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Chiefs of Staff endorsed this suggested procedure, amending it only to specify
that reports should initially be drafted by General MacArthur and then sent to
them for review. Secretaries Johnson and Acheson both approved this plan.’¢

Anticipating this approval, the Joint Chiefs of Staff had already instructed
General MacArthur to begin preparing periodic reports. The first was to be
submitted before 4 August, and successors at intervals of approximately two
weeks thereafter. The Joint Chiefs of Staff pointed out that “certain political fac-
tors which must be determined in Washington” might make it necessary to
amend his reports, but they promised that any alterations would be cleared
with him in advance."”

In the meantime, the Department of State had withdrawn its draft of the ini-
tial report, having decided that a longer and more informative version was
needed. Ambassador Austin had unfavorably contrasted State’s draft with a
report that General MacArthur had released in Tokyo on 16 July 1950. By direc-
tion of Major General James H. Burns, of Secretary Johnson's office, the Depart-
ment of the Army conferred with the Department of State in the preparation of a
new and more detailed report. Concurrence was obtained from the other Military
Services and from General MacArthur, but the Joint Chiefs of Staff were not offi-
cially consulted. The revised version was formally submitted to the UN Security
Council on 25 July.!8

Later reports followed the procedure set forth by the Joint Chiefs of Staff.
They originated at UNC headquarters and were transmitted to the Joint Chiefs
of Staff, who referred them to General Collins. He consulted the Military Ser-
vices, the Department of State, and General MacArthur and, after making any
necessary changes, returned the reports to his colleagues. Thence they were for-
warded successively to the Secretaries of Defense and State and the UN Security
Council.”

The Joint Chiefs of Staff had thus succeeded in establishing the principle that
the UN Commander would be responsible to the US Government, which, as the
executive agent of the United Nations, would serve as an intermediary between
General MacArthur and the Security Council. The General himself later described
this relationship as follows:

[M]y connection with the United Nations was largely nominal....[T]he entire
control of my command and everything I did came from our own Chiefs of Staff
and my channel of communication was defined as the Army Chief of Staff. Even
the reports which were normally made by me to the United Nations were subject
to censorship by our State and {)efense epartments. | had no direct connection
with the United Nations whatever.?!

The Beginning of an International Armed Force

more difficult and time-consuming group of problems involved the relation-
ship between the United States and those members of the United Nations
who joined in the battle. Military units from a disparate group of nations scat-
tered around the globe had to be assembled and welded into an efficient fighting
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force under US leadership. The many difficulties, political and military, involved
in this process had to be settled as they arose.

The first nations to contribute to the joint effort were, as would be expected,
the members of the British Commonwealth, led by the English homeland. Prime
Minister Clement Attlee of the United Kingdom told the House of Commons on
28 June 1950 that British naval forces in Japanese waters would at once be placed
“at the disposal of United States authorities on behalf of the Security Council in
support of the Republic of Korea.”?» When the NSC met on the afternoon of 28
June, President Truman told the members that the British offer was to be
accepted as soon as it was officially received.”? On the same day, Air Marshal
Lord Arthur Tedder, head of the British Joint Services Mission, formally notified
the Joint Chiefs of Staff of the British decision. He listed the composition of the
British force as one aircraft carrier, two cruisers, and five destroyers and frigates.
At the same time, he stipulated that no British forces were to participate in opera-
tions involving Taiwan.?? On 29 June the Joint Chiefs of Staff replied with an
expression of gratitude. They also informed CINCFE of the British contribution.*

Other Commonwealth countries promptly followed suit. On 29 June the Aus-
tralian Ambassador told Secretary Acheson that his country’s ships then in
Japanese waters (a destroyer and a frigate) would be made available to the UN
effort. He also offered a squadron of Mustang fighter aircraft based in Japan. At
the same time, New Zealand offered to furnish naval forces if the United States
so requested. In Ottawa, the Canadian Parliament was scheduled to meet on the
afternoon of 29 June, and it was hoped that that body would approve the dis-
patch of naval vessels from Vancouver to the Far East.

The Department of State immediately accepted the proffered Australian ships,
then consulted the Department of Defense concerning the replies that should be
made to New Zealand and Canada. Secretary Johnson passed the matter to the
Joint Chiefs of Staff, setting forth at the same time his own view that “considera-
tions of national policy make it important that such offers be accepted to the
maximum extent practicable from the military point of view.”?

When the Security Council met again on 29 June, Secretary Acheson reported
the receipt of offers from these British Commonwealth countries and also one from
the Netherlands. President Truman, laying down the policy that the international
aspects of the defense of South Korea should be emphasized, expressed a “desire”
that all assistance offered by UN members be accepted by the United States.*

This statement was not interpreted as a binding directive that every offer from
any member nation must be uncritically accepted. Secretary Johnson’s instruc-
tions had implied that there existed a certain minimum standard of military
effectiveness that, if not met, might make it necessary to refuse some proffered
forces, in spite of their political desirability. It became the task of the Joint Chiefs
of Staff to determine and apply this standard.

There was little difficulty in appraising the value of forces from the British
Commonwealth. On 30 June the Joint Chiefs of Staff advised Secretary Johnson
that the offers from Australia, Canada, and New Zealand should be accepted.?”
Three days later Secretary Johnson sent this advice to the Secretary of State, with
his concurrence.?
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The Netherlands offered a destroyer based at Surabaya. The Joint Chiefs of
Staff, informed of this fact on 5 July 1950, at once replied that this vessel would
be acceptable.” In fact, the Dutch destroyer had already been ordered into action.
None of the early contributors had awaited formal US approval before commit-
ting their forces.®

All of these countries followed the example of the United Kingdom and
placed their forces under General MacArthur’s command. The Joint Chiefs of
Staff, in acting on JCS 1776/8, had decided on 30 June 1950 that this practice
should be followed in each case.’! They thus sought to avoid the traditional bug-
bear of coalition warfare—divided command.

The only other government that tendered assistance during the first week of the
invasion was that of Nationalist China, which offered a force of 33,000 troops.*
President Truman and his advisors considered this offer on the morning of 30 June
and rejected it, partly for political reasons adduced by the Department of State,
partly because of the JCS advice that Nationalist troops were of uncertain value
and that the required transport could be put to better use.*® Accordingly, Chiang
was tactfully informed that his offer was appreciated, but that any removal of
troops from Taiwan would weaken the defenses of the island and should be care-
fully discussed with representatives of CINCFE before being carried out.>*

The Joint Chiefs of Staff at the same time told General MacArthur that the
Nationalist offer was to be declined. Should the Nationalist Government make
such an offer directly to him, he was to refer it to the Department of State. “The
decision whether to accept or reject the proffer of military aid by foreign govern-
ments should properly be made at highest levels in Washington,” they cautioned.

No other offers of military forces were forthcoming before the middle of July.
The Joint Chiefs of Staff were informed that Pakistan was willing to contribute a
regiment, and decided on 3 July that this offer, if made, should be accepted, but it
never materialized.3

Should Help Be Solicited?

n 29 June 1950 Secretary-General Trygve Lie transmitted a message to all mem-

ber nations asking what kind of assistance they were prepared to offer South
Korea in repelling the attack, as urged by the Security Council resolution of 27 June.
Most replied with expressions of general approval of the resolution, although the
Communist governments denounced it as illegal, and India made it clear that her
“acceptance” of the resolution did not imply a change in her neutralist foreign pol-
icy. But aside from the countries discussed above, none offered anything more than
moral support except Denmark, which promised medical supplies.”

It was clear that the majority of UN member nations were in no hurry to meet
the obligations to which the Security Council had committed them. Some still
clung to the unrealistic hope that the Korean crisis could be settled by a compro-
mise. The month of July was to see two efforts to induce Soviet Russia to medi-
ate. The British Government undertook a discreet inquiry in Moscow but
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declined to be drawn into a discussion of possible concessions. Prime Minister
Jawaharlal Nehru of India pursued a scheme for the admission of Communist
China to the UN Security Council in order to induce the Soviet representative to
return and thus, it was hoped, begin negotiations that would end the conflict.
The United States sought to hold the UN nations to the issue of North Korea’s
defiance and took the position that any concessions in return for an end of hostil-
ities would amount to rewarding aggression.™

Observing the reluctance of UN members to come forward, US officials con-
sidered the possibility of a deliberate effort to prod them. The possibility was
raised as early as 1 July, when Secretary of the Army Pace, on behalf of the Secre-
tary of Defense, addressed the following question to the Joint Chiefs of Staff:

Should the U.S. act further to stimulate military contributions from other
members of the UN? In this connection there are indications that certain Latin
American countries, which have not yet acted, might easily be induced to come
forward with assistance offers. From a military point of view, would such offers
be helpful, and if so, what categories of forces would be most useful?®

Two weeks elapsed before the Joint Chiefs of Staff replied. During the interval,
Mr. Pace and the Secretaries of the Navy and the Air Force pursued the matter
further. On 7 July they told Secretary Johnson that, in their opinion, “the United
Nations character of the Korean operation is not being sufficiently emphasized.”
They stressed particularly the importance of obtaining ground forces from other
countries. For their symbolic value if nothing else, troops were desirable from the
United Kingdom, France, the Low Countries, Scandinavia, Canada, and various
Asiatic countries, especially India. Admittedly the British and French were
already heavily engaged in Malaya and Indochina, respectively, but they should
be able to spare at least small forces. The Secretaries urged that the Department of
State be directed to seek aid from other nations. Secretary Johnson discussed this
memorandum with General Bradley; both approved it, and it was forwarded to
President Truman, who, however, apparently took no action.*’

When no action ensued, the Service Secretaries followed up with a second
memorandum on 13 July, in which they indicated to Secretary Johnson their
growing irritation that the United States was preparing to do so much and the
other nations seemed to be doing so little. As they wrote:

It is imperative that the maximum amount of pressure be exerted on all mem-
ber nations of the United Nations to provide ground troops for action in Korea.
We are aware of the problems that face the State Department in that respect, but
the results are most unsatisfactory. It is a difficult thing for the American Beople
to understand why this country provides all of the ground troops for United
Nations action, undertakes a draft, and contemplates some form of general mobi-
lization while other countries who are members of the United Nations, subject to
the same refquirements as member nations of the United Nations and generally
benefitting from the decision to implement United Nations principles in Korea,
should not Farticipate beyond token contributions in the air and on the sea. It
is further difficult to understand why some minor measures of mobilization can-
not be undertaken elsewhere to provide at least a partially supporting effort on
the ground.
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They pointed out that the situation had implications for the nascent North
Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO). The American people would hardly make
sacrifices for NATO as long as the countries of Western Europe were dragging
their feet."!

The tone of this memorandum reflected the military situation in Korea, which
was steadily deteriorating. US troops were falling back continuously in the face
of greatly superior enemy forces. General MacArthur had been compelled to
make drastic upward revisions in estimating his requirements. On 30 June, as
described in the last chapter, he had asked permission to use two US divisions in
Korea. On 7 July he submitted a more carefully considered estimate of four or
four and a half infantry divisions, plus various other units. Only two days later,
he made a further request for a complete army of four divisions, over and above
his previous estimates.*

The strenuo:s efforts of the Joint Chiefs of Staff to provide CINCFE with the
forces that he needed are recounted in the following chapter. Since there were
only five Army divisions available in the entire continental United States, the
need for some other source of troops was manifest. The Joint Chiefs of Staff had
already considered the solution proposed by the Service Secretaries. On 10 July
1950, at the suggestion of General Collins, they directed the Joint Strategic Plans
Committee to examine the possibility of asking British Commonwealth nations,
particularly Australia and New Zealand, to send troops to Korea.®

It was becoming clear that there was no alternative but to seek help. On 13
July Secretary Johnson's office requested comments from the Joint Chiefs of Staff
on a State Department proposal to inform the British Ambassador that the
United States intended to “increase substantially” its forces in Korea and that
additional forces were needed from other countries.* On the following day the
Secretary asked the Joint Chiefs of Staff whether aid was desired from Pakistan,
Australia, the United Kingdom, the Philippines, Italy, Turkey, and Saudi Arabia,
and, if so, what type of assistance would be most useful. The information was
desired “as a matter of urgency” in reply to a telephone inquiry from the Secre-
tary of State.® In fact, the administration had already made up its mind that it
was time to call on other countries to pick up a larger share of the burden.

Procedures for Handling Offers of Assistance

On 14 July Secretary-General Lie, after consulting with US officials, addressed a
general appeal to the fifty-three governments that had indicated their support
of the Security Council resolutions of 25 and 27 June. The text of this message,
worked out in consultation with US Ambassador Austin, read substantially as fol-
lows:

1. T am informed that the Government of the United States which, under the
resolution of 7 July 1950 has been given the responsibility for the Unified Com-
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mand, is now reparing to engage in direct consultations with Governments
with regard to the coordination of assistance in a general plan for the attainment
of the o%jective set forth in the Security Council resolutions.

2. Thave been advised that the Unified Command. . . is in urgent need of addi-
tional effective assistance. I should be grateful, therefore, if your Government
would consider the possibility of such assistance, including combat forces, partic-
ularly ground forces.

3. (§ffers of assistance should be communicated to the Secretary-General. In
the case of military assistance, offers should be communicated to the Secretary-
General in general terms, leaving detailed arrangements for such an agreement
between the Government and the Unified Command.#

The Joint Chiefs of Staff were apparently not consulted about this action, but
they presumably knew that it was under consideration. At all events, they
decided to seek General MacArthur’s advice. The wording of their message to
him on this subject indicated that they felt some uneasiness over the trend of
official thinking in Washington. Possibly they feared that CINCFE might be
overwhelmed by a flood of military units too small to be effective, sent by coun-
tries that wished to demonstrate support of the United Nations at little or no
real cost to themselves. “Pressure is building up from numerous sources within
the United States for early action by other UN members to contribute ground
forces for the Korean campaign,” they told General MacArthur on 14 July.
“Apparently it is a popular view here that the spirit and intent of the UN resolu-
tion is that as many nations as practicable should contribute.” They were con-
sidering a proposal to solicit contributions and wanted his advice about the
advisability of making such a request to other countries, together with recom-
mendations concerning the minimum size of units that would be useful and the
amount of support that would be required for them. They drew his attention to
the President’s desire that the forces aiding South Korea be “truly representa-
tive” of the United Nations.¥

While awaiting General MacArthur’s reply, the Joint Chiefs of Staff provided
Secretary Johnson with a quick appraisal of the value of forces from the nations
about which he had inquired. The United Kingdom, Australia, and Pakistan,
they said, could provide useful aid, especially ground units. But none should be
sought from the Philippines, Italy, Turkey, or Saudi Arabia, since those countries
had need for all their slender military resources. The Joint Chiefs of Staff pointed
out that “the military implication of offers of specific assistance are of great
importance,” and urged that they be consulted in each instance before any prof-
fered forces were accepted.*

At the same time, the Joint Chiefs of Staff returned an answer to Secretary
Pace’s memorandum of 1 July. To the basic question raised in that paper—
whether the United States should actively solicit military forces for the Korean
operation—they made no reply, probably realizing that it had already been set-
tled. Instead, they confined themselves to a discussion of the response to be
made when other countries offered forces. They believed that such tenders of
assistance should be judged on the basis of military considerations, such as the
efficiency of the units offered, their availability for prompt use, and the adequacy
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of supply and transportation. Again they stressed the importance of allowing
them to evaluate each offer before it was accepted.®

On the following day, 15 July, General MacArthur sent in his recommenda-
tions. He fully understood the political necessity for an international force, he
said, and was in “complete sympathy” with the concept. Ground force elements
sent to Korea, in his view, should consist of infantry units of the strength of a rein-
forced battalion (approximately 1,000 men), with their own artillery support. It
was preferable, but not strictly necessary, that their weapons be able to fire Ameri-
can ammunition. They would be attached to US regiments or divisions and
should therefore contain enough English-speaking personnel to maintain liaison
and to avoid confusion in combat. Service units would be acceptable provided
they were large enough to be usable. As for naval or air components, practically
anything that was offered should be accepted, on the same basis as ground forces.

To the problem of supply, always a difficult one in an international operation,
General MacArthur sketched a simple solution. Foreign troops should arrive
accompanied by their own supplies sufficient to last them sixty days. Thereafter
they would be supplied by the United States, insofar as permitted by their
nationalistic and religious preferences regarding diet and dress. The US Govern-
ment, however, should be reimbursed for all material thus provided.®

This reply provided the Joint Chiefs of Staff with a basis for screening UN
contributions to make certain that only militarily useful units were actually sent
to Korea. The Joint Chiefs of Staff immediately applied General MacArthur’s cri-
teria in judging the offers of aid that began to flow in following the Secretary-
General’s message. Thus when Secretary Johnson, heeding their request that they
be consulted, asked them to evaluate potential troop offers from New Zealand
and Lebanon and a warship tendered by France, they replied that the two former
should be accepted provided that battalion-size units, with combat and service
support, were furnished.” The French vessel was also acceptable, they believed,
assuming that it would be ready for operation immediately; the United States
should supply logistic support, subject to later reimbursement by France.®

In a memorandum of 21 July, Secretary Johnson gave the Joint Chiefs of Staff
categorical assurance that their advice would be sought in every instance. He
was in full agreement, he said, with the opinion of the Service Secretaries that
other countries should make a greater contribution. Thus far, he continued, each
offer had been preceded by an informal, exploratory approach to the US Govern-
ment. To guide the Department of State in these initial discussions, he asked the
Joint Chiefs of Staff to furnish “general criteria of useful assistance,” together
with a list of countries that might be expected to furnish such aid.®

The Joint Chiefs of Staff replied on 7 August 1950. In answer to the first
request, they set forth the standards drawn up by General MacArthur, with two
significant alterations. While expressing a preference for units of at least 1,000
men, they indicated that those as small as a company might be accepted. This
change, which would of course allow many smaller countries to make at least a
token contribution, was perhaps made to meet Secretary Johnson’s expressed
desire for more emphasis on the international aspect of the Korean operation.
The second change related to the proposals for US logistic support. The Joint
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Chiefs of Staff recommended that parent nations provide continuing support for
their own forces; only if they were unable to do so should their forces be inte-
grated into the US supply system. Regarding Secretary Johnson’s second request,
the Joint Chiefs of Staff did not submit a list of countries from which aid was
desired; they merely affirmed that offers when received should be judged on a
case-by-case basis.* Secretary Johnson made no formal reply, but subsequent
events showed that he accepted the substance of these JCS recommendations.

Earlier, Secretary Johnson had discussed with the Secretary of State the
response of the US Government to offers of assistance. In a letter dated 24 July,
Secretary Acheson set forth his understanding of the substance of the informal
agreement that they had reached—an agreement that was, he said, in accord with
the “expressed wishes of the President” and also had the support of Congres-
sional leaders. The general US policy was to encourage maximum participation
by other UN members. Hence all offers of direct aid, military or other, were to be
tentatively accepted, even though subsequent examination might reveal that
some were not usable. Offers should be addressed to the United Nations, which
would refer them to the US Government. Details would be worked out in direct
discussions between representatives of the Office of the Secretary of Defense
(OSD) and of the country concerned.

The Joint Chiefs of Staff and the UN Command would evaluate each poten-
tial contribution. If an offer could not be accepted, an effort would be made to
persuade the country involved to modify the terms so as to make it acceptable,
or to hold it in abeyance. In other words, outright rejection was to be avoided
insofar as possible. In order not to mislead other countries, the United States
would not, through either military or diplomatic channels, unilaterally solicit
aid from other countries, except in specific instances where units were desired
for service “in the combat area.” In those cases, every effort would be made to
obtain commitments.

Secretary Johnson referred this letter to the Joint Chiefs of Staff for comment
on 31 July, suggesting some supplements or modifications. Thus he proposed
that representatives of the Services, as well as of OSD, take part in discussions
with offering countries. He had misgivings about initially accepting offers that
might subsequently prove impracticable to use; hence, he suggested that it might
be well to seek modification of President Truman’s sweeping pronouncement to
the National Security Council on 29 June. As for the implied intention of the
Department of State to seek commitments for units “on the basis of their employ-
ment in the combat area,” he believed that this matter should be carefully consid-
ered; such efforts, he feared, might lead the United States to assume obligations
that might later prove embarrassing.5

For reasons not indicated in available sources, the Joint Chiefs of Staff did not
formally reply until 8 September. They accepted the substance of the State-
Defense agreement and suggested only minor modifications. In discussions with
other nations, they recommended, it should be stressed that General Mac-
Arthur’s need was immediate and that units already in being should be sent.
Moreover, all units should conform as far as practicable to the criteria that they
had set forth in their memorandum of 7 August. Offers that did not meet these
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standards should be scrutinized to determine whether the United States might
provide equipment and training sufficient to bring the proffered forces up to an
acceptable level.

The Joint Chiefs of Staff favored the participation of Service representatives in
discussions with other countries. They opposed any modification of the Presi-
dent’s broad directive that all offers be accepted. Initial acceptance in principle,
they maintained, did not imply a commitment to use the proffered forces in com-
bat; if an offer proved unsuitable, a reply could be given that would be at once
encouraging and temporizing. As for unilateral solicitation of forces from other
countries, the Joint Chiefs of Staff doubted that any embarrassment would ensue
for the United States, since presumably any such action would be “the result of a
considered action in which all attendant obligations have been determined.”
However, the United States should not commit itself to use any foreign forces “in
the combat area,” and this phrase should be deleted from the agreement.*

On 25 September 1950 Secretary of Defense George C. Marshall, who had suc-
ceeded Mr. Johnson, formally replied to Secretary Acheson’s letter of 24 July. He
noted that the handling of offers of assistance had followed the procedure set
forth in that letter. He passed along the substance of the JCS comments, indicat-
ing his agreement.”” By that time, however, the entire subject had lost much of its
importance; most offers had already been received and processed.

The Department of State also drafted, and sent to the Joint Chiefs of Staff for
comment, a directive that would make clear the role of the Secretary-General in
the process. According to this draft, member nations would transmit offers to the
Secretary-General, who would pass them, via the US delegation at Lake Success,
to the “Unified Command (United States Government).” The reply would follow
the same channel. In the interests of military security, all offers were to be of a
general nature; details would be left for settlement between the United States and
the contributing country.”

In giving their assent to this procedure, the Joint Chiefs of Staff recom-
mended a change in the wording to eliminate the term “Unified Command.” It
should be made unmistakably clear, they believed, that all offers would pass
through the US Government, both to make sure that they were properly evalu-
ated in Washington and to avoid any direct communications between General
MacArthur and the United Nations. Secretary Johnson considered this change
unnecessary, since, in his view, “the phrase ‘Unified Command’ has through
common usage become identified as being the United States Government.” The
final agreement, promulgated on 2 October 1950, used the phrase to which the
Joint Chiefs of Staff had objected.®

Results of the Secretary-General’s Appeal

fter the middle of July, there was a noticeable increase in the number of
UN member nations that stepped forward to help out in Korea. Secretary-
General Lie was disappointed at the initial response to his circular message of 14

67



JCS and National Policy

July, and personally urged some of the larger nations to provide forces.®” Quite
possibly, prodding from the US Government also helped to stimulate some coun-
tries to action.

Whatever the reasons, the result was that the Joint Chiefs of Staff, over the
next few months, were called upon to evaluate over two dozen proposed troop
contributions or other forms of military assistance. Some of the offers were tenta-
tive and failed to materialize; others involved only token contributions, calcu-
lated merely to display the parent nation’s support of the UN undertaking. Only
a few countries sent forces of real military value.t!

The United Kingdom, which had been the first to tender naval forces, was
likewise the first to offer troops. On 25 July, the British Government offered a
brigade comprising three infantry battalions, an armored regiment, and support-
ing artillery and other units, 7,000 men in all. The Joint Chiefs of Staff showed no
hesitation in accepting this offer despite the fact that the brigade would not be
ready to sail from England before late October (more than a month after General
MacArthur’s proposed offensive, which was scheduled for mid-September).5?

Almost a month later, on 20 August, the British Government announced that
it would send immediately a smaller brigade of two battalions from its Hong
Kong garrison. This step was apparently in response to the second report of the
UN Command, dated 16 August 1950, in which General MacArthur expressed a
“sincere hope” that UN member nations “will without delay build up the
strength of our ground forces.”%

Early in August, Canada too offered a brigade of three infantry battalions. It
was to be a special force made up of men drawn from existing units and could
not be ready for many weeks. Nevertheless the Canadian offer was accepted by
the Joint Chiefs of Staff.* Canada also contributed, with the approval of the Joint
Chiefs of Staff, a long-range air transport squadron and, later, commercial air
facilities between Vancouver and Tokyo.%

Smaller army units were offered by two other members of the British Com-
monwealth, Australia and New Zealand. Prime Minister Robert Menzies of Aus-
tralia visited Washington on 28 July and discussed the Korean situation with
President Truman and Secretary Acheson; shortly thereafter the Australian Gov-
ernment announced that it would send a battalion of 1,000 infantrymen from its
occupation forces in Japan.®® New Zealand'’s offer took the form of a 1,000-man
artillery battalion.”

Other significant proffers of troop assistance were made by Turkey, Thailand,
the Philippines, and Greece. The Joint Chiefs of Staff recommended that the
4,500-man regimental combat team made available by Turkey be accepted,
despite their former advice that Turkey should not be asked for troops. They con-
sidered this force too small to impair by its absence the overall effectiveness of
the Turkish Army in its own area.

The troops that the Thai Government proposed to send to Korea were not, at
first glance, so readily acceptable. Thailand offered a combat team of 4,000 men,
which, by US standards, was poorly equipped and trained. Nevertheless the
political and propaganda value of these Asian troops in Korea was thought by
the Joint Chiefs of Staff to outweigh the disadvantages of trying to employ this
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relatively inefficient force. Participation of the Thai Army could effectively blunt
Communist charges that the UN action was a white man’s war against Asia.®

A similar consideration justified the use of troops from the Republic of the
Philippines, which, after making an initial contribution of seventeen Sherman
tanks, followed with an offer of a regimental combat team of 5,000 men. The wis-
dom of sending these forces could be doubted, since the government of President
Elpidio Quirino was already beset by the armed resistance of the Philippine
Communist rebel forces (Hukbalahaps). The Chief of the Joint US Military Advi-
sory Group in the Philippines, Major General Leland S. Hobbs, believed that the
Philippine Government could best serve the United States and the United
Nations by maintaining order at home. Nevertheless the Department of State
accepted the offer, doubtless for political reasons. The Joint Chiefs of Staff did not
express an official opinion on the matter.*’

Greece tendered six C—47 transport planes and a brigade of mountain infantry,
3,800 strong. The Joint Chiefs of Staff had been about to recommend rejection of
the aircraft on the grounds that their use in Korea would weaken too greatly the
Greek air potential. But they changed their minds on recommendation of Lieu-
tenant General James A. Van Fleet, USA, who had been closely associated with
Greece’s own struggle against Communist guerrillas. He stressed the importance
of having the Hellenic flag flown in Korea. Later, the Joint Chiefs of Staff also
approved the use of the mountain brigade after consulting General MacArthur,
who thought it would be valuable in Korea.”

France, which had promptly placed a naval patrol vessel at the disposal of the
United Nations in reply to the message of 14 July, later also offered an infantry
battalion. The Joint Chiefs of Staff concluded that the value of this unit in Korea
would more than offset the effect of its removal from the defensive forces in
Western Europe.”!

Secretary Johnson told the Joint Chiefs of Staff on 20 July that Belgium, the
Netherlands, and Luxembourg were contemplating the establishment of a joint mil-
itary force for Korean duty. The Joint Chiefs of Staff replied that such a force would
be acceptable, though they would prefer separate national contingents.” In the end,
the two larger countries each sent a force approximating battalion size and Luxem-
bourg raised a body of fifty volunteers to be integrated with that of Belgium.”

A proffer of a fighter aircraft squadron by the Union of South Africa received
JCS approval, even though the personnel of the unit (including both pilots and
ground crews) would be shipped without aircraft. South Africa was well able to
pay for the materiel to be furnished by the United States.”

The Joint Chiefs of Staff were also called upon to evaluate several offers of
noncombat forces, all of which they judged desirable. Denmark tendered a motor
vessel for use as a hospital ship, with a crew of doctors and nurses; Sweden, a
military field hospital; and Norway, vessels for transporting troops. Even neu-
tralist India offered an ambulance unit.”

In working out the details of the employment of the various proffered forces,
the individual JCS members in effect acted as executive agents, depending on the
nature of the forces involved. Offers of ground forces, for example, were referred
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to the Chief of Staff, US Army. This procedure was followed from the beginning
and was later informally approved by the Office of the Secretary of Defense.”

The JCS recommendation that each contributing nation be expected to provide
its own logistic support as far as possible proved unduly rigid and had to be aban-
doned. Discussions between representatives of the US Military Services and of for-
eign nations whose offers of aid had been accepted showed that some could not
send fully equipped combat units or furnish their own logistic support. Secretary
Johnson'’s Assistant for Foreign Military Assistance, Major General James H. Burns,
USA (Ret.), discussed the problem with representatives of the Services, OSD, and
of the State and Treasury Departments. The outcome of these conversations was an
agreement that, for those foreign forces determined by the US Military Services to
be “capable of effective participation in the Korean operations,” the United States
would furnish “necessary logistic support and supplies which the foreign govern-
ments themselves cannot furnish.” The costs of such aid would be charged to the
appropriations of the Military Departments. Whenever possible, however, each
recipient nation would be expected to reimburse the United States. The United
States Service representatives would be authorized to negotiate directly with their
foreign counterparts concerning the supplying and equipping of their forces .”7

This procedure, after being endorsed by the Armed Forces Policy Council,
was approved by the President and formally promulgated by Secretary Johnson
on 1 September.”® At no time was it formally submitted to the Joint Chiefs of Staff
for review, although the individual JCS members had an opportunity to com-
ment on it through their membership in the Council.

The United States policy was liberalized still further two weeks later, when the
Director of the Office of Military Assistance, Major General L. L. Lemnitzer,
announced a decision that equipment furnished under the Mutual Defense Assistance
Program could be used by recipient countries to equip their forces for service in
Korea. Replacement for equipment taken to Korea would not, however, be provided.”

In all of the foregoing instances, the recommendations made by the Joint
Chiefs of Staff were approved by the Secretary of Defense, and subsequently also
by the Secretary of State. Only on one occasion were they overruled. On 20 July
they had decided that a Belgian offer to send a C-54 aircraft to Korea should be
declined because of logistic, operational, and language difficulties involved in its
employment. Secretary Johnson, however, thought political considerations more
important than the JCS objections in this case.®

All of the above responses to the Secretary-General’s plea were received
before the middle of September 1950. Two later offers from minor countries were
significant in broadening the geographic basis of UN support. Emperor Haile
Selassie of Ethiopia, who had had bitter experience with an international organi-
zation that had proved impotent in dealing with aggression, told the Secretary-
General initially that his government wished to provide military assistance but
faced “almost insurmountable difficulties.” It was not until November 1950 that
his nation was able to offer a contingent of 1,069 troops. After consulting
CINCEE, the Joint Chiefs of Staff advised that this unit would be acceptable.®

From Latin America, a single nation—Colombia—offered and sent both naval
and military aid. In September 1950, Colombia tendered the use of its one avail-
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able frigate.®2 Two months later, the same country agreed to contribute a battalion
of infantry and to reimburse the United States for the equipment, supplies, and
training that would be needed. The formal offer had been preceded by discus-
sions with representatives of the Departments of State and Defense, in the course
of which the United States had already, in the opinion of the Joint Chiefs of Staff,
committed itself to acceptance. Both Colombian offers were apparently made
directly to the United States, not to the Secretary-General .

The interests of hemisphere solidarity dictated an effort to obtain greater sup-
port from Latin American countries. On 9 August 1950 the Deputy Under Secre-
tary of State, Mr. H. Freeman Matthews, told the Department of Defense that
many of these nations had expressed a desire to help but felt themselves too poor
to make an effective contribution. Existing legislation required reimbursement
for practically all military equipment provided Latin America other than limited
amounts of surplus. Mr. Matthews believed that Congress could be induced to
authorize the grant of equipment to Latin American forces organized specifically
to assist the UN effort. He suggested either that the larger countries be induced
to raise special contingents for service in Korea or that an international force of
volunteers, drawn from all the Latin nations, be created. The advantages of
widespread participation by the nations of this region were impressive, in his
view. Latin America had abundant manpower; the nationalism and patriotism of
the peoples of the region would be aroused in support of UN action; their gov-
ernments would draw closer to the United States, thereby simplifying the prob-
lem of guarding the Western Hemisphere in case of general war.®

The Joint Chiefs of Staff agreed that forces should be obtained from Latin
America and that US assistance therefore was an indispensable prerequisite.
They believed that the Department of State should take action to solicit aid from
those countries. Even units below the preferred minimum strength of a battalion
would be accepted. They were sympathetic to the creation of an inter-American
force made up of national contingents, but they thought it “wholly impracticable
and militarily unsound” to attempt to organize, train, and equip a unit composed
of unorganized volunteers from a number of countries.®

Nothing more was heard of an international force, and the few tentative offers
made by countries other than Colombia ultimately produced no results. While
Costa Rica, Bolivia, Panama, and Uruguay did in fact proffer troops, the forces
tendered did not constitute organized units and were rejected on the advice of
the Joint Chiefs of Staff. Offers of bases by Costa Rica and Panama were accepted
for possible future use.® Later discussions with other Latin American countries,
recounted in subsequent chapters, came to nothing.

Ultimately, fifteen nations besides the United States contributed forces for the
defense of South Korea. They were Australia, Belgium, Canada, Colombia,
Ethiopia, France, Greece, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, New Zealand, the
Philippines, South Africa, Thailand, Turkey, and the United Kingdom. All ten-
dered ground forces in at least battalion strength except Luxembourg, which sent
only a single company, and South Africa, whose contribution took the form of an
air unit. Most of the forces arrived before the end of 1950. The Belgian, Luxem-
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bourg, and Ethiopian units and some of the Canadian troops did not arrive until
early 1951. The last to arrive was the Colombian infantry in June 1951.87

The only one of these units to arrive before the Inch’on landing was the
British 27th Infantry Brigade from Hong Kong. Its men docked at Pusan on 29
August 1950 and were flung into battle in front of Taegu, where they helped to
repulse the North Koreans’ general offensive around the perimeter.®

Another early arrival was the Australian battalion, which reached Pusan on
28 September. It took part in the advance across the 38th parallel and the inva-
sion of North Korea. The 29th British Brigade, sailing from the United Kingdom,
arrived in November, in time to participate in General MacArthur’s disastrous
“final” offensive toward the Yalu.®

The British and Australian forces came ready for immediate action, but most of
the others required a measure of preliminary training. Thus the Philippine unit
(known as the Philippine Expeditionary Force to Korea, or PEFTOK), which arrived
on 19 September 1950, saw only limited action for the first few months (although a
contributing reason for delay in this instance was the uncooperative attitude of its
commanding officer).” In contrast, the Turkish Brigade, reaching Korea on 18 Octo-
ber 1950, had been well trained under its accompanying American advisors, and,
after only limited additional instruction, was able to move up to the battle line in
time to suffer the full force of the first Chinese onslaught in November 1950.

No more forces were to be available until after the Chinese intervention had
sent the war into a new phase. During October 1950, when the war seemed to be
approaching an end, the United States considered the possibility of cutting back
the contributions from other countries. This plan was dropped, however, when
Chinese forces first appeared in Korea. During the months that followed China'’s
large-scale entry into the conflict, the United States made repeated, though fruit-
less, efforts to induce the UN member nations to step up their assistance. These
developments are described later in this volume.”

Ultimately, these UN contingents gave a good account of themselves, and sev-
eral of them compiled outstanding combat records, notably the British, French,
Turkish, Ethiopian, and Greek contingents. However, aside from the British Com-
monwealth Division, their aggregate strength was insufficient to have a signifi-
cant effect on the overall course of the war. Their importance was political rather
than military.®® At all times, the United States and the Republic of Korea bore
overwhelmingly the greater part of the burden of combat.* In proportion to their
population, even the highly industrialized countries of Western Europe sent only
minuscule contributions. Allowance must be made, however, for the fact that
Western Europe was still suffering from the effects of World War II, and that the
United Kingdom and France were already battling Communist insurgents in
Southeast Asia. Moreover, a large number of countries that did not send troops
contributed medical supplies, foodstuffs, or other nonmilitary aid.*

In meeting the manifold problems involved in relations with other UN mem-
bers, the Joint Chiefs of Staff showed patience, restraint, and a consistent aware-
ness of the military limitations of friendly powers. Their attitude reflected a real-
ization that, in Korea and elsewhere in the world, US foreign policy was based on
the fullest possible measure of support for the United Nations.
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Initial Reinforcements for CINCFE

he outbreak of the Korean War, coming without warning at a time when

major emphasis in defense planning had been on the reduction of expendi-
tures, severely strained the resources of the US Military Services, and particularly
the meager, ten-division Army. Every man and every weapon sent to Korea
diminished the forces available to meet a crisis in some other potential trouble
spot, of which there were many in the summer of 1950. It was the responsibility
of the Joint Chiefs of Staff to weigh the demands of the conflict in Korea against
the need to maintain a posture of readiness elsewhere. They had to make certain
that forces sent to the Far East were replaced as soon as possible, in order to
restore and maintain the ability to execute emergency war plans in the event of a
wider conflict. At the same time, the Joint Chiefs of Staff had to devise a strategy
that would bring victory in the shortest possible time with the forces that could
be spared for Korea.

The urgency and the difficulty of these tasks were unappreciated by the Tru-
man administration in the early days of the war. Inaccurate or incomplete reports
from the battle zone, plus an initial underestimate of North Korean strength and
an overly optimistic assessment of the ability and morale of the ROK Army, had
influenced US officials to hope that the “police action” could be terminated
before it evolved into a full-scale war. “The first few days we did not know just
how good these North Koreans were,” said General Bradley, “and it was some
time before we could get a good picture.”!

Even General MacArthur at first misjudged the situation. “The South Korean
soldiers are in good physical condition and could be rallied with example and
leadership,” he said to a correspondent, Miss Marguerite Higgins, after his visit
to the front on 29 June. “Give me two American divisions and I can hold Korea.”?
It was for this reason that he asked Washington for permission to introduce a
maximum of two divisions from Japan. In reply, he received more than he had
sought: practically complete authority to use all his forces at will. But since he
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already had twice as many divisions available as he had indicated were needed,
there seemed no occasion immediately to send reinforcements from the United
States. Consequently, although the Joint Strategic Survey Committee in JCS
1776/8, had recommended immediate reinforcement of the Far Fast Command,
the Joint Chiefs of Staff felt justified in putting off this recommendation for fur-
ther study.’®

When it became evident that two divisions would not suffice to repel the
North Korean People’s Army, General MacArthur decided to throw in a third
division in an amphibious stroke against the enemy’s rear. Having committed the
24th and 25th Infantry Divisions directly to the battlefront, he earmarked the 1st
Cavalry Division for his counterstroke. But the speed of the enemy advance dis-
rupted this plan.*

General MacArthur’s earliest plea for reinforcements showed that he was
already thinking of an amphibious operation. “Request if practicable immediate dis-
patch of one Marine RCT [Regimental Combat Teamn] with comparable Marine air
unit for tactical support,” he wired the Joint Chiefs of Staff on 2 July. “Earliest arrival
here imperative due to pressure of impending operations.”® At the same time, he
also endorsed a request by General Stratemeyer, Commander of the Far East Air
Forces, for approximately 700 aircraft to fill out Air Force units to war strength.®

General MacArthur had already received assurance that the Marine forces for
which he was asking could be made available. The Chief of Naval Operations,
Admiral Sherman, had instituted inquiries on 1 July and had learned that a regi-
mental combat team from the Fleet Marine Force, Pacific (FMFPAC), could be
sent to the Far East in ten days. This information had been passed to CINCFE.”

Meeting on 3 July 1950, the Joint Chiefs of Staff approved the sending of a
Marine RCT, with air support, together with two groups of B-29 bombers, 22
B-26 bombers, and 150 F-51 fighters—all the aircraft that could be made available
at that time. General Bradley obtained the approval of Secretary Johnson and
President Truman for these movements, and General MacArthur was informed
that they would be sent as soon as practicable.?®

On 5 July General MacArthur followed with another plea, this time for much
larger reinforcements. He asked for the 2d Infantry Division, the 2d Engineer
Special Brigade, and one regiment of the 82d Airborne Division, to be used in
operations planned for some time between 20 July and 10 August.’

The Army units for which General MacArthur was now asking represented a
sizeable proportion of the Army’s General Reserve. Of the six divisions outside
Japan, one was engaged in the occupation of Germany, so that only five were
available in the continental United States. The Joint Chiefs of Staff accordingly
returned a temporizing reply. On 6 July they told him that, while they were giv-
ing sympathetic consideration to his needs, they were faced with certain difficul-
ties. They pointed out that no increase in Service manpower had been autho-
rized, and that it was necessary to maintain a suitable military posture in other
parts of the world. Moreover, a shortage of shipping would make it impossible to
send the desired forces by 20 July. Finally, approval for the deployment of most
of these units would have to come from higher authority. It would aid them in
presenting his case, they concluded, if General MacArthur would give them as
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soon as possible his estimate of the total additional forces, from all Services,
needed to clear South Korea of the invaders."

CINCFE's reply, on 7 July, not only gave the Joint Chiefs of Staff the estimate
they had asked for but also outlined the problem facing him and his plan for
solving it. In his accustomed muscular style he wrote:

It is now apparent that we are confronted in Korea with an aggressive and
well trained professional army equipped with tanks and perhaps other ground
materiel quite equal and in some categories superior to that available here.
Encouraged by the rout of the South Korean Army and determined on the com-
{Jlete victory he expects to achieve, this enemy is operating under excellent top
evel guidance and has demonstrated superior command of strategic and tactical
principles in the exploitation of his break across the Han River.

To halt and then hurl back this powerful aggression will, in my estimation,
require the use of the equivalent of not less than 4 to 4% full strength infantry
divisions, an airborne RCT complete with lift and an armored ?roup composed
of three medium tank battalions, together with reinforcing artillery and service
elements appropriate for the support of such a force. My messages have
requested the necessary increments to make available in Korea such a force with-
out jeopardizing the safety of Japan. This total Army reinforcement amounts to
gess g}}arll 30,000 men. It is a minimum without which success will be extremely

oubttul.

The Naval and Air Force reinforcements already directed by the JCS are
believed to be adequate at this time. However, forward planning must anticipate
a probable additional requirement for fighters and light bombers, as well as for
another fast carrier task force.

Every human effort in this command is now geared to the overriding first
essentiaf,—to halt the enemy advance. ... Once he is fixed, it will be my purpose
fully to exploit our air and sea control and, by amphibious maneuver, strike
behind his mass of ground forces. ...!

Even before receiving this message, however, the Joint Chiefs of Staff had
taken steps to provide the forces for which General MacArthur had asked. On 6
July, the same day they sent CINCFE their interim reply, they asked the Joint Mil-
itary Transportation Committee (JMTC) to determine the lift requirements for
these units.'? At the same time they asked and obtained the approval of Secretary
Johnson immediately to increase military strength by 108,500 men: 50,000 for the
Army, 33,000 for the Navy, and 25,500 for the Air Force.?®

On 7 July the Joint Chiefs of Staff asked the Secretary of Defense to approve the
deployment of the units that CINCFE had requested. The Secretary and the Presi-
dent gave their approval several days later, and the Department of the Army at
once alerted the units for shipment.’* One change was made: an RCT from the
11th Airborne Division was substituted in place of one from the 82d, which was
considered too valuable to be broken up. The Joint Chiefs of Staff declined an offer
by General Vandenberg to provide air transportation for this RCT, partly because
some time must elapse before it could be made ready, partly because air transport
capabilities were needed for shipments of still higher priority.!® Airlift facilities,
according to the J]MTC, were in short supply, although sea transport capacity was
adequate to meet all known requirements through August.16
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MacArthur Raises the Ante

One division and two regimental combat teams from the United States, added
to three divisions drawn from the occupation force in Japan, would satisfy
the requirement set forth by General MacArthur on 7 July for a force of approxi-
mately four and one-half divisions. But this figure (like the General’s original
estimate of two divisions) was based on insufficient combat experience and very
soon proved to be inadequate.

United States forces had their first clash with the NKPA on 5 July 1950 (Far
East time) a few miles north of the town of Osan, some 30 miles south of Seoul on
the main highway to the port of Pusan. Enemy troops, fresh from the capture of
the capital, quickly outflanked the heavily outnumbered men of Task Force Smith
and forced them to withdraw. During the next few days, this pattern was
repeated as other elements of the 24th Division were fed piecemeal into the bat-
tle.”7

The experience of these first few days sufficed to show that the ability of the
North Korean soldier and the quality of his materiel had been seriously underes-
timated. The Commanding General of the 24th Division, Major General William
F. Dean, made this fact clear in a letter to General MacArthur on 8 July. Powerful,
combat-ready reinforcements, equipped with tanks and heavy artillery, would be
needed, he declared, to stop the surging North Korean infantry and armor.!®

On the basis of such reports from the battlefront, General MacArthur was
compelled to revise his estimates sharply upward. On 9 July he jolted the Joint
Chiefs of Staff with the following alarming message:

The situation in Korea is critical. We are endeavoring by all means now avail-
able here to build up the force necessary to hold the enemy, but to date our
efforts against his armor and mechanized forces have been ineffective. His
armored equipment is of the best and the service thereof, as reported by qualified
veteran observers, as good as any seen at any time in the last year. They further
state that the enemy’s infantry is of thoroughly first class quality.

This force more and more assumes the aspect of a combination of Soviet lead-
ership and technical guidance with Chinese Communist ground elements. While
it serves under the tlag of North Korea, it can no longer be considered as an
indigenous North Korean military effort.

Our own troops are fulfilling expectations and are fighting with valor against
overwhelming odds of more than ten to one. To build up, under these circum-
stances, sufficiently to hold the southern tip of Korea is %ecoming increasingly
problematical.

I strongly urge that in addition to those forces already requisitioned, an army
of at least four divisions, with all its component services, be dispatched to this
area without delay and by every means of transportation available.

The situation has developed into a major operation.!

On the following day, CINCFE pressed for the augmentation of his four divi-
sions to full war strength and asked that the Marine RCT that he had previously
requested be build up to a division.?® The Commander in Chief, Pacific Fleet,
Admiral Radford, had, meanwhile, in a message to the Chief of Naval Operations,
underlined General MacArthur’s need for reinforcements from all the Services.?!
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Thus within the space of two days, General MacArthur had approximately
doubled his estimates of the ultimate force required (eight divisions instead of
four). To grant his new request was all but impossible at that moment. The
departure of the 2d Infantry Division would leave only four divisions in the Gen-
eral Reserve, and one of these was an armored division that was not considered
suitable for service in Korea.22 General MacArthur’s message of 9 July, therefore,
brought the Joint Chiefs of Staff face to face with some painful choices. As Admi-
ral Sherman pointed out to his colleagues, it was time to grapple with certain
basic questions in the realm of national strategy: how far the United States
should commit troops for a land war in Asia, and how much risk should be
accepted in other parts of the world in order to strengthen the Far East forces.?

The Joint Chiefs of Staff referred General MacArthur’s request to General
Collins for further study. At the same time, they decided, with the President’s
approval, that Generals Collins and Vandenberg should at once go to the Far East
to obtain more information about CINCFE'’s requirements.?* During the absence
of these two emissaries from 10 to 14 July, their colleagues approved plans drawn
up by the Army to send to Korea the 29th Regiment from Okinawa and the 5th
RCT from Hawaii.?® They also set in motion a massive expansion of US forces, as
an indispensable prerequisite to the dispatch of further large-scale reinforce-
ments to the Far East.

Enlarging the Military Establishment

n 13 July 1950 the Joint Chiefs of Staff considered an urgent recommendation

from the Air Force for involuntary recall of men and units of the reserves.
Voluntary recruitment had already proved ineffective, according to the Air Force.
The Joint Chiefs of Staff approved this proposal and immediately sent it to the
Secretary of Defense, who obtained the President’s approval the same day.?

At the same time, the Joint Chiefs of Staff recommended another 115,000 men
for the Services, distributed as follows: Army, 60,500; Navy, 29,000; Air Force,
25,500. They told Secretary Johnson that this additional manpower was needed
to fill out the units being sent to the Far East and to activate additional forces that
would serve to restore US capabilities in the Atlantic area. Commenting on Gen-
eral MacArthur’s request for four more divisions, which they had under consid-
eration, they noted that, if approved, it would call for yet another strength
increase. The Secretary authorized the requested increase on 14 July.?”

Earlier, on 11 July, Secretary Johnson, in connection with preliminary budget
planning for FY 1952, had asked the Joint Chiefs of Staff to send him revised
force objectives for FY 1951 that would reflect the effects of the Korean crisis.?
Replying on 18 July, the Joint Chiefs of Staff took the occasion to urge further
increases. For example, the Army had been allowed an end strength of 630,000
men under the FY 1951 budget; the two recent increases, totaling 100,500 men,
would have brought this figure to 730,500. The Joint Chiefs of Staff now pro-
posed that the Army goal be enlarged to 834,000, a strength that would suffice to
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maintain eleven divisions and twelve regiments. For the Navy, they recom-
mended 579,805 men and 911 ships; for the Marine Corps, 138,013 men and two
divisions; and for the Air Force, 569,000 men, with sixty-two combat wings, plus
sixteen separate combat squadrons and twenty squadrons of transports.
Although most of these manpower objectives exceeded statutory limits, the Pres-
ident approved them on the following day.?

The expansion of the Services and the planned mobilization of reserves were
announced to the public by President Truman on 19 July in a radio and television
address devoted to the situation in Korea. The President declared that “our own
national security and the peace of the world” were at stake there. It was neces-
sary, he explained, to send more men and supplies to General MacArthur, to
build up the Armed Forces beyond the immediate needs in Korea, and to speed
up the establishment of an effective defense for Western Europe. In a separate
message to Congress the same day, the President announced that he had autho-
rized the Secretary of Defense to exceed the budgeted personnel strengths of the
Services and to make use of the Selective Service system as necessary. He served
notice that he would soon ask for additional funds for the Armed Forces, and
urged the legislators to remove the statutory limits on military personnet.?

Five days later, Congress received the supplementary appropriations request
of which the President had spoken. The amount sought was $10.5 billion, enough
to finance the personnel increases that the Joint Chiefs of Staff had sought?' Two
months were to elapse before the money was finally made available.® Early in
August, however, Congress approved the President’s plea to remove restrictions
on military manpower.®

Mobilization of the reserves got under way on 20 July, when Secretary John-
son granted the necessary authority to the Service Secretaries.** Detailed require-
ments were computed by the Services, following recommendations laid down by
the Joint Chiefs of Staff and approved by the Secretary of Defense. On 31 July the
Joint Chiefs of Staff endorsed a recommendation by General Collins to call up
four divisions and two RCTs from the National Guard on or about 1 September.
Secretary Johnson gave his approval on 10 August.” Another JCS recommenda-
tion on 31 July, however, was approved by the President the same day it was
made; this was the expansion of both Marine divisions to full strength and the
call-up of two Marine Reserve air squadrons.* On 22 August Secretary Johnson,
again at the urging of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, authorized the mobilization of four
fighter bomber groups, two medium troop-carrier wings, and various other units
of the Air Force Reserve and Air National Guard.®”

By 28 August 1950, when the Korean conflict had been in progress for two
months, the Army had mobilized 404 units of the Organized Reserve and 205 of
the National Guard, with a total strength of 93,586 men, together with 10,584
individual officers. The Navy and Marine Corps combined had called up 103,883
reservists and the Air Force, 49,672.3¢

The impending influx of reservists made it necessary to expand further the
manpower ceilings of the Services, particularly the Army. In connection with the
mobilization of the National Guard divisions, the Joint Chiefs of Staff sought and
obtained an increase in the Army’s authorized strength from 834,000 to
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1,061,000—an augmentation of over 25 percent.”” The related call-up of Air Force
units necessitated an expansion of 10,268 men for that Service.*’ For the Navy, the
Joint Chiefs of Staff in August 1950 recommended 9,235 more men, to reflect a
speedup in the construction of destroyers and the reactivation of the battleship
USS New Jersey. Secretary Johnson gave his approval.*!

These measures completed the emergency expansion of the Services in the
summer of 1950. In September the Joint Chiefs of Staff were presented with
requests for further increases, over and above the immediate needs of the Far
Eastern crisis. Since these were not urgent, the Joint Chiefs of Staff simply
referred them to their Program and Budget Advisors for consideration in connec-
tion with another supplemental appropriations request that was in preparation.*

More Troops for the Far East

In quest of first-hand information about the nature of the war in Korea, Gener-
als Collins and Vandenberg reached Tokyo on 13 July.® They spent portions of
two days in conferences with CINCFE and his staff officers, interspersed with a
visit to the front. At this time, the pattern of the conflict was still unfolding. Gen-
eral Walker had just moved to Korea to assume command of the forces there. The
24th Division was struggling to halt the main body of the NKPA along the barrier
of the Kum River-—an effort that was to end disastrously a few days later with
the loss of Taejon, an important junction south of the Kum on the Seoul-Pusan
road. The 25th Division was just beginning to arrive in Korea. The 1st Cavalry
Division was loading on ships in Japan; its destination had been changed from
Inch’on, in the enemy’s rear, to P’'ohang-dong, a small port on the east coast,
where it could land without further congesting the port of Pusan and then rush
to the front. In eastern and central Korea, elements of the ROK Army were con-
ducting a fighting retreat, falling back in the face of superior enemy strength. No
reinforcements had yet arrived from the United States.*

In their first conference with CINCFE on the day of their arrival, the two JCS
members heard General MacArthur describe the situation in Korea and pay high
tribute to the ability of the NKPA. The General made an urgent plea for reinforce-
ments, arguing frankly that Korea should be given priority over all other areas in
which the United States had a strategic interest. The outcome of the Cold War, he
contended, would be decided in the Far East. General Collins asked when
CINCEFE expected to be able to pass to the offensive and how many troops he
would need to restore and maintain the 38th parallel. To the first question, Gen-
eral MacArthur declined to give a direct answer. He hoped, he said, to stabilize
the front with the three divisions that had been committed and to use the rein-
forcements en route from the United States for an amphibious counterstroke. His
intention was to destroy the North Korean forces, not merely to repulse them.
His ultimate requirements for troops to take and hold Korea would be as he had
previously stated: a total of eight divisions, plus another Army Headquarters.*®
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On the second day (14 July), detailed discussion of FECOM requirements was
combined with a consideration of the problems involved in an amphibious oper-
ation against North Korea. Meeting with members of General MacArthur’s staff,
General Collins again warned that resources were scarce. “Don’t get too
grandiose,” he told them. Earlier that day, General Collins had conferred pri-
vately with General MacArthur and expressed the opinion that the 1st Marine
Division could be made available. Otherwise, he said, General MacArthur would
have to get along with what he had and with the reinforcements that had already
been approved: the 2d Infantry Division, the 5th RCT, the 29th Regiment, and
another RCT from the 11th Airborne Division. General MacArthur, in reply, rec-
ognized the danger of further depleting the General Reserve and agreed to adjust
his plans to the available forces.

The Army and Air Force Chiefs of Staff returned to Washington on 14 July
(local time) and reported their conclusions to their colleagues, also to Secretary
Johnson and the President. General Collins believed that the US and ROK forces
would be able to maintain a foothold in Korea, but he urged prompt reinforce-
ment of CINCFE.#

The basic problems raised by General MacArthur’s message of 9 July were
not yet resolved. This fact was reflected in a message sent to CINCFE on 20 July
by the G-3 section of the Army General Staff, which recapitulated the forces thus
far approved for shipment to the Far East and concluded with a reference to the
request for four additional divisions. No decision could be reached regarding this
matter, according to G-3, until it had been decided how far to reconstitute the
General Reserve and until General MacArthur’s requirements had been evalu-
ated in the light of worldwide commitments.¥’

Pending the resolution of these issues, the Joint Chiefs of Staff discussed with
CINCEFE his need for a full Marine division and an airborne RCT. General
MacArthur touched off the discussion on 19 July when he renewed his request
for the complete 1st Marine Division, with its attached air wing, by 10 Septem-
ber.® At the instance of Admiral Sherman, the Joint Chiefs of Staff replied the
next day that it would be impossible to provide this unit before November with-
out depleting the Fleet Marine Force, Atlantic, to an unacceptable degree.* Gen-
eral MacArthur thereupon restated his plea for the division in the strongest
terms. “There can be no demand for its potential use elsewhere,” he argued in a
message on 21 July, “that can equal the urgency of the immediate battle mission
contemplated for it.”*

The Joint Chiefs of Staff thereupon restudied the question. After several more
exchanges,! Admiral Sherman decided that it would be feasible to provide
CINCFE with another Marine RCT, with air and support elements, to supple-
ment the First Provisional Marine Brigade then en route to the Far East.>? The
additional manpower would be drawn from units of Fleet Marine Force, Atlantic
(FMFLANT) and of Marine security forces in the United States. This plan, which
would give General MacArthur the equivalent of two-thirds of a division, was
approved by the Joint Chiefs of Staff on 24 July 1950.% It was made feasible by
the exceptional rapidity by which Marine Reservists had been summoned.>
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On 25 July the Joint Chiefs of Staff instructed the Commandant, US Marine
Corps, to bring the First Marine Division (less one RCT) to full war strength.”® Six
days later, as already described, they obtained the approval of the President to
bring both Marine divisions to full war strength. This action eventually made it
possible to provide CINCFE with a third Marine RCT, though not in time for the
amphibious assault.

An airborne RCT was at first considered by General MacArthur to be an
essential element of the shattering surprise that he was preparing for the North
Korean Army. Operating from Japan, the paratroopers would be airdropped
shortly after D-day to seize a “key communication center” immediately ahead of
the advancing US forces and thus to facilitate the breakout from the beach-
head.’ As with the Marine division, the difficulty lay in meeting the specified
deadline of 10 September. To do so, it would be necessary to draw on the 82d
Airborne Division, which General Collins, in a message to CINCFE, character-
ized as “the only effective infantry unit left in the United States.”” The condition
of the 11th Airborne was such that it seemed impossible to prepare any of its
component RCTs for combat before the latter part of October, especially since, in
the eyes of officials of the Department of the Army, CINCFE’s other require-
ments seemed much more important. When General MacArthur was given an
arrival date of 23 October, he remonstrated and asked that its shipment be expe-
dited. The Department of the Army accordingly undertook to speed up the com-
pletion of the selected unit (the 187th RCT of the 11th Airborne), drawing to
some extent on the 82d. But no promises were made that it would be available in
time for the amphibious operation, and eventually CINCFE eliminated the air-
drop from his plan.®®

General Collins’ proposed mobilization of National Guard divisions, which
was endorsed by the Joint Chiefs of Staff on 31 July and subsequently approved
by the Secretary of Defense, would, when carried out, restore a measure of flexi-
bility to US military strategy and force deployment. Depending on the situation
after the divisions had been assembled and trained, they could be used either to
reinforce FECOM or to rebuild the General Reserve. At the moment, the Joint
Chiefs of Staff made no recommendations regarding their eventual disposition.

Just at this point, CINCFE and the Joint Chiefs of Staff found themselves
obliged to divert some attention to Taiwan, where it seemed possible that the
Chinese Communists might choose the opportunity to open a new front. Gen-
eral MacArthur, in moving to meet this contingency, managed to arouse the sus-
picion of the President that he was somewhat less than wholehearted in his sup-
port of the administration’s policy toward Nationalist China. President Truman
therefore decided to send Ambassador-at-large W. Averell Harriman to the Far
East to confer with the General.® Two of the Services took the opportunity to
send representatives at the same time, for another discussion of CINCFE'’s oper-
ational plans and force requirements. Lieutenant General Matthew B. Ridgway,
Deputy Chief of Staff for Operations and Administration (who was to become
commander of the Eighth Army a few months later), was selected as the Army
representative. The Air Force sent Lieutenant General Lauris A. Norstad, Acting
Vice Chief of Staff.*®0
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When General Ridgway reached Tokyo on 6 August, he bore with him a long
letter from General Collins to CINCFE describing the situation as seen by the
Joint Chiefs of Staff. The decision to mobilize the National Guard, according to
this letter, had been made with a view to meeting General MacArthur’s
expressed need for four more divisions, although the ultimate disposition of
these units would be decided in the light of conditions prevailing at the time.
General Collins expressed the hope that, with the passing of the rainy season,
UN air power might exert its full effect on North Korean supply lines and enable
CINCEE to counterattack earlier than expected. He reminded General MacArthur
of his agreement to adapt his strategy to the forces already made available,
which, he pointed out, would total almost seven divisions. On the other hand, he
foresaw that the four additional divisions might be needed if the enemy contin-
ued to receive reinforcements. “I am confident,” continued General Collins, “that
the Joint Chiefs of Staff will be prepared to accede to a definite request for these
troops when the situation has stabilized and you are able to make more specific
plans than is possible now. Meanwhile, we are going to proceed with the training
of these divisions as rapidly as possible. .. .I think we must wait and see how the
North Koreans react during the next couple of months.” He closed with an assur-
ance of his desire to provide all possible support to CINCFE.*!

In conferences with the Washington representatives on 6 and 8 August, Gen-
eral MacArthur outlined his needs for additional forces. His principal request was
for the 3d Infantry Division. As he doubtless knew, this was the one remaining
division of the General Reserve that might be available; the 2d Armored was
unsuitable, the 11th Airborne unready, and the 82d Airborne untouchable. The
possibility of sending the 3d Division to the Far East had already been discussed.
However, it had been “raided” for replacement battalions, and its combat readi-
ness was doubtful. Nevertheless, General MacArthur convinced the Washington
visitors that it should be sent. He proposed to use it for occupation duty in Japan,
releasing the 7th Division (the one division remaining there) for combat in Korea.®?

At the time these conferences were held, the goal of a stabilized front seemed
within reach. A more or less continuous front—the “Pusan Perimeter”—had coa-
lesced in southeastern Korea. The forces available for its defense were minimal.
General Ridgway learned that one division with only six battalions was holding
a front of 21,000 yards, and that some rifle companies held 1,000-yard fronts.
Under these conditions, it was impossible to prevent enemy infiltration. More-
over, the ground had not yet been thoroughly organized for defense. Neverthe-
less General Ridgway, like General Collins before him, concluded that the Pusan
bridgehead could be held if reinforcements could be made available.®®

On returning to Washington, Generals Ridgway and Norstad presented their
report to the Joint Chiefs of Staff, who at once undertook to resolve the problem
of more forces for the Far East—a problem that at first glance looked nearly insol-
uble. Leaving aside the National Guard Divisions, which could not be ready for
many weeks, the choice boiled down to sending the 3d Infantry Division, after
piecing it out in some manner, or depriving General Collins of his “hole card,”
the 82d Airborne. The JCS members gave serious consideration to the latter alter-
native, in view of the poor condition of the 3d. They finally asked General Collins
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and Admiral Sherman to restudy the problem and to submit recommendations
within forty-eight hours.*

To send the 3d Division to the Far East by the middle of September, in time
for CINCFE’s projected counterattack, at first seemed impossible. It would be
necessary to divert the stream of combat replacements and to draw further on
the General Reserve, and even with its strength restored, the division would not
be combat-ready for several months. But the Department of the Army discov-
ered an alternative, which General Collins presented to the Joint Chiefs of Staff
on 10 August. The division would be shipped to FECOM from Fort Benning,
strengthened by the addition of various units and filler replacements, but still
short one regiment. To make up this deficiency, the 65th Infantry Regiment,
located in Puerto Rico, would be sent directly to the Far East as part of the 3d
Division, its place to be taken by a regiment of the Puerto Rican National Guard
called into Federal service. But the 65th was itself short one battalion; therefore,
a battalion of the 33d Regiment, stationed in Panama, would be sent to the Far
East to serve with it.®>

This complicated reshuffle was at once approved by the Joint Chiefs of Staff,
along with another plan (doubtless submitted by Admiral Sherman) to provide
General MacArthur with a third Marine RCT. The Commandant, US Marine
Corps, had directed the formation of this unit on 4 August; it was to be activated
by drawing on FMFLANT for cadres, which would be completed with reservists,
and by sending an entire FMFLANT battalion direct to the Far East from the
Mediterranean.® Shipping could be provided for both the Marine and the Army
units, though it would be necessary to reactivate some transports and cargo ships
and to divert amphibious vessels from the Atlantic. At the same time, the Joint
Chiefs of Staff decided that the aircraft carrier USS Leyte and the battleship USS
Missouri should also be sent to the Far East for temporary duty. In recommending
these measures to the Secretary of Defense, the Joint Chiefs of Staff admitted that
they would lead to “a grave decrease in our capabilities in the Atlantic for a
period of several months,” but they believed that this risk should be accepted.®”

Because the sending of these forces involved a further depletion of the Gen-
eral Reserve, the JCS recommendations were carried to the President, who
approved them on 10 August in a meeting at the White House.%® Secretary John-
son gave formal approval in writing the following day.*

General Collins at once notified CINCFE of the impending departure of the 3d
Division, adding a warning, in the following terms, of the gravity of the risk that
was involved:

In withdrawing this division from the general reserve, the JCS have accepted
for the next few months a further serious reduction in US capabilities to meet
other possible demands for combat ground forces, as well as a further serious
reduction, during the same period, in the Army’s capability to train additional
forces for your theater. It is the understanding of the JCS that this division is fur-
nished you as a theater reserve, because of your reported intention of committin
all remaining combat reserves now in or en route to your theater in your planne
offensive operation, and further that it is your intention that this division, which
will arrive 1n your theater at a very low combat effective level, will, except for the
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most compelling reasons, be permitted sufficient training time to reach a mini-
mum acceptable training level before commitment to battle.”

The forces approved for the Far Eastern theater on 10 August 1950 constituted
the final increment of reinforcements sent during 1950. By the time this action
was taken, the units requested earlier were at last arriving. The transports had
begun to disgorge their cargoes of men and materiel at Pusan and the ports of
Japan. The 29th Regiment, from nearby Okinawa, was the first to reach the battle
front, on 24 July. The 5th RCT arrived from Hawaii on 31 July; it was followed
within the next week by the 1st Provisional Marine Brigade and two regiments of
the 2d Infantry Division. The remainder of the 2d Division landed at Pusan on 19
August. All of these units were flung into the defense of the Pusan Perimeter. The
second Marine RCT arrived between 28 August and 6 September, going directly
to Japan to load for the Inch’on assault.”!

Of the reinforcements authorized on 10 August, the Marines arrived (in sepa-
rate battalions) on 9 and 17 September” and the elements of the 3d Infantry Divi-
sion shortly thereafter. General MacArthur allowed himself considerable latitude
in interpreting the JCS directive restricting the use of this division. At the time of
the Inch’on landing, it was listed as constituting part of the GHQ Reserve,
together with the 187th Airborne RCT, though both were still afloat.”” “Com-
pelling reasons” led CINCFE to land the 65th Regiment at Pusan on 22 Septem-
ber and send it into battle at once; the other two regiments of the division disem-
barked in Japan, where they remained until November.”

From outside the Far Eastern Theater, therefore, General MacArthur received
during 1950 three full divisions (two Army, one Marine) and two RCTs. They
were added to the troops already in the Far East at the outbreak of the war (four
divisions and one regiment). With this force, plus the remaining elements of the
ROK Army and a few troops from other countries, General MacArthur carried
out his amphibious envelopment, smashed the North Korean People’s Army, and
marched almost to the borders of Manchuria. With essentially this same force
(and some additional UN contingents that brought the total roughly to the equiv-
alent of a division), General Ridgway, taking over the Eighth Army after the dis-
astrous intervention of the Chinese Communists, checked the enemy’s south-
ward surge and once more stabilized the battle line. General MacArthur’s
long-range forecast of his requirements—eight US divisions—thus proved essen-
tially accurate. The four National Guard divisions mobilized in September did
not become available until 1951 and played no role in the war during its first
year. Two of them were shipped to the Far East in April 1951; they were at first
used to garrison Japan but were later rotated to Korea.”

A Strategy for Victory

During World War II, General MacArthur had used amphibious warfare with
outstanding success, exploiting to the utmost the mobility of seaborne
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forces. Inevitably, his mind turned to this strategy when war broke out again in
Korea. Reference has already been made to his early plan to use a Marine RCT, in
conjunction with the 1st Cavalry Division from Japan, to land at Inch’on and take
the enemy in the rear. The operation was set for 22 July, but it was disrupted by
the swiftness of the enemy advance. Not only the 1st Cavalry Division but the
Marines as well had to be committed to the attempt to stabilize the front.”

To halt the onrushing enemy—to fix his forces in place, so that they could be
destroyed by a slashing stroke from the rear—was an essential prerequisite.
Where could the enemy best be stopped? The choice of a defense line was consid-
ered by the Joint Intelligence Committee (JIC) in an estimate submitted to the
Joint Chiefs of Staff on 12 July 1950. The JIC concluded that the North Koreans
would be capable of threatening the security of Pusan by 25 July 1950. The mem-
bers laid out three possible defense lines, each roughly in the form of an arc of a
circle centered on Pusan, lying at distances of approximately 80, 50, and 35 air
miles, respectively, from that city. All three lines were designed to exploit the
topography of the rugged Sobaek range of hills in southeastern Korea, and all
would cut across the valley of the Naktong river at approximately a right angle.”

The Joint Chiefs of Staff merely noted this JIC study and left it to CINCFE to
decide where to make a stand. The line actually selected by General Walker and
General MacArthur did not follow any of the plans drafted by the Joint Intelli-
gence Committee.” The “Pusan Perimeter,” so-called, had the form of an
inverted “L,” with the main portion running north-south along the Naktong val-
ley and the shorter arm bending eastward at right angles to reach the sea. This
line took shape during late July and early August, as US units, facing the L:ulk of
the NK Army in the central and western parts of the peninsula, were pressed
inexorably backward until finally forced to withdraw behind the Naktong. Fortu-
nately their right flank was protected by the ROK Army, which held out in the
east, though driven steadily southward.

At its smallest extent, the angle of the perimeter was approximately 60 air
miles north of Masan, on the south coast, and the eastern anchor was in the vicin-
ity of P’ohang-dong, which the North Koreans actually captured at one time. US
troops held the longer (north-south) portion, assisted by the British force that
arrived in late August. The ROK Army defended the east-west sector, but was
frequently obliged to call on EUSAK for help. All along the line, the forces of the
UN Command were stretched almost to the breaking point, which was nearly
reached on several occasions. Through the tense days of August, and on into the
middle of September, it was never certain whether the beachhead in southeastern
Korea could be held until General MacArthur could retrieve the situation with
his amphibious counterstroke.”

Regarding the nature of this planned operation, the Joint Chiefs of Staff had
little information until the visit of Generals Collins and Vandenberg to Tokyo on
13 to 14 July. General MacArthur was deliberately closemouthed, evidently fear-
ing a security leak in Washington. Even after the Collins-Vandenberg trip, when
CINCFE’s need for a full Marine division was under discussion, he told the Joint
Chiefs of Staff on 21 July that it would be “unwise” to describe fully in a message
his plans for the use of this unit.®
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While in Tokyo, General Collins discussed the general outlines of the proposed
amphibious attack with General Almond and other members of the FECOM staff.
The choice of Inch’on, a port on the coast some 20 miles west of Seoul, as the site
of the landing caused General Collins to feel somewhat uneasy. Strategically,
Inch’on was indeed a tempting prize; it would place the invading forces within
easy reach of the capital—the hub of South Korea’s road and rail net—and of the
airfield at Kimpo. Geographically, however, the dangers of a landing at that site
were so manifest that one writer later referred to Inch’on as “probably the worst
place ever selected for an amphibious invasion.”® Huge mudflats extended west-
ward from the coast for a distance of three miles or so. Landing Ship Tanks (LST)
could cross this area only when the tides were at least 30 feet deep, a condition
that occurred on only a few days out of each month. Planners were thus severely
constrained in choosing a date and hour for an assault. A narrow channel
threaded the flats to reach the port, but it was difficult and tortuous even in day-
light. Moreover, the channel was dominated by a small island, Wolmi-do, rugged
in terrain and known to be fortified; the need to reduce this island before attack-
ing the mainland would destroy the element of surprise. The city itself was pro-
tected by a 12-foot seawall. A further consideration was that Inch’on lay more
than 100 air miles from the nearest part of the Pusan Perimeter, so that it was
doubtful whether the invading force and EUSAK could link up as planned.*

General Collins voiced his doubts about the suitability of Inch’on in his dis-
cussions with FECOM officers. Rear Admiral James H. Doyle, USN, who com-
manded the amphibious forces in the Far East, admitted that the operation
would be difficult but believed that it was possible.®> But the Army Chief of Staff
made it clear to his colleagues, on his return, that he was still unconvinced

Despite General Collins’ misgivings, the Joint Chiefs of Staff did not at once
raise any question with General MacArthur about the choice of Inch’on. Nor did
they question the desirability of an amphibious operation. Their immediate con-
cern, as described earlier, was with General MacArthur’s request for two major
units—a full Marine division and an airborne RCT—by his specified deadline of
mid-September. Asked to justify his need for these forces, CINCFE sketched the
main outlines of his plan, which would combine an assault landing by a two-
division corps with a subsequent airdrop. The exact date of D-day would depend
in part on enemy actions, although it could perhaps be postponed to 25 Septem-
ber. But he stressed the need for haste. An “early and strong effort” behind the
enemy’s front lines, he believed, would “sever his main lines of communications
and enable us to deliver a decisive and crushing blow. Any material delay in
such an operation may lose this opportunity.”#

On 24 July 1950 the Joint Chiefs of Staff consulted General MacArthur by tele-
conference. Citing continued enemy gains, they asked him if he still considered it
possible to plan a landing for the middle of September. CINCFE replied that “the
chances to launch the movement in September would be excellent” if he were
given a full Marine division. He emphasized the need for complete secrecy in
terms that again revealed his suspicion of the level of security prevailing in
Washington. “The spokesman for the Department of the Army should not reveal
our grand strategy in the slightest degree,” he warned.®
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Thereupon the Joint Chiefs of Staff dropped the subject of the date while they
turned their attention to finding additional reinforcements for FECOM. Their
misgivings, however, had not been removed. Apparently at this time they dis-
cussed the Inch’on operation with Secretary Johnson, who was wholeheartedly in
favor of it.¥” At the White House meeting of 10 August 1950, when the dispatch
of the 3d Division was approved, there was some discussion of strategy. Admiral
Sherman made it clear, as he later wrote, that he was “confident that General
MacArthur would make good use of the forces, but that the Joint Chiefs of Staff
would have to pass on his plans for amphibious landings.”#

As time went on and CINCEFE failed to take Washington into his confidence,
the Joint Chiefs of Staff decided that some of their members should go to Tokyo
to discuss the General’s plans with him.* General Collins and Admiral Sherman
were chosen for this purpose. General Vandenberg sent his Deputy Chief of Staff
for Operations, Lieutenant General Idwal H. Edwards, to represent the Air Force.

The emissaries from Washington left on 19 August and reached Tokyo two
days later, in time for a short preliminary conference with members of the staff of
FECOM and of the newly activated X Corps, which would constitute the landing
force. The next day was spent in a tour of the battlefront. Finally, on 23 August,
they attended a full-scale briefing with General MacArthur and other officers at
FECOM Headquarters in the Dai Ichi Building in Tokyo. Here the Inch’on land-
ing plan was subjected to a detailed examination.*

Officers of the special planning staff within General MacArthur’s headquar-
ters (known as the Joint Strategic Plans and Operations Group, or JSPOG), first
outlined the concept of the operation.®* The assault would be made by the 1st
Marine Division, which, after seizing Inch’on, would swing northeastward to
capture Kimpo airfield. The 7th Infantry Division, following in the footsteps of
the Marines, would secure the high ground southeast of Seoul. Thus the X Corps
would constitute part of a gigantic nutcracker, of which the other jaw would be
formed by the Eighth Army, surging out of its redoubt behind the Naktong.
Together they would crush the North Korean forces.

A succession of Navy and Marine Corps officers then discussed the problems
involved in a landing at Inch’on. They made no effort to conceal the dangers and
difficulties. Admiral Doyle summed up this part of the discussion with the state-
ment that, while the operation was not impossible, he did not recommend it.

In the discussion that ensued, General Collins voiced a fear that the X Corps,
even if it managed at first to gain a toehold at Inch’on, might be driven into the
sea before the Eighth Army could break out and join up with it. To avoid this
possibility, he suggested a landing at Kunsan, some 100 miles south of Inch’on,
which was much nearer to the Pusan Perimeter. It had fewer natural obstacles
than Inch’on, and had the advantage of location close to the enemy’s main sup-
ply routes, which ran through Nonsan (30 miles inland from Kunsan) and Taejon.
This suggestion won the endorsement of Admiral Sherman.

General MacArthur himself then took the floor and held it for an hour or so,
while he defended his plan with the forensic ability of a man who was a master
of words as well as warfare. One by one, he disposed of or rejected the objec-
tions to the Inch’on landing. He admitted the physical obstacles but expressed
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confidence that the Navy and Marine Corps would surmount them. A landing at
Kunsan would afford only a shallow envelopment; the enemy would simply be
driven back on his base of operations, not severed from it. There was no danger
that the invading force at Inch’on would be overwhelmed; the enemy did not
have sufficient reserves for that purpose. The very disadvantages of Inch’on
would help to ensure surprise. Building skillfully toward a climax, he concluded
with what General Collins later described as a “stirring peroration”:

If my estimate is inaccurate and should I run into a defense with which I can-
not cope, I will be there personally and will immediately withdraw our forces
before they are committed to a bloody setback. The only loss then will be my pro-
fessional reputation. But Inch’on will not fail. Inch’on will succeed. And 1t will
save 100,000 lives.”

This “brilliant exposition,” according to General Collins, left the audience
“spellbound.”*® It did not, however, fully convince the doubters. On the follow-
ing day Admiral Sherman conferred with Admiral Joy (COMNAVEFE), Admiral
Radford (CINCPAC), and two Marine Corps officers, Lieutenant General
Lemuel C. Shepherd, Jr.,, Commanding General of FMFPAC, and Major General
Oliver P. Smith, who commanded the 1st Marine Division. They agreed that a
better site for a landing would be Posung-Myon, 30 miles south of Inch’on,
where the water was deep enough for a landing at any time. General Shepherd
subsequently attempted to persuade General MacArthur to accept this change
but met with no success.*

Admiral Sherman also conferred privately with General MacArthur and
restated the Navy’s objections to Inch’on. The General went so far as to agree that
the operation could succeed only if no opposition developed. Reportedly, Admi-
ral Sherman remarked, at the end of the conference, “I wish I could share that
man’s optimism.”*

On returning to Washington, General Collins and Admiral Sherman reported
the results of their conference to their colleagues, also to Secretary Johnson and
President Truman.’ The Secretary was firm in his support of General Mac-
Arthur’s plan. He later took credit for winning over the President.”

The reservations still held by General Collins and Admiral Sherman, and per-
haps by other JCS members as well, were manifested in a message that the Joint
Chiefs of Staff sent to CINCFE on 28 August. Although they gave general
approval to the projected operation, they were careful not to fix any definite loca-
tion and made it clear that they wished this aspect of the plan to be subject to
reconsideration. Their message read as follows:

After reviewing the information brought back by General Collins and Admi-
ral Sherman we concur in making preparations and executing a turning move-
ment by amphibious forces on the west coast of Korea either at Inch’on in the
event that enemy defenses in vicinity of Inch’on prove ineffective or at a favor-
able beach south of Inch’on if one can be located. We further concur in prepara-
tion, if desired by CINCFE, for an envelopment by amphibious forces in the
vicinity of Kunsan. We understand that alternative plans are being prepared in
order best to exploit the situation as it develops.
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We desire such information as becomes available with respect to conditions in
the possible objective areas and timely information as to your intentions and
plans for offensive operations.”

On 30 August General MacArthur issued his operations order for the Inch’on
landing.” He did not immediately send a copy to the Joint Chiefs of Staff, nor did
he respond to their message of 28 August.'" Accordingly, on 5 September the
Joint Chiefs of Staff felt constrained to remind him that they “desire to be
informed of any modification which may have been made in your plans for a
mid-September amphibious operation.”'"* CINCFE replied briefly that the “gen-
eral outline of plan remains as described to you,” and that he was sending copies
of the operation order and other relevant documents by a courier, who would
arrive in Washington about 11 September.!"?

This exchange of messages came at a time when events in Korea had taken a
particularly dangerous turn. On 1 September the North Koreans opened a gen-
eral offensive all around the perimeter. They broke through at several points and
were repelled only with the utmost difficulty. The First Provisional Marine
Brigade, which had been withdrawn from the front and was preparing to embark
for Inch’on, had to be recalled and thrown against the most dangerous of these
penetrations, in the center of the Naktong line opposite Taegu. At one time, Gen-
eral Walker was actually considering withdrawal to the final “Davidson line,”
closer to Pusan, which had been laid out for this purpose.'®

After reading the reports of these alarming developments, the Joint Chiefs of
Staff decided to send CINCFE a final warning of the disastrous consequences
that would ensue if the Inch’on landing miscarried, or if it failed to produce a
quick victory. On 7 September they transmitted the following message:

While we concur in launching a counter-offensive in Korea as early as is fea-
sible, we have noted with considerable concern the recent trend of events there.
In light of all factors including apparent commitment of practically all reserves
available to Eighth Army, we desire your estimate as to feasibility and chance of
success of projected operation if initiated on planned schedule. We are sure that
gou understand that all available trained Army units in the United States have

een allocated to you except 82 Abn Div and that minimum of four months
would elapse before first of partially trained National Guard Divisions could
reach Korea in event that junction of main Eighth Army Forces with Tenth
Corps bridgehead should not quickly be effected with forces now available to
FECOM. 14

Without hesitation, General MacArthur wired back an answer radiating the
confidence of a commander long accustomed to victory in similar maneuvers. He
told the Joint Chiefs of Staff that

there is no question in my mind as to the feasibility of the operation and I regard
its chance of success as excellent. I go further and believe that it represents the
only hope of wresting the initiative from the enemy and thereby presenting an
opéaortunity for a decisive blow. To do otherwise 1s to commit us to a war of
indefinite duration, of gradual attrition and of doubtful results, as the enemy
has potentialities of reinforcement and build-up which exceed those of our own
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availability. ... The situation within the perimeter is not critical. It is possible
that there may be some contraction and defense positions have been selected for
this contingency. There is no slightest possibility, however, of our force bein

ejected from the Pusan beachhead. The envelopment from the north wil
instantly relieve the pressure on the south perimeter and, indeed, is the only
way that this can be accomplished. . .. The success of the enveloping movement
from the north does not depend upon the rapid juncture of the X Corps and the
8th Army. The seizure of the heart of the enemy distributinfg system in the Seoul
area will completely dislocate the logistical sup}laly of his forces now operating
in South Korea and therefore will ultimately result in their disintegra-
tion. ... Caught between our northern and our southern forces, both of which
are completely self-sustaining because of our absolute air and naval supremacy,
the enemy cannot fail to be ultimately shattered through disruption of his logis-
tical support and our combined combat activities. The prompt junction of our
two forces, while it would be dramatically symbolic of the complete collapse of
the enemy, is not a vital part of the operation. For the reasons stated, there are
no material changes under contemplation in the operation as planned and
reported to you. The embarkation of the troops and the preliminary air and
naval preparations are proceeding according to schedule. I repeat that I and all
of my commanders and staff officers, without exception, are enthusiastic and
confident of the success of the enveloping operation.!

In the face of this declaration of confidence, clearly and cogently argued, the
Joint Chiefs of Staff abandoned their objections to the Inch’on operation. “We
approve your plan and President has been so informed,” they told General
MacArthur on 8 September.'%

Not until a few hours before the first troops hit the beach did the Joint Chiefs
of Staff learn the details of the plan. The courier bearing the operations order
(Lieutenant Colonel Lynn D. Smith) left Tokyo on the morning of 10 September,
with General MacArthur's injunction, “Don’t get there too soon,” probably spo-
ken only partly in jest. The General gave him a further message to the Joint
Chiefs of Staff that showed that he still expected some opposition. “If they say it
is too big a gamble,” he told Smith, “tell them I said this is throwing a nickle in
the pot after it has been opened for a dollar. The big gamble was Washington’s
decision to put American troops on the Asiatic mainland.”

Lieutenant Colonel Smith reached Washington at 2300 on 13 September and
appeared before the Joint Chiefs of Staff at 1100 the following morning. By the
time he had completed his presentation and had answered questions, it was too
late for the Joint Chiefs of Staff to have cancelled the plan. H-Hour had been set
for 0630, Far East time, on 15 September, or 141730 in Washington.'"”

It was perhaps inevitable that news of the long discussions between CINCFE
and his superiors should leak to the press. Shortly after the landing, a newspaper
reporter, who had evidently been talking to members of the FECOM staff, filed a
dispatch asserting that General MacArthur had “sold” the Joint Chiefs of Staff on
the Inch’on landing “despite their unanimous objection to such an ambitious
undertaking.” No evidence was given in support of this statement, but “sources
close to General MacArthur” were quoted to the effect that General Collins and
Admiral Sherman had favored landings farther south. On reading this report, the
Joint Chiefs of Staff sent General MacArthur the text of a statement being
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released by General Collins and Admiral Sherman, in which they pointed out
that they had been sent to Tokyo “to review plans for the Inch’on landing, possi-
ble alternate landings, and subsequent operations,” and that afterwards the Joint
Chiefs of Staff had given “unanimous approval of the projected operations
including the landing at Inch’on.” 1
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Policies for a New Situation

As General MacArthur had predicted, his amphibious enveloping maneuver
proved a spectacular success. On 15 September 1950 the First Marine Divi-
sion, after seizing the island of Wolmi-Do, stormed ashore at Inch’on. Quickly
securing the city, the Marines pushed inland and swung northward toward
Seoul. Three days later, the 7th Infantry Division landed and deployed to the
southeast to form the right flank of the X Corps beachhead. Both forces moved
steadily forward against ineffectual and poorly coordinated resistance.

The situation of the hard-pressed Eighth Army was not immediately
improved. General Walker had ordered his “break-out” offensive to begin on 16
September, but at first the gains were slow and bitterly contested. Unaware at
first of the new force in their rear, North Korean troops fought as tenaciously as
ever. Gradually, however, opposition began to slacken as enemy units were
pulled out of the line and hurried toward Inch’on. When it became apparent that
enemy resistance was collapsing, General Walker on 22 September ordered all
units to drive forward “without regard to lateral security.” Spearheads of the
Eighth Army fanned out to the north and west, racing to entrap the fleeing foe.
On 27 September, elements of the 1st Cavalry Division, Eighth Army, linked up
with the 7th Division north of Osan, near where US troops had first encountered
the North Korean People’s Army almost three months earlier. On the east coast,
the battered ROK forces gathered their strength and launched a northward drive
that was to carry them almost to the Manchurian border before it was halted.

Meanwhile the battle for Seoul had begun. Marines and infantrymen fought
their way into the city against stubborn resistance. Although the UN Command
officially announced the liberation of the city on 26 September, fighting contin-
ued for two more days. By the time it ended, South Korea was practically free of
invaders except for isolated forces trapped in various pockets. Of the powerful
army of 90,000 men that had swept down the peninsula three months earlier, it
was estimated that not more than 25,000 to 30,000 disorganized troops succeeded
in recrossing the 38th parallel.!
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Accompanying these developments was an important change in the adminis-
tration in Washington. Three days before the Inch’on landing, the nation was
startled to learn that President Truman had “accepted” the resignation of Secre-
tary of Defense Louis Johnson. Moreover, a replacement had already been desig-
nated: General of the Army George C. Marshall, then living in retirement after
having served as Chief of Staff, US Army (1939-1945) and Secretary of State
(1947-1949). Owing to General Marshall’s military status, an act of Congress was
necessary to allow him to occupy the Secretaryship. He was sworn into office on
21 September 1950.2

For the Joint Chiefs of Staff, an immediate result of the change in Secretaries
was an easier relationship with their counterparts in the Department of State.
Unlike his predecessor, who had tended to restrict contacts to formally desig-
nated liaison channels, Secretary Marshall encouraged free interdepartmental
consultation. He himself enjoyed a cordial relationship with Mr. Acheson, who
had served as his deputy at State (and whose difficult relations with Mr. John-
son were a matter of common knowledge). The frank and informal discussions
of military and political problems during the dark days of the Chinese interven-
tion in Korea, when the two Secretaries met frequently with the Joint Chiefs of
Staff and other advisors, would hardly have been conceivable under Mr. John-
son’s regime.?

By chance, General Marshall’s accession coincided with a promotion for the
Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, General Bradley, who, by act of Congress,
received a fifth star. In a brief White House ceremony on 22 September, Presi-
dent Truman awarded the General his new insignia, doing so “with obvious
pleasure,” as a reporter noted.* Thus an anomaly in General Bradley’s position
was eliminated. The National Security Act Amendments of 1949, which created
the JCS Chairmanship, had specified that the incumbent would “take prece-
dence” over all other officers of the Armed Services; yet as a four-star general,
General Bradley had actually been outranked by General of the Army Douglas
MacArthur, the last of the five-star officers of World War II remaining on
active duty.

The new Secretary of Defense took up his duties at a time when the over-
whelming UN success at Inch’on had completely altered the military situation in
Korea. But the administration had by no means been caught unprepared by this
reversal of fortune. In mid-July, while the security of the US beachhead in Korea
yet remained highly uncertain, President Truman had begun planning for the
consequences of military victory. He had asked the National Security Council to
submit proposals regarding the policies to be adopted “after the North Korean
forces have been driven back to the 38th parallel.”5

The issue to be resolved in this connection was whether the mere repulse of
the invading army was to be considered sufficient, or whether the objective was
the complete destruction of North Korea’s warmaking capacity. In other words,
two questions had to be answered: Should UN forces be allowed to invade North
Korea? And if so, for what purpose? The first of these presented little difficulty.
To require military commanders to break contact and stand on the defensive the
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instant they reached the 38th parallel would be militarily absurd. As Secretary
Acheson put it, troops could not be expected “to march up to a surveyor’s line
and stop.”®

But merely to authorize UN forces to pursue the enemy across the border
would not settle the larger question of Korea’s political future. Granted the
defeat of the North Korean forces in contact with UN troops, what should fol-
low? Should the UN Command withdraw, leaving the border as it was before,
or at most adjusting it to make it militarily defensible? To do so would leave
North Korea free to rebuild its forces and perhaps to resume the invasion later.
The only way to ensure against another attack would be to destroy the North
Korean regime and bring the whole country under a single government—thus
attaining the “unification” of Korea, which various UN resolutions had pro-
claimed as desirable.

These questions did not arise in the early days of the Korean crisis. No one
looked beyond the immediate need to restore the status quo ante.” President Tru-
man told the National Security Council on 29 June 1950 that he “wanted it clearly
understood that our operations in Korea were designed to restore peace there
and to restore the border.”8 In a public address the same day, Secretary Acheson
declared that the commitment of US air and naval forces was “solely for the pur-
pose of restoring the Republic of Korea to its status prior to the invasion from the
north and of reestablishing the peace broken by that aggression.”® The UN Secu-
rity Council resolutions had implied a similar limited objective: the first, enacted
on 25 June, had called on North Korea to withdraw its forces to the 38th parallel,
and the second, two days later, had urged member nations to furnish assistance
“to repel the armed attack and to restore international peace and security in the
area.”

But if the North Korean Army could be thoroughly defeated, an opportunity
might present itself to unite the entire country under a UN-sponsored govern-
ment. Some members of the administration—particularly, it would appear, in the
Department of Defense—believed that this opportunity should not be lost.!” The
issue was also discussed outside the government, although it was not until after
the success of the Inch’on operation that the debate became intense. Among the
individuals who spoke out on the matter was General Dwight D. Eisenhower,
then President of Columbia University. Though he apparently did not explicitly
urge unification, he expressed the view that North Korean forces should not be
permitted to retire safely behind the 38th parallel and that the intent of the UN
resolutions would not be violated if UN forces found it necessary to cross the
border. President Rhee, as would be expected, was loud in his announced deter-
mination to end the division of his country."

To a limited extent, the Joint Chiefs of Staff had discussed Korea’s future with
General MacArthur. The subject came up in mid-July, when Generals Collins and
Vandenberg visited CINCFE. “I intend to destroy and not to drive back the North
Korean forces,” said General MacArthur. “I may need to occupy all of North
Korea. In the aftermath of operations, the problem is to compose and unite
Korea.”12 The two JCS members apparently did not pursue the matter further.
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The following month, when General Collins returned to the Far East in com-
pany with Admiral Sherman, the conversation turned to the operations that
should follow the Inch’on invasion. “We agreed with the General [MacArthur],”
General Collins later wrote, “that he should be authorized to continue the attack
across the 38th parallel to destroy the North Korean forces, which otherwise
would be a recurrent threat to the independence of South Korea.”'* Apparently
they also discussed the future occupation of Korea and agreed that it should be
limited in extent and duration.'

In mid-August Ambassador Austin, speaking to the UN Security Council,
clearly enunciated the goal of Korean unification. “The determination of the
United Nations to insure that Korea shall be free, unified and independent of
outside influence from any great power, on or off the continent, has never
wavered,” he said on 10 August. A week later, he contended that the General
Assembly’s decision in favor of “fair and free elections. .. throughout the
whole of the Korean peninsula” was still valid, though its execution had been
blocked by the North Korean regime. “As order is brought out of chaos,” he
continued, “some United Nations body should be on the spot to lend all practi-
cable assistance to the Republic in establishing democratic government in the
reunited Korea.”®

The Ambassador seemed to imply that the United States intended to place the
Rhee government in control of all Korea. However, “sources” in the US Delega-
tion at Lake Success quickly made it clear that there had been no change in the
instructions given General MacArthur, which were simply to drive the invaders
back to the 38th parallel, and that it was hoped that the unification of Korea
could be accomplished through negotiation.’* Nevertheless, the Service Secre-
taries interpreted Mr. Austin’s words as implying a commitment to “the expul-
sion from Korea of the Communists as an organized political and military force.”
But, they pointed out, there had been no official directive from higher authority
regarding Korea’s future, and military planning was being hindered by the lack
of guidance regarding operations north of the 38th parallel.””

This guidance was provided in NSC 81, prepared by the NSC Staff and circu-
lated on 1 September. The recommendations in this paper were necessarily tenta-
tive and subject to modification after consultation with other UN members. The
drafters of NSC 81 concluded that the Security Council resolutions of June and
July provided a legal basis for military operations north of the 38th parallel for a
strictly limited purpose: “to compel the withdrawal of the North Korean forces
behind this line or to defeat these forces.” The UN Commander should be autho-
rized to undertake such operations, provided that neither the Soviets nor the Chi-
nese Communists moved troops into North Korea, or announced an intention to
do so. Should such action occur, General MacArthur should halt his forces at the
border and await the action of the UN Security Council.

The probability of Soviet or Chinese intervention was carefully weighed in
NSC 81. The conclusion was that some reaction by either or both of these nations
was likely. It might well result in a clash that would bring on general war: how-
ever, this danger could be sharply reduced if operations on North Korean soil
were conducted wholly by ROK troops. In any event, no forces of other countries

96



The Conflict Almost Won

should be employed in the areas contiguous to the Soviet Union or to Man-
churia. Plans for the occupation of North Korea should be drafted but should be
carried out only with the approval of the President after consultation with the
United Nations.

Courses of action were proposed in NSC 81 to cover the contingencies of
“open employment” of “major” units of Soviet Russia or Communist China
south of the 38th parallel and of “major” Soviet forces north thereof. Briefly, the
UN Commander should in those cases shift to the defensive and refer the prob-
lem to Washington. Whether these instructions also applied if “major” Chinese
forces intervened was not indicated.

The peace terms to be offered North Korea should at once be discussed with
friendly UN members in case the NK Peoples Army should suddenly collapse. If
the terms were offered and rejected, the UN Commander should continue his
attempts to destroy the enemy forces before they could retreat across the parallel.
He should, however, “request new instructions before continuing operations north
of the 38th parallel with major forces for the purpose of occupying North Korea.”

Within the United Nations, the United States should seek to encompass the
unification of Korea through free elections, according to NSC 81. Moreover, the
Government of the Republic of Korea should be recognized by the United
Nations as the only lawful government in the country and should be consulted
on all matters relating unification.'

When the Joint Chiefs of Staff received NSC 81, they gave it a “cold review,”
in General Collins’ words." Instead of suggesting changes, they told the Secre-
tary of Defense on 7 September that the entire paper should be rewritten. Its
approach was “unrealistic,” since it “envisages the stabilization of a front on the
38th parallel.” On the basis of consultation of two of their members (doubtless
General Collins and Admiral Sherman) with General MacArthur, they agreed
with CINCFE that the initial objective should be the destruction of NK forces. It
was expected that most of these forces could be destroyed south of the parallel,
but subsequent operations both north and south of that line would be necessary.
These actions, however, could be left to South Korean forces, as they would
amount essentially to mopping up of guerrillas.

The Joint Chiefs of Staff also agreed with General MacArthur’s view that any
UN occupation should be limited to the major cities south of the 38th parallel
and should be ended as soon as possible. They added their “understanding” that
General MacArthur had reached agreement with President Rhee on the restora-
tion of the ROK Government in Seoul and the holding of elections for a unified
all-Korean government.?’

At a meeting of the National Security Council on 7 September 1950, General
Bradley presented the JCS views on NSC 81. Secretary Acheson disputed the JCS
interpretation that the paper envisioned stabilization of the front at the parallel,
and went on to suggest an amendment of his own, namely, a statement that mili-
tary operations north of the parallel would be undertaken only after specific
approval from Washington. The Council approved NSC 81 in principle but
directed the Departments of State and Defense to draft an amended version to be
submitted to the President.?!
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The revision, NSC 81/1, was approved by the President on 11 September.22 It
incorporated a number of minor changes, some doubtless inserted at the sugges-
tion of the Joint Chiefs of Staff.?* The most important change, which can probably
be ascribed to JCS influence, was to allow more flexibility in the conduct of mili-
tary operations in northern Korea. Thus a statement in NSC 81 that UN opera-
tions “should not be permitted to extend into areas close to the Manchurian and
U.S.S.R. borders of Korea” was altered to say that such operations should not be
allowed across those borders. Again, where NSC 81 had declared that forces other
than those of the Republic of Korea should “in no circumstances” be used in the
border regions, NSC 81/1 stated merely that “it should be the policy” not to
employ non-ROK forces there. These innocuous-sounding changes in phraseol-
ogy contained the seeds of future difficulty. At the same time, it was made clear,
as Secretary Acheson had desired, that Presidential approval would be required
before UN troops crossed the 38th parallel.

The political disposition of North Korea was not dealt with in NSC 81/1. The
administration had by now committed itself to the unification of Korea, as Presi-
dent Truman made clear in a speech on 1 September 1950. “We believe the Kore-
ans have a right to be free, independent, and united—as they want to be,” he
said. “Under the direction and guidance of the United Nations, we, with others,
will do our part to help them enjoy that right.”?* But “unification” was an objec-
tive and not a course of action. It did not even necessarily imply an invasion of
North Korea. On this matter, the administration had not reached a decision.
Assistant Secretary Rusk told the South Korean Ambassador on 8 September that
the United States could not at that time assume a definite position regarding the
38th parallel and would not support any predetermined line of action until the
United Nations could be consulted

In the weeks that followed the President’s speech, it became clear that the
general opinion in the United States, at least as expressed by press editorials and
Congressional statements, was that UN troops ought not to stop at the parallel.?
Nevertheless President Truman told a reporter on 21 September 1950 that a deci-
sion on the crossing of the border would be left to the United Nations.?”

Looking beyond the 38th Parallel

n 15 September the Army’s G-3 (Major General Charles L. Bolte) forwarded

to General MacArthur the principal conclusions of NSC 81/1: that final pol-
icy decisions were yet to be made; that he had a legal basis for operating north of
the 38th parallel; and that he was to avoid involvement with Soviet or Chinese
forces. On the following day Secretary Johnson directed the Joint Chiefs of Staff
to issue detailed instructions to CINCFE for compliance with NSC 81/1. The
Joint Strategic Survey Committee accordingly drafted a directive based on NSC
81/1 which the Joint Chiefs of Staff tentatively approved on 25 September, sub-
mitting it to Secretary of Defense Marshall the same day.?*
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Meanwhile, the Department of State had taken alarm at General MacArthur’s
intention to reestablish the Rhee government, as reported by the Joint Chiefs of
Staff. It appeared that the UN Commander had touched upon matters under
State Department cognizance, which were already being discussed with foreign
governments. The Joint Chiefs of Staff therefore asked him to explain his plans in
more detail.??

General MacArthur at once disclaimed any desire to venture into political
matters. “I do not know precisely to what your message refers,” he replied, “but I
have no plans whatsoever except scrupulously to implement the directives which
[ have received.” His intention, in which Ambassador Muccio had concurred,
was simply to return President Rhee to Seoul as soon as possible. Such a restora-
tion of the lawful government of South Korea (which had never ceased to func-
tion) could in no way be characterized as a “reestablishment.”®

This reply did not wholly satisfy officials of the Department of State. When
Secretary Marshall sent the draft JCS directive to them for comment, they
approved it subject to the addition of a stipulation that ROK jurisdiction was to
be restored only in South Korea, and that the political future of the northern half
of the country must await UN action.?! With this addition, the directive, after
approval by the President, was transmitted to CINCFE by the Joint Chiefs of Staff
on 27 September 1950.%

The most important parts of this message were the two opening paragraphs,
in which the Joint Chiefs of Staff addressed General MacArthur as follows:

This directive, based on NSC 81/1, is furnished in order to provide amplify-
ing instructions as to further military actions to be taken by you in Korea. These
instructions, however, cannot be considered to be final since they may require
modification in accordance with developments. In this connection, you will con-
tinue to make special efforts to determine whether there is a Chinese Communist
or Soviet threat to the attainment of your objective, which will be reported to JCS
as a matter of urgency.

Your military objective is the destruction of the North Korean Armed Forces.
In attaining this objective you are authorized to conduct military operations,
including amphibious and airborne landings or ground operations north of the
38th parallel in Koreaig)rovided that at the time of such operation there has been
no entry into North Korea by major Soviet or Chinese Communist Forces, no
announcement of intended entry, nor a threat to counter our operations militarily
in North Korea. Under no circumstances, however, will your forces cross the
Manchurian or USSR borders of Korea and, as a matter of policy, no non-Korean.
Ground Forces will be used in the northeast provinces bordering the Soviet
Union or in the area along the Manchurian border. Furthermore, support of your
operations north or south of the 38th parallel will not include Air or Naval action
against Manchuria or against USSR territory.

If “major” Soviet forces intervened north of the 38th parallel, or those of the
Soviets or of Communist China south thereof, CINCFE was to react as prescribed
in NSC 81/1, i.e., to assume the defensive while consulting Washington. The
question of occupying North Korea, and the nature of the occupation if it
occurred, would be determined by “circumstances at the time.” However,
CINCFE was to forward his occupation plans to the Joint Chiefs of Staff for
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approval, as well as those relative to military operations north of the parallel. The
final paragraph authorized General MacArthur to “facilitate the restoration” of
the ROK Government in Seoul but, as the State Department had desired, cau-
tioned him against involvement in the political future of North Korea.®

The formal restoration of President Rhee and his government to office in
Seoul on 29 September 1950 became the occasion for laudatory messages from
Washington. President Truman, speaking for “the entire American people,” ten-
dered the UN Commander “warmest congratulations on the victory which has
been achieved under your leadership in Korea.” The Joint Chiefs of Staff paid
tribute to General MacArthur’s “brilliant and audacious leadership” and
expressed confidence “that the great task entrusted to you by the United Nations
will be carried to a successful conclusion.”

NSC 81/1 had recommended immediate discussions with UN members con-
cerning the terms to be offered to the enemy. On 22 September 1950 the Depart-
ment of State sent the Department of Defense a paper intended to provide a basis
for these discussions. It called for surrender of all North Korean forces, occupa-
tion of key points in North Korea, and elections under UN supervision. Earlier,
the Department had dropped provisions for an armistice to be imposed by Gen-
eral MacArthur in the event that the enemy should sue for peace in the immedi-
ate future (a contingency not provided for in NSC 81/1). After referring both sets
of proposals to General MacArthur, the Joint Chiefs of Staff concluded that they
were acceptable.®

The Department of State also prepared a message to be broadcast by the UN
Commander to the enemy forces, calling upon them to lay down their arms to
prevent further bloodshed in view of their inevitable “early and total defeat.”
The Joint Chiefs of Staff immediately forwarded this draft message to General
MacArthur and authorized him to broadcast it at his discretion.* He replied on
28 September that he would make the announcement (in a slightly amended
form) at 1200 on 1 October.

The draft of this message, and of the surrender terms proposed by the Depart-
ment of State, had been referred for comment to the Service Secretaries, as well as
to the Joint Chiefs of Staff.* Secretary Johnson had set up the institution of the
“Joint Secretaries” to provide a channel of advice paralleling the Joint Chiefs of
Staff, and his successor continued, for a time at least, to call upon the Secretaries,
as a body, for their advice.” The Joint Chiefs of Staff were apparently unaware of
the extent to which General Marshall consulted the civilian Secretaries. Had they
known of it, they might well have protested this prospective infringement on
their statutory responsibilities as the principal military advisors of the Secretary
of Defense.®

Concerning North Korea’s probable response to the surrender message, Gen-
eral MacArthur was under no illusions. His staff had drawn up a plan to con-
tinue the war in North Korea, which he submitted to the Joint Chiefs of Staff in
outline on 28 September, promising later to supply complete details. The plan
provided that Eighth Army would attack northwestward from Seoul across the
38th parallel to seize P’yongyang, the enemy capital. X Corps would reembark
for an amphibious landing at Wonsan, whence it would drive westward to join
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up with Eighth Army. In subsequent operations, the combined UN-ROK forces
would advance to an objective line crossing northern Korea at its narrowest part,
from Chongju through Yongwon to Hungnam; beyond this line, only ROK troops
would be employed.

Tentative planning called for the operation to be initiated between 15 and 30
October. General MacArthur added that there was at that time no indication of
the entry of major Soviet or Chinese forces into North Korea.*!

In retrospect, it could be seen that this plan contained two questionable fea-
tures. One was the diversion of X Corps to a seaborne end run around the south-
ern tip of Korea to the middle of the east coast. Two UN divisions were thus tem-
porarily removed from the battlefield; moreover, their outloading through
Inch’on and Pusan tied up transportation facilities and thus increased the supply
difficulties of the Eighth Army. The other object of later criticism was the com-
mand relationship envisioned under this plan. The Commanding General of X
Corps, Major General Edward M. Almond, would remain independent of Eighth
Army, responsible directly to CINCFE. There would thus be no unity of com-
mand in Korea except that exercised from Tokyo, 700 miles away.*2

The Joint Chiefs of Staff did not question the plan at that time. One member,
General Collins, later recalled that he was “skeptical about the command
arrangements,” but that he and his colleagues were “perhaps somewhat over-
awed” by the success of the Inch’on operation.# On 29 September they told Sec-
retary Marshall that they approved the plan but believed that it should be
“cleared in principle on the highest Governmental level.” They asked him to
obtain such approval as soon as possible, since “certain ROK Army forces may
even now be crossing the 38th parallel.” The Secretary at once cleared it with the
President and the Secretary of State, and the Joint Chiefs of Staff informed Gen-
eral MacArthur that his plan was approved.#

The broadcast by CINCUNC headquarters, calling on the enemy to cease
resistance, was made as scheduled on 1 October 1950 (2200 EST on 30 Septem-
ber).*> There was no response. It was clear that the enemy fully intended to fight
on. His ability to do so, though gravely impaired, was by no means destroyed.
The best North Korean units had been decimated, but the remnant that escaped
included the enemy high command and most of the cadre of senior officers.* Nor
were the enemy’s reserves of military manpower exhausted. Expansion of the
NK People’s Army had been in process north of the 38th parallel all the while
that fighting was going on in the south.*

On 2 October General MacArthur promulgated an operations order for his
assault against North Korea, leaving the date still to be determined.® At the same
time, he described the situation to the Joint Chiefs of Staff in an optimistic message:

Probings by elements of the ROK Army are now well across the 38th parallel,
Advances on the extreme right are between 10 and 30 miles in the coast sector
with practically no resistance.

It 1s possible if enemy’s weakness is pronounced that immediate exploitation
may be put into effect before or in substitution for prepared plan. You will be
kept fully informed.®
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The units that had already set foot on North Korean soil were the 3rd and
Capital Divisions, constituting the I Corps of the ROK Army, which had
advanced via the east coast road. Several days later, the ROK 6th, 7th, and 8th
Divisions (II Corps) crossed the border in central Korea, driving toward what
was later to become known as the “Iron Triangle”—the region bounded by the
three cities of Kumhwa, Ch’orwon, and P’yongyang.®* But enemy resistance did
not collapse; there was no opportunity for “immediate exploitation,” and it
became necessary to carry out the “prepared plan.”

The United Nations in a Quandary

o decide the political future of Korea was the responsibility of the United

Nations. But the pace of events during the latter half of September caught the
members of the international body unprepared, so swift had been the success of
the UN forces.

The ability of the Security Council to act decisively in June and July had been
the product of an accident—the Soviet boycott. This state of affairs ended on 1
August, when Soviet Ambassador Yakov Malik returned and took his turn as
president of the Council. His presence was felt immediately. Besides seeking to
exclude the representative of Nationalist China, he proposed to alter the agenda
so as to steer the Council into a discussion of the recognition of Communist
China and the “peaceful settlement” of the Korean question. Six weeks of incon-
clusive debate followed, until at length the Soviets vetoed a US resolution con-
demning North Korea’s continuing defiance of the United Nations, while Soviet
counterresolutions, demanding withdrawal of all foreign troops from Korea and
denouncing US aerial bombardment of North Korea, were in turn voted down.

At Mr. Malik’s request, however, the Council agreed to discuss a Chinese
Communist complaint of US “aggression” toward Taiwan. The members debated
the matter for three days, then decided to postpone further consideration until
after the middle of November and to invite a representative from Communist
China to be present at that time.™ This decision was later to prove important in
connection with Korea.

Balked in the Security Council, the United States turned to the General
Assembly, which opened its fifth regular session on 19 September. No attempt
was made, however, to stampede that body into hasty action. On 20 September
Secretary Acheson delivered what came to be known as his “Uniting for Peace”
speech, proposing various steps to enhance the effectiveness of the Assembly in
dealing with global dangers. He offered no suggestions regarding Korea except
to urge establishment of a “UN recovery force” to supervise rehabilitation.>

The broad US policy approved in NSC 81/1, encompassing military opera-
tions in North Korea and political unification of the country, proved to have con-
siderable support among other UN members. British Foreign Secretary Ernest
Bevin, for example, called for an end to the “artificial” division between North
and South Korea.>® Nor was this support limited to the countries of Western
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Europe. In a report submitted on 4 September, the UN Commission on Korea,
headed by an Indian diplomat, declared that “unification can be the only aim
regarding Korea.” Earlier, on 29 August, Secretary-General Lie’s personal repre-
sentative in Korea, Colonel! Alfred G. Katzin of the Union of South Africa, had
warned that even a brief halt at the parallel would allow the enemy to rebuild
and reequip his forces, which would “constitute a continuing military threat not
only to our own United Nations forces, but to South Korean freedom.”

Should unification be sought by military means—ordering the UN Comman-
der to enforce the UN writ throughout the length and breadth of Korea? Or
should it be pursued through negotiations, perhaps while General MacArthur’s
forces were held under restraint? These alternatives were never clearly faced by
the United Nations. The second one—unification through diplomacy—seemed
an unlikely prospect. By the end of September it appeared that, in the words of
Secretary-General Lie, UN forces had “no alternative to an advance north of the
38th parallel.” Continued assertions by the North Korean Government that the
retreat of its forces was only temporary betokened a determination eventually to
renew the invasion, and thus gave force to the warning uttered by Colonel
Katzin.’ Nevertheless, most of the UN member governments, including the
United States, sought to play down the significance of the “surveyor’s line,” and
to allow the UN Commander to be guided by tactical considerations when he
reached the parallel.

This attitude was made evident by Secretary Marshall in a message to General
MacArthur on 29 September 1950. Referring to a reported announcement by
Eighth Army that ROK divisions would halt at the parallel for “regrouping,” the
Secretary cautioned CINCEFE as follows:

We want You to feel unhampered tactically and strategically to proceed north
of 38th parallel. Announcement above referred to may precipitate embarrass-
ment in %N where evident desire is not to be confronteg with necessity of a vote
on passage of 38th parallel, rather to find you have found it militarily necessary
to do so.

General MacArthur replied the next day that he had received no confirmation
of this alleged announcement and doubted the authenticity of the report, but that
he was “cautioning Walker against any involvement connected with the nomen-
clature of the 38th parallel.” He continued in words that reflected his tendency to
interpret his authority in the broadest possible terms:

Parallel 38 is not a factor in the military employment of our forces. The logistical
supply of our units is the main problem which limits our immediate advance. In
exploiting the defeat of the enemy forces, our own trooFs may cross the parallel
at any time in exploratory probing or exploiting local tactical conditions. My
overall strategic plan for N‘Erth Korea is known to you. Unless and until the
enemy capitulates, I regard all of Korea open for our military operations.®

The General planned to set forth these views in a directive that would be
released to the public. When he informed the Joint Chiefs of Staff of this intention,
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however, they replied that it was “unwise” to issue any such statement. Instead,
he should, in accord with the Secretary’s message, proceed with his operations
“without any further explanation or announcement and let action determine the
matter. Our Government,” continued the Joint Chiefs of Staff message, “desires
to avoid having to make an issue of the 38 parallel until we have accomplished
our mission of defeating the North Korean forces.”>

A resolution intended to provide political guidance for military operations in
Korea was introduced into the General Assembly on 30 September. Although the
US delegation had helped to draft it, it was introduced by the UK representative
and jointly sponsored by seven other countries, not including the United States.
The resolution called for the establishment of “conditions of stability” through-
out Korea, with a unified government for the entire country, to be followed by
prompt withdrawal of troops. The Assembly spent a week in debate, during
which Ambassador Austin and others spoke in favor of the proposal. Opposition
came as expected from the Soviet delegate but also from the representatives of
India and Yugoslavia, both of whom challenged the resolution on the grounds
that it exceeded the original limited objective of repelling the invasion. It was
passed on 7 October 1950 by a vote of 47-5, with seven abstentions.®

As finally enacted, the key parts of this resolution lay in the following para-
graphs, in which the Assembly recommended that:

(a) All appropriate steps be taken to ensure conditions of stability throughout
Korea;

(b) All constituent acts be taken, including the holding of elections, under the
auspices of the United Nations, for the establishment of a unified independent
and democratic Government of the sovereign State of Korea;

(c) All sections and representative bodies of the population of Korea, South
and North, be invited to co-operate with the organs of the United Nations in the
restoration of peace, in the holding of elections and in the establishment of a uni-
fied Government;

(d) United Nations forces should not remain in any part of Korea otherwise
than so far as necessary for achieving the objectives specified in subparagraphs
(a) and (b) above.?!

This resolution failed to answer a number of important questions. Did “condi-
tions of stability” exist in North Korea, which had been firmly under Communist
control for five years? If not, what steps would be “appropriate” to ensure such
conditions there? The North Korean Government had repeatedly made clear that
it had no intention whatever of cooperating with the United Nations; even before
the conflict, it had forbidden UN representatives to set foot upon its soil or to
conduct elections within its territory. What reason was there to expect that it
would now accept an “invitation” to cooperate with the United Nations? If North
Korea continued its defiance, were UN forces authorized to enter the country and
enforce compliance, in order to “achieve the objectives” of the resolution?

To a degree, the ambiguity of the Assembly’s words was doubtless inten-
tional—the product of the evasive attitude expressed in the messages to General
MacArthur. But the inadequacy of the resolution also stemmed from the fact that
it was based on beliefs that were to prove erroneous: that the fighting in Korea
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was approaching its end and that there remained only a task of pacification that
could be entrusted to ROK soldiers. Secretary Acheson set forth assumptions and
intentions back of this resolution in June 1951, during the MacArthur hearings.
His statement on the subject is worth reproducing in full, as the most nearly con-
temporary explanation that is available:

After the Inch’on landing, General MacArthur called on these North Koreans to
turn in their arms and cease their efforts; that they refused to do, and they retired
into the north, and what General MacArthur’s military mission was was to pur-
sue them and round them up, as he was trying to round up that part of their
army which remained in the south; and, as I said many times, we had the highest
hopes that when you did that the whole of Korea would be united. That did not
come to pass, because the Chinese intervened. ... Our hope was that the round-
ing up, or the surrender of the forces which started this aggression, would result
in the carrying out of the UN resolution of the 7th of October, which was to hold
elections in the north and, under the United Nations aegis, try and bring that
whole country together. .. . [If the Chinese Communists had not intervened rforce
would have been used to round up those people who were putting on the
aggression. We were unifying it as a result of the request of the Koreans, and it
woud be through elections, and that sort of thing.*

Had the position of UN Commander been held by an officer thoroughly
attuned to the spirit and the letter of the administration’s decisions (as General
Ridgway was later to show himself to be), all might have been well. As it was,
General MacArthur, in Secretary Acheson’s words, “at once stripped from the res-
olution of October 7 its husk of ambivalence and gave it an interpretation that the
enacting majority in the General Assembly would not have accepted.”®* He read it
as assigning him the task of unifying Korea. “My mission,” he said, during the
Senate hearings on his removal from office, “was to clear out all North Korea, to
unify it and to liberalize it.”** In fact, this interpretation, however incorrect in the
minds of those who voted for the UN resolution, could hardly be dismissed as far-
fetched. The preamble of the resolution cited earlier ones of 1947, 1948, and 1949
calling for the unification of Korea and drew attention to the fact that this goal had
not yet been attained. Reading these provisions along with the vaguely worded
operative portion of the resolution, General MacArthur could readily conclude
that the Assembly meant for him to impose unity on Korea by the sword.

At the request of the Department of State, the Joint Chiefs of Staff had for-
warded the text of the resolution to CINCFE while it was under discussion in the
Assembly. They informed him that it provided “general overall guidance” but
that it was not to be construed as a directive. In the view of the US Government,
they continued, the resolution provided support for operations north of the par-
allel and thus reinforced the authority implicit in the Security Council resolution
of 27 June. As soon as he was notified of final approval of the resolution, he was
to transmit its text to the North Korean authorities, calling on them to lay down
their arms, in accord with his message of 1 October, and to cooperate with the
United Nations in establishing a unified, democratic government.®®

Shortly before the Assembly completed action on the resolution, the Joint
Chiefs of Staff learned that their British colleagues entertained doubts about the
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wisdom of crossing the parallel. On 5 October 1950 Lord Tedder, the principal
British military representative in Washington, informed General Bradley of cer-
tain conclusions reached by the British Chiefs of Staff after consultation with the
Foreign Office. The principal objective, in the British view, should be to localize
the war in Korea and avoid a protracted involvement. To send UN forces into
North Korea at that moment was unnecessary and might extend and aggravate
the conflict. The British Chiefs of Staff recommended that UN forces (other than
those of the Republic of Korea) halt at the 38th parallel for a specified period of a
week or two, and issue a warning that they would invade North Korea unless
that country’s forces surrendered.*

General Bradley passed these recommendations to the other JCS members,
while informing Lord Tedder that “this is just about what we are doing.”®” At
that moment, no forces except those of the ROK Army had crossed the line, and
General MacArthur’s broadcast to the enemy on 1 October, calling on him to sub-
mit, might be regarded as serving the purposes of the warning recommended by
the British Chiefs of Staff.

On 9 October 1950, General MacArthur, as directed by the Joint Chiefs of Staff,
disseminated by radio and leaflet the text of the resolution of 7 October. He
accompanied it with a final warning to enemy forces to cease resistance “in what-
ever part of Korea situated.” Premier Kim Il Sung replied the following day in a
defiant message to his troops ordering them to fight to the end.*

General MacArthur had anticipated this rejection and had already put into
effect the invasion plans that he had outlined to the Joint Chiefs of Staff. The 1st
Cavalry Division, which was to form the spearhead of the advance on
P’yongyang, sent patrols across the border on 7 and 8 October. The full invasion
began on 9 October, undertaken by the 1st Cavalry and 24th Infantry Divisions,
in concert with the ROK 1st Division and the 27th British Brigade. At the same
time, the 1st Marine Division began loading at Inch’on for the attack on Wonsan.
On 11 October, however, Wonsan was seized by the rapidly advancing forces of
the ROK Army, five divisions of which were already well into central and eastern
North Korea.®

The resistance initially encountered by US forces demonstrated that the
enemy had lost neither his will nor his ability to fight. The 1st Cavalry Division
spent five days capturing Kumch’on, the first important town on the main Seoul-
P’yongyang route. With its fall, however, enemy front lines ceased to exist. Thus
the middle of October found the 1st Cavalry Division poised for a dash toward
P'yongyang, with the 24th Division advancing on its left and the 1st ROK Divi-
sion on its right.”

Danger along the Borders

rospects now looked highly promising for the forces of the United Nations
Command. It appeared that only scattered and ineffectual North Korean
troops stood in the way of their advance to the uttermost reaches of the country.
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But already there were disturbing warnings of a possible new element in the situ-
ation—one that, within a few weeks, was to throw the war into yet another shat-
tering reversal.

From the beginning of hostilities in Korea, the United States had faced the
ominous possibility that either or both of North Korea’s powerful Communist
neighbors might come to her aid. Soviet Russia’s intervention seemed the more
probable, and at the same time more potentially disastrous. Very early in the cri-
sis, the possibility of Soviet intervention was faced by the National Security
Council. In response to a decision of the Council on 28 June,”' the Joint Chiefs of
Staff studied the matter, and decided that, if major Soviet units entered the fight
or appeared likely to do so, the United States should minimize its commitment in
Korea and prepare for general war. The JCS views were circulated to the Council
and referred to the NSC Staff, where they were pigeonholed.”

When the Joint Chiefs of Staff first authorized General MacArthur to conduct
air and naval operations north of the 38th parallel, they specified that “special
care will be taken to insure that operations in North Korea stay well clear of the
frontiers of Manchuria or the Soviet Union.”” Not content with the issuance of
this general directive, the Department of State sought and obtained an additional
precaution. The Secretary of the Air Force instructed the Commanding General,
Far East Air Force, to make certain that all pilots were briefed to comply with the
JCS instructions.”

Although Secretary Acheson hoped to avoid provocative incidents, he recog-
nized the need for careful reconnaissance of the Korean borders to ascertain the
extent of Chinese or Soviet aid to North Korea. On 27 July 1950 he recommended
to the National Security Council that aerial surveillance, conducted from as far
south as possible, be undertaken up to the Yalu River in northwestern Korea and
up to, but short of, the Soviet boundary in the northeast. This suggestion was
approved by the Council, and the Joint Chiefs of Staff so instructed CINCFE on 5
August 1950.7%

Instructions from Washington, no matter how carefully drafted, could not
wholly prevent border violations. On 28 August 1950 Communist China broad-
cast a complaint that US aircraft had attacked targets in Manchuria. The Soviet
Union formally protested, on behalf of China, to the UN Security Council.” The
Joint Chiefs of Staff at once informed CINCFE that all US aircraft must “exercise
particular caution not to violate Soviet or Chinese territory or territorial waters.””
Subsequent investigation by the UN Command revealed that two US fighter air-
craft had in fact strayed across the Yalu and strafed an airstrip near Antung.”

The desire of the administration to avoid such incidents was evident in the
conduct of the strategic bombing campaign against North Korea that took place
during August and September. Of the few North Korean industrial targets worth
attacking, most were near P’yongyang or else in the far northeast, not far from
the Soviet border. On 31 July 1950 the Joint Chiefs of staff told General
MacArthur that they considered it “highly desirable” to undertake air operations
against certain specified industrial facilities in North Korea: munitions and chem-
ical plants, petroleum production and storage facilities, and railroad shops and
yards. Later, on 15 August, they enlarged the list of targets but specified that the
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population in nearby cities must receive advance warning in each instance.
“Dummy” warnings should also be given to other areas, so as to avoid pinpoint-
ing specific objectives.”

Among the operations carried out by Far East Air Forces under these JCS
directives was an attack on a petroleum storage plant at Najin (Rashin), a port
within 17 miles of the Soviet border, which was bombed on 12 August.® When
the news of this raid reached Washington, the Department of State objected
strongly. Deputy Undersecretary Matthews called Major General Burns, in Secre-
tary Johnson's office, and told him that the attack violated the JCS instructions
against approaching the borders too closely. Secretary Johnson and General
Bradley believed that the margin of distance was ample and that Rashin was a
valid military target. The matter was carried to the President, who after some dis-
cussion, upheld his military advisors.#!

Another border incident several weeks later, however, placed a different light
on the matter. On 4 September 1950, US Navy fighters on combat air patrol over
the Seventh Fleet, in the Yellow Sea, shot down an aircraft that had flown into the
formation and opened fire on them. A US destroyer recovered the body of one of
the crew members, who turned out to be a Soviet officer.*?

It was therefore at a somewhat inappropriate moment when, on 7 September,
immediately after an NSC meeting, General Bradley and Secretary Johnson
raised with President Truman the question of bombing Rashin again. They
pointed out that most Soviet tanks for North Korea were shipped through Rashin
and that approximately one-quarter of North Korea’s oil supplies were stored
there. They asked the President’s approval for daylight raids on marshalling
yards and other installations. Secretary Acheson, whom President Truman con-
sulted, expressed fear of a violent Soviet reaction even if there were no actual vio-
lation of the border. Such a reaction was the more likely in view of the unfortu-
nate incident in the Yellow Sea three days earlier. The President expressed
“considerable worry” over the proposed bombing and asked that the matter be
reviewed thoroughly by officials of State and Defense.®

The Joint Chiefs of Staff accordingly instructed General MacArthur that no
further attacks were to be made on Rashin “at present,” owing to the tension
caused by the destruction of the Soviet aircraft and the recent Manchurian border
violation. They asked his views and were told that he concurred and that he had
promulgated instructions accordingly.®

Secretary Acheson elaborated on his views in a memorandum to the President
that showed how gravely he viewed the proposal to attack Rashin. “It is our
understanding,” he wrote, “that the present policy of the United States, both mil-
itary and political, is directed toward a localization of the conflict in Korea and
the avoidance of any unnecessary extension of hostilities or the outbreak of a
general war. If there is any lack of agreement on this point, it should be clarified
without delay.” The bombing of Rashin must be assessed in the light of its possi-
ble effects on this policy. Such an action involved “serious risks.” CINCFE had
been warned to stay “well clear” of the Soviet and Manchurian frontiers—not
merely to avoid violating them. Soviet leaders had an “almost pathological sensi-
tivity” regarding their borders, especially in the Far East and around Vladivostok.
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They might react to a bombing of Rashin by an overt attack on the US aircraft, by
reoccupying North Korea, or by placing strategic bombers at North Korea’s dis-
posal. In short, the bombing of Rashin “runs the pressing danger of causing the
Soviet Union to react in the very way we wish to avoid.” Hence, before such
action was taken, the specific military advantages must be “carefully weighed
against the risk of the grave political and military consequences outlined
above.”#

Secretary Acheson handed this memorandum to the President on 11 Septem-
ber and briefly discussed it with him. The President, he found, was “inclined
strongly toward our point of view and believes that General Bradley is pretty
much of that mind.”%

It does not appear that the proposal was pressed further. In any event, the
issue disappeared with the military collapse of North Korea, which ended the
strategic bombing campaign. On 26 September the Joint Chiefs of Staff directed
that FEAF be employed only against tactical objectives.®

Shortly thereafter, however, came another mishap, potentially the most dan-
gerous of all. On 8 October, according to the Soviet Government, two US aircraft
crossed into Siberia and strafed an airfield some 60 miles north of the border.®® As
with the earlier Manchurian incident, the Joint Chiefs of Staff acted at once, with-
out awaiting confirmation of the Soviet charge. On 10 October they instructed
General MacArthur to take “appropriate action” to ensure that subordinate eche-
lons complied with their directives of 29 June and 28 August.® On the following
day, at the request of the Department of State, they directed CINCFE to investigate
the matter.”® This investigation showed that the Soviet accusation was justified.”
Ambassador Austin formally apologized before the UN Security Council and
announced that the United States was willing to pay for the damage inflicted.”

As a result of this episode, the Department of State suggested that a precise
northern boundary be established for the operations of US aircraft—perhaps lati-
tude 39° 30" north, the limit laid down for the blockade. The question was passed
to the Joint Chiefs of Staff, who told the Secretary of Defense on 1 November that
any such limitation was infeasible. Air interdiction operations and aerial recon-
naissance had to be conducted contiguous to Korea’s boundaries; moreover, UN
troops were advancing toward the borders and would need air and naval support.
They believed that General MacArthur was fully aware of the imperative need to
avoid further violations. These conclusions were sent to the Department of State
with the endorsement of the Secretary of Defense, and the matter was dropped.*

It seemed that neither Soviet Russia nor Communist China was likely to be
goaded into hostilities by accidental border crossings. But as time went on, the
prospect of eventual Chinese intervention began to loom larger. At first such
action did not seem probable, although it was by no means impossible. The Joint
Intelligence Committee estimated on 6 July 1950 that there were 565,000 troops in
Manchuria (of whom 70,000 were Koreans), plus 210,000 more farther south,
around Peking and Tientsin. Many of these would be needed at home to main-
tain internal security, but some at least could be spared for Korea.” The Military
Intelligence Section of the Far East Command essentially agreed with this
appraisal, though giving a smaller estimate of the size of the forces available:
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489,000 in Manchuria (115,000 regulars and the rest local militia), and 176,000
regulars in North China.*

Public statements by Chinese officials and radio propaganda broadcasts from
China were scrutinized for clues to the intentions of Mao Tse-Tung and his col-
leagues. During July and most of August this evidence, so far as it went, sug-
gested that Communist China had relatively little interest in the Korean situa-
tion and was far more concerned about Taiwan. A change took place after the
middle of August—significantly, about the time of Ambassador Austin’s state-
ments to the UN Security Council about the unification of Korea. After the suc-
cess of the Inch’on landing, Chinese anxiety over the trend of events became still
more apparent.®

At the same time, additional troops were reported to be moving into
Manchuria. The Military Intelligence Section of FECOM estimated that the num-
ber of regular troops there had risen to 246,000 by 31 August and to 450,000 by 21
September.”” Part of this movement could be attributed to the return of the
Fourth Field Army to its permanent stations in the north, following its successful
1945 campaign against the Nationalists. But units not known to constitute part of
that Army were also involved.”* And now US intelligence agencies began to
receive specific reports either that Communist China’s rulers had decided to
intervene if necessary to save North Korea from defeat, or that Chinese troops
had in fact already moved into Korea.”

The overall appraisal of this intelligence in Washington was that Chinese
intervention was “improbable,” unless the Soviet Union had decided to risk all-
out war.1% Nevertheless the administration acted to head off any Chinese partici-
pation. The Government of India was asked to transmit a message to Communist
China’s rulers that it would be in their best interests not to interfere in Korea.
After delivering this message, the Indian Ambassador in Peking, K. M. Panikkar,
reported that Communist China’s direct participation in the Korean conflict
appeared “beyond the range of possibility.” 10!

President Truman, in a speech on 1 September 1950 that has been cited above,
sought to prevent any widening of the conflict. “We hope in particular,” he said,
“that the people of China will not be misled or forced into fighting against the
United Nations and against the American people.... The Communist imperial-
ists are the only ones who can gain if China moves into this fight.” He added that
“We do not want Formosa or any part of Asia for ourselves.”

The President’s attempt to reassure the rulers of Communist China was ren-
dered more difficult by certain ill-considered contemporary public statements by
high-ranking US military officials. For example, General MacArthur, following a
visit to Taiwan to discuss its defense with Chinese Nationalist leaders, had sent a
message to the annual convention of the Veterans of Foreign Wars, which, in
some of its passages, could be interpreted as implying a US intention to occupy
the island. This message had been released to the public on 25 August 1950.1%
On the same day, Secretary of the Navy Francis Matthews made a speech in
which he suggested that the United States initiate a war “to compel cooperation
for peace.” Less than a week later, Major General Orvil A. Anderson, USAF,
Commandant of the Air War College, asserted in a lecture that the United States
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was already at war and boasted that he could “break up Russia’s five A-bomb
nests in a week.”1%

During the weeks that followed the President’s speech, warnings of prospec-
tive Chinese intervention became more authoritative. Ambassador Panikkar of
India was twice used by the Chinese Government as a channel to transmit mes-
sages to this effect. On 25 September he was told by General Nieh Yen-Jung,
China’s Acting Chief of Staff, that China would not “sit back with folded hands
and let the Americans come up to their border.”'% A week later, Mr. Panikkar
was summoned to the residence of Premier Chou En-Lai, who informed him
emphatically that Communist China would intervene if US troops crossed the
parallel (but not if those of the Republic of Korea did so alone). The Ambassador
immediately reported this interview to his government. On the following day, he
notified the diplomatic representatives of the United Kingdom and Burma.!%

Through British channels, this indirect warning from Premier Chou En-lai
reached Washington early on the morning of 3 October.!’” The Department of
State passed it on to Secretary Marshall,'® while the Department of the Army
notified General MacArthur.'® But it was not accepted with the finality that, in
the light of subsequent events, should have been accorded it. President Truman,
having observed that Ambassador Panikkar had “played the game of the Chi-
nese Communists fairly regularly,” thought that Chou’s statement might be
intended as propaganda or as a bluff to keep the General Assembly from approv-
ing the pending resolution on Korea."? Secretary Acheson thought that it was
probably part of a joint Soviet-Chinese diplomatic effort to save the North
Korean regime and to bring about withdrawal of UN forces.!"! Both he and the
President were doubtless influenced by the Central Intelligence Agency, which
issued several reports suggesting that Chou’s statement was merely part of a war
of words."?

Nevertheless additional preparations were made in Washington to cope with
possible Chinese action. On 9 October the Joint Chiefs of Staff, with President
Truman'’s approval, sent General MacArthur instructions to be applicable in case
of “open or covert employment anywhere in Korea of major Chinese Communist
units.” He was told to continue action as long as there seemed a “reasonable
chance of success,” and to undertake no actions against objectives within China
unless he had received prior authorization from Washington.!!3

President Truman remained uneasy and instructed the CIA to provide a care-
ful assessment of Soviet and Chinese intentions with regard to Korea and to
other parts of Asia. The CIA reply, submitted on 12 October, bore the concurrence
of the intelligence organizations of the Military Services and the Department of
State. It reaffirmed earlier assessments by the Agency that China probably would
not intervene, since the disadvantages of participation, from a Chinese view-
point, appeared to outweigh the advantages. The conclusion was:

While full-scale Chinese Communist intervention in Korea must be regarded
as a continuing possibility, a consideration of all known factors leads to the con-
clusion that barring a Soviet decision for global war, such action is not probable
in 1950. During this period, intervention will probably be confined to continued
covert assistance to the North Koreans."*
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This conclusion was evidently accepted by the administration. Nor was it
challenged in Tokyo. The FECOM Daily Intelligence Summary for 15 October,
while pointing out that China had nine armies, totaling 38 divisions, in
Manchuria, characterized recent threats of intervention in Korea as “probably in
a category of diplomatic blackmail.” It added the conclusion, however, that anal-
ysis of the intentions of the governments of Soviet Russia and Communist China
was properly a responsibility of Washington.!!®

What should the United States do if the estimates of probability were not
borne out and the Chinese did intervene? The administration had not faced this
question, but in the minds of JCS members, the answer was clear. “We all agree
that if the Chinese Communists come into Korea, we get out,” said General
Bradley on 23 October 1950, during a meeting of the US and British Chiefs of
Staff. 1o

The Wake Island Conference

he possibility of Chinese intervention in Korea was one of several reasons

that impelled President Truman to hold a face-to-face meeting with his Far
East Commander in mid-October 1950. The President wanted the benefit of the
General’s “firsthand information and judgment” on the many reports and
rumors. But he also had broader considerations in mind. He hoped that he could
have better success than some of his emissaries in conveying an understanding of
the foreign policy of his administration. He was convinced that some of his prob-
lems with General MacArthur stemmed from the fact that the General, having
lived in the Orient for almost fourteen years, “had lost some of his contacts with
the country and its people.”!"”

The President did not wish to ask General MacArthur to leave his command
long enough to undertake a trip to the United States. With the General’s concur-
rence, he selected Wake Island, some 2,000 miles from Tokyo in the western
Pacific, as the locale.!s

The President at first wanted all the JCS members to accompany him to Wake
Island, but they demurred on the grounds that it would be inadvisable for them
to be absent from Washington at the same time. General Bradley was therefore
chosen as their representative in the President’s party." Others in the group
included Assistant Secretary of State Dean Rusk; Secretary of the Army Frank
Pace; W. Averell Harriman, Special Assistant to the President; and Ambassador-
at-Large Philip C. Jessup. Ambassador Muccio also attended the conference, as
did Admiral Arthur W. Radford, Commander in Chief of the Pacific Fleet.'?

The meeting took place on Sunday morning, 15 October. When the President’s
aircraft landed at Wake Island about 0630, he found General MacArthur awaiting
him, and the two men at once went into a private conference lasting about an
hour. According to the President’s account, they discussed the situation in both
Korea and Japan. The General gave assurance that the Korean conflict was
already won and that Chinese intervention was unlikely. When President
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Truman mentioned his plans for Europe, General MacArthur expressed the belief
that a division could be moved from Korea to Europe by January. The entire con-
versation was cordial—"much more so than I had expected,” as Mr. Truman
wrote later.'?!

The President and the General then adjourned to another building for a larger
conference with their military and diplomatic advisors. No official transcript of
this meeting was kept, but a memorandum prepared later, based on notes taken
by General Bradley and others, indicates the substance of the discussion.??

President Truman opened the conference with a question about the prospects
for rehabilitating Korea. General MacArthur replied that military operations
must be completed first and went on to summarize the military situation. “I
believe that formal resistance will end throughout North and South Korea by
Thanksgiving,” he said. The 15,000 enemy troops remaining in the south would
be mopped up or destroyed by the approaching winter. North Korea, he contin-
ued, was “pursuing a forlorn hope,” using about 100,000 poorly trained replace-
ments who “are only fighting to save face.” He believed that, with the impending
capture of P'yongyang, most of the remaining enemy troops would be trapped
and the war ended.

“It is my hope,” went on General MacArthur, “to be able to withdraw the
Eighth Army to Japan by Christmas.” He proposed to leave the 2d and 3d US
Divisions, plus UN detachments, as an occupation force, but he hoped that elec-
tions could be held as soon as possible and the occupying troops withdrawn.
“Nothing is gained by military occupation,” he said. “All occupations are fail-
ures.” A ten-division ROK Army, supplied with US equipment, plus a “small but
competent” Navy and Air Force, could “secure Korea” and constitute a “tremen-
dous deterrent” to an attack by Communist China. As for rehabilitation, he
believed that the Korean economy could not absorb more than $150 million
annually, and that several years of expenditure at that level would make the
country self-sustaining. Ambassador Muccio concurred in these estimates.

The conferees moved into an extended discussion of rehabilitation, until Pres-
ident Truman brought them back to military matters by asking the question that
had been largely responsible for his journey halfway around the world. “What
are the chances for Chinese or Soviet interference?” he inquired of the Far East
Commander.

General MacArthur’s answer discounted the prospect of Chinese interven-
tion and indicated a low assessment of the capabilities of that country. Accord-
ing to the memorandum account of the meeting, the substance of his reply was
as follows:

Very little. Had they interfered in the first or second months it would have
been decisive. We are no longer fearful of their intervention. We no longer stand
hat in hand. The Chinese have 300,000 men in Manchuria. Of these probably not
more than 100/125,000 are distributed along the Yalu River. Ongf 50/60,000
could be gotten across the Yalu River. They have no Air Force. Now that we have
bases for our Air Force in Korea, if the Chinese tried to get down to Pyongyang
there would be the greatest slaughter.!?
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The General then dealt with Soviet Russia’s probable actions. The Soviets, he
said, had available some 1,300 aircraft, which were “probably no match for our
Air Force.” There were no Soviet troops readily available for Korea; it would take
them six weeks to put troops into that country, “and six weeks brings the win-
ter.” Soviet air support of Chinese ground forces was possible but was unlikely to
be effective, since air-ground coordination required intensive training.

The conversation swung to a possible Japanese peace treaty, which General
MacArthur heartily favored. In this connection, he touched on the prospective
return of the Eighth Army to Japan. General Bradley, noting a need for troops to
be sent to Europe, asked if the 2d and 3d Divisions could be made available for
this purpose by January. General MacArthur replied in the affirmative and rec-
ommended the 2d, as being better trained.

Other Asian problems were then discussed, including the situation in Indochina
and the possibility of cooperative regional defense. The subject of Taiwan came up
briefly; the President remarked that there was no need to discuss it, since he and
the General had “talked fully” about it and were “in complete agreement.”!24

General Bradley asked the Far East Commander about the value of UN troop
contingents. Should the United States, he wondered, continue to underwrite the
costs of those that had not yet arrived, with the end of the war approaching?
“They are useless from the military point of view and probably would never see
action,” was General MacArthur’s reply. “From the political point of view, they
give a United Nations flavor. I think that the balance between these two consider-
ations should be struck in Washington. I cannot do it.”

Assistant Secretary Rusk commented upon an informal suggestion put forth
by the Indian Government that Indian and Pakistani troops be stationed along
Korea’s northern frontiers. General MacArthur replied that such a step would be
“indefensible from a military point of view.” He planned to use South Korean
troops to form a buffer, he said, and to pull back all other forces “south of a line
from 20 miles north of P'yongyang to Hamhung.”

The formal conference ended at 0912, but informal discussions among the par-
ticipants continued for another hour and a half. In the course of these discus-
sions, Assistant Secretary Rusk mentioned to General MacArthur the fact that the
Chinese Communists had threatened to enter the war if UN forces crossed the
parallel. The General confessed himself puzzled that the Chinese leaders should
have “gone out on such a limb,” and remarked that they “must be greatly embar-
rassed by the predicament in which they now find themselves.”'? Finally, the
President awarded another Distinguished Service Medal to General MacArthur;
then all the conferees departed.

On the conclusion of the conference, President Truman believed that it had
served its purpose. He released a statement that it had been “highly satisfactory”
and that “very complete unanimity of view” had prevailed.’* But the under-
standing achieved at Wake Island was short lived, as the events of the next few
months were to show. There had been no discussion of basic US and UN policy
objectives in Korea, and thus no opportunity to reach a real meeting of the minds
between the President and the General—or, alternatively, to bring into the open
their disagreement. Such discussion did not take place because there seemed no
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need for it. President Truman had been assured by the theater commander that
the war would probably end soon and that Communist China was not likely to
make trouble—two of the assumptions underlying the UN resolution of 7 Octo-
ber. On his part, General MacArthur could feel that he had a clear-cut mission
assigned him by higher authority; he had no reason to doubt that his interpreta-
tion was shared by Washington.

Curtailment of the UN Military Effort

lans to shift from war to peace were under way in Washington even before

the Wake Island conference. On 4 October 1950 the Joint Chiefs of Staff, at the
suggestion of General Collins, directed the Joint Strategic Plans Committee to
prepare a plan for redeploying US forces from Korea, together with recommen-
dations concerning the future size of the ROK Army.'?

JCS redeployment planning quickly revealed a disagreement between General
Bradley and General MacArthur regarding what had been said at the recent con-
ference. On 20 October 1950 the Joint Chiefs of Staff told CINCFE that they
planned to withdraw the 2d and 3d Divisions from the Far East as soon as practi-
cable. They particularly desired the 2d Division to be made available in time to
reach Europe by the end of 1950.'® General MacArthur, in reply, protested that he
was planning to retain the 3d Division in Korea for occupation purposes, at least
until elections could be held, and had so indicated at Wake Island. “I was under
the impression that this proposal had received the approval of all concerned,” he
told the Joint Chiefs of Staff. “I resubmit it at this time for your consideration.”*?

The matter remained unsettled until General Bolte visited Tokyo in late Octo-
ber. After discussions with General MacArthur, he recommended that the 3d
Division be left in Korea as an occupation force until 1 May 1951, if necessary but
not beyond that date.* The Joint Chiefs of Staff approved this suggestion but
instructed General MacArthur to make the 2d Division ready for departure from
the theater on sixty days’ notice.?!

The Joint Chiefs of Staff also revised downward their estimates of troop
requirements from other countries. On 25 October they approved, with minor
changes, a proposal by General Collins, which was intended to reduce the logis-
tic burden on the United States while retaining the political advantages of an
international force. Under this plan, the French, Belgian, Netherlands, and Philip-
pine infantry units and the New Zealand artillery battalion would be dropped.
The Canadian and Greek forces would be reduced to a single battalion apiece.
The Australian and Turkish contingents (already in Korea) and the Indian and
Swedish hospital units would still be required, as would the UK 29th Brigade,
then en route from Europe, which, on arrival, would release the 27th Brigade.
The Thai force would be reduced from a regiment to a battalion, which was also
on its way. Efforts to obtain Latin American contingents would be discontinued.
These adjustments would leave CINCUNC a ground force of approximately
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16,760 men from countries other than the United States and the Republic of
Korea, instead of the 36,400 previously envisioned.!®

Secretary Marshall transmitted the JCS recommendations to the Secretary of
State on 2 November, disagreeing only in one particular. He had been informed
by Secretary Pace that negotiations with Colombia had proceeded so far that the
cancellation of that country’s offer would be “mutually embarrassing.” Subject to
this exception, he asked that the Department of State approach the countries
affected by the JCS proposals.'®

Heading for the Yalu

1l through these developments, the war in Korea continued to go well for the

UN Command. The US 1st Cavalry and 24th Infantry Divisions (supported
by British and Australian forces now combined into the 27th British Common-
wealth Brigade), drove northwestward toward P’yongyang and its port, Chin-
namp’o. At the same time, four divisions of the ROK Army converged on
P’yongyang from the east and southeast. Both US and ROK troops entered the
capital on 19 October. The surviving enemy forces withdrew northward just
ahead of the paratroopers of the 187th Airborne RCT, who dropped down at
Sukch’on and Sunch’on, some 25 miles north of P’'yongyang, in a vain effort to
trap the fleeing foe. The North Korean Government fled first to Sinuiju, near the
mouth of the Yalu, then to Kanggye, in the mountain fastnesses of central Korea.
The X Corps played no part in these events; its units were afloat off Wonsan, hav-
ing found it impossible to land because the harbor had been thoroughly mined.!3

The next stage in the advance of the UN forces had been planned even before
P’'yongyang fell. CINCFE Operation Order No. 4, dated 17 October 1950, estab-
lished a new objective line, beginning at Sonch’on on the west coast, then curving
northwestward in an arc to Songjin in the east.’® It ran roughly parallel to the
northernmost boundary of Korea, approaching it in some places within 45 miles,
and was approximately 30 miles north of the Ch’ongju-Hamhung line laid down
in the plan of 28 September as the limit of advance for non-ROK troops. This ear-
lier restriction was now removed; all UN forces could advance freely up to the
new objective line, beyond which, however only ROK troops would operate
“except on direct orders of CINCUNC.” The X Corps was to continue indepen-
dent of Eighth Army and was to confine its operations to the east of a line run-
ning generally through central Korea north almost to the Manchurian border.
(See Map 4. )1%

Since this new plan still imposed restriction on the operations of non-Korean
forces near the borders of the country, General MacArthur could perhaps main-
tain that he was acting within the letter of the JCS instructions of 27 September.
But it hardly conformed with the administration’s interpretation of the UN reso-
lution of 7 October, according to which the task of pacifying the far northern part
of the country, beyond the narrow “waist,” was to be left to ROK troops. More-
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over, in promulgating the new order, General MacArthur unilaterally introduced
changes into a plan that had received the formal approval of his superiors. As
General Collins later remarked, “This was the first, but not the last, stretching of
MacArthur’s orders beyond JCS instructions.”'® The Joint Chiefs of Staff
expressed no concern, however, over the prospect of a closer approach of US
troops toward Chinese soil, nor did they record any comments regarding the con-
tinuing separation between Eighth Army and X Corps.

Two days later, General MacArthur gave further evidence of the latitude that
he allowed himself. Ordering the new plan to be executed at 1200 on 20 October,
he directed that “all concerned” make a “maximum effort” to seize the objective
line rapidly and be “prepared for continued rapid advance to the border of North
Korea.” '3 The implication was that US troops would be free to march right up to
the Yalu River. Again the Joint Chiefs of Staff made no protest.

Another message from CINCFE on 24 October, however, stirred the Joint
Chiefs of Staff into action. By this time, the Eighth Army, fresh from the capture
of P'yongyang, had pushed bridgeheads across the Ch’ongch’on River in north-
western Korea, en route to the objective line specified in the operation order of 17
October.’ General MacArthur now removed the restrictions on the advance of
US troops that he had laid down in that order—restrictions that, he said, had
been based on the assumption that the enemy would capitulate. Eighth Army
and X Corps were “authorized to use any and all ground forces ... as necessary
to secure all of North Korea.” However, it was added, non-Korean forces “should
be withdrawn from border areas as feasible and replaced by ROK units.” The
objective line in Operation Order No. 4 was to be considered only as an “initial
objective.” Commanders were “enjoined to drive forward with all speed and
with the full utilization of all their force.”140

When this message reached the Joint Chiefs of Staff, they at once reminded
CINCEE of their directive of 27 September, which had specified that only South
Korean forces would operate “in the northeast province bordering the Soviet
Union or in the area along the Manchurian border.” While expressing confidence
that he had “sound reasons” for his latest message, they asked to be informed
what these were, as his action was “a matter of some concern here.” 41

General MacArthur replied that his instructions had been “a matter of military
necessity.” The ROK forces, he explained, were not strong enough to secure North
Korea by themselves, and their commanders were often highly emotional and
unreliable. He had not violated orders, inasmuch as the relevant portion of the
JCS directive of 27 September had been characterized in that document as merely
“a matter of policy.” Moreover, he continued, the same directive had specified that
its provisions “cannot be considered to be final since they may require modifica-
tion” (although obviously, modification would be the prerogative of the authority
who issued the directive, not of the recipient). He found further justification in
Secretary Marshall’s instructions that he was to “feel unhampered tactically and
strategically to proceed north of 38th parallel.” In fact, the Secretary had intended
in this message only to induce the US Commander to cross the parallel with as lit-
tle noise and delay as possible, but General MacArthur read it as granting him
complete freedom to operate inside enemy territory.
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Even while straining the interpretation of his orders, General MacArthur
assured the Joint Chiefs of Staff that he was “fully cognizant of the basic purpose
and intent” of their directive of 27 September and that “every possible precaution
is being taken in the premises.” However, he continued, any course of action
other than the one he had chosen might produce “tactical hazards.” There was a
touch of asperity in his conclusion: “This entire subject was covered in my con-
ference at Wake Island.” 142

The General had by now sown the seeds of distrust in the minds of his mili-
tary as well as his civilian superiors. The Joint Chiefs of Staff apparently accepted
his defense of his latest action; at any rate, they did not countermand his order.
But six months later, General Collins cited this incident as the first instance in
which General MacArthur violated a JCS directive. As he said:

I think this was one indication among many others which certainly have been
clear, that General MacArthur was not in consonance with . . . basic policies . . . [it]
led us gradually to fear that just as he violated a policy in this case without con-
sulting us, perhaps the thing might be done in some other instance of a more
serious nature.3

Another contemporary incident also reflected the divergent outlook between
General MacArthur and those in Washington. The Department of State, having
been warned by the CIA that Communist China might send forces across the
Yalu to protect the Suiho hydroelectric plant near Sinuiju, asked that General
MacArthur send assurance to the UN Security Council that his command had no
intention of interfering with the operations of the plant or of altering the distribu-
tion of its output. On 21 October the Joint Chiefs of Staff “authorized” CINCFE to
take the action. The General, however, declined to issue any statement on the
subject. He had no intention, he said, of interfering with any peaceful use of elec-
tric power on the border, but he nonetheless refused to commit the UN Com-
mand until he could assure himself that the output from the Suiho plant was not
being used to manufacture munitions.!#

Despite these evidences of disharmony, it appeared that the end of October
might see the Korean conflict ended for all practical purposes. In Washington,
during the last few days of the month, the Joint Chiefs of Staff completed action
on a directive to govern the occupation of North Korea long enough to ensure the
establishment of a United Korean Republic. After being modified in the light of
General MacArthur’s comments and approved by the President, this directive
was dispatched to CINCFE on 29 October.#> But already events were in the mak-
ing that were to impart an entirely new impetus to the war.

Enter a New Enemy

For the final advance to the border of Korea with “all speed,” General Walker
selected the 24th Infantry Division and the 27th British Commonwealth
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Brigade to constitute the left wing, operating along the coast. Farther inland
would be the ROK 1st and 7th Divisions, under command of US I Corps. The
ROK II Corps (6th and 8th Divisions) would advance on the extreme right. Little
organized opposition was expected, and the UN forces were split into columns,
each of which was instructed to drive for the boundary as rapidly as possible.
The US 1st Cavalry Division remained behind to garrison P'yongyang.

The ROK 6th Division was the first to encounter trouble. On 25 October its 2d
Regiment ran into sizable forces at Onjong, 15 miles northwest of the
Ch’ongch’on River. In subsequent fighting on 25 to 26 October, the regiment was
destroyed as an effective force. Within the next few days, four other ROK regi-
ments were attacked and routed in the same area, including one that had reached
the border at Ch’osan but had to be recalled.

The US and British forces also met some opposition but fared better. The 21st
Regiment of the 24th Division, after passing through Sonch’on—the western ter-
minus of the objective line in Operation Order No. 4—reached Chonggo-dong, 18
air miles from Sinuiju, on 1 November. This was the farthest advance achieved
by any US element operating with Eighth Army.

Despite gains on the left, the overall situation of Eighth Army was somewhat
precarious at the end of October. The remnants of ROK II Corps had fallen back
below the Ch’ongch’on, leaving the ROK 1st Division, which was holding on at
Unsan (near Onjong), occupying an exposed salient in the center of the front.
General Walker had brought up the 1st Cavalry Division and had used its 8th
Regiment to reinforce the ROKs at Unsan. From farther south, the 2d Division,
which (with the 25th Division) had been fighting guerrillas and guarding com-
munications below the parallel, was hurrying northward to plug a gap that had
opened between US I Corps and the badly mauled ROK units on its right.!4

On the other side of the peninsula, separated from Eighth Army by as much
as fifty miles of desolate country, the ROK I Corps had been moving steadily
northward through the rugged terrain of the Taebaek mountains, the highest in
Korea. The Capital Division captured Hamhung and its port, Hungnam, on 17
October, then swung northeastward along the coast and seized Songjin
(Kimch’aek), the eastern anchor of General MacArthur’s objective line, on 28
October. The 3d ROK Division moved due north from Hamhung. Its first major
objective was the Changjin (Chosin) Reservoir, some fifty miles from the coast.

Following in the footsteps of the ROK troops came the US X Corps. The 1st
Marine Division finally went ashore at Wonsan on 26 October; two of its regi-
ments were ordered to secure the city, while the third started northward to assist
the ROK 3d Division. The 7th Division landed farther north, at Iwon, some 40
miles southwest of Songjin; from here it would have a relatively short advance to
the border at Hyesanjin, some eighty air miles away.'

Halfway to the Changjin Reservoir, the ROK 3d Division hit an enemy block-
ing force and tried without success to break through. There was no recourse but
to halt and await the arrival of the US Marines.!#

It was soon evident that the new opposition to the UN forces did not come
entirely from the tattered remnants of Kim Il Sung’s army. On both fronts, pris-
oners from organized units of the Chinese Communist Forces were captured on
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the same day, 25 October. The first captive was taken by the ROK 1st Division
near Unsan, where several others were seized in the next few days. At the same
time the ROK 6th Division captured a Chinese soldier near Onjong.

When interrogated, these prisoners reported that other Chinese forces were
present in large numbers. The Unsan captives gave somewhat conflicting state-
ments but were consistent in reporting that they had crossed into Korea on or
about 19 October, wearing North Korean uniforms. The prisoner from Onjong
told his captors that he was a member of the 56th “unit,” which FECOM G-2
interpreted as referring to the 56th Chinese Communist Forces (CCF) Army,
known to be massed on the border. With other members of his force, he said, he
had crossed the Yalu on 12 October after all insignia had been removed in order
to create the fiction that the men were “volunteers.”'*

In the east, the first capture was made by the 26th Regiment of the 3d ROK
Division, which was leading the advance to the Changjin Reservoir. The captive
reported that from 4,000 to 5,000 Chinese troops were nearby. On 29 October the
ROKs captured 16 more Chinese prisoners, who provided full identification of
their unit: the 370th Regiment, 124th Division, 42d Army, of the XIII Army
Group. General Almond, Commander of X Corps, hurried to the ROK I Corps
command post at Hamhung on 30 October to interview the prisoners. According
to their story, they had crossed the Yalu at Manp’ojin northwest of Changjin,
about the middle of the month.®

Eighth Army headquarters was reluctant to believe that it was facing orga-
nized CCF units. It interpreted the Chinese presence as indicating “some further
reinforcement of North Korean units with personnel taken from the Chinese
Communist Forces,” and saw “no indications of open intervention” on the part
of China.’ These conclusions were not disputed by G-2, FECOM.!2 On the east-
ern front, the presence of the 370th CCF Regiment could hardly be denied; it was
accepted immediately, if tentatively, by X Corps and the Far East Command.'%
Nevertheless the report of the UN Command for the period 16 to 31 October,
while reporting the capture of Chinese prisoners, concluded that “there is no pos-
itive evidence that Chinese Communist units, as such, have entered Korea.” 15

Events were soon to show that this interpretation was excessively cautious,
although the evidence available at the end of October was admittedly scanty. The
basis for reluctance to accept the presence of major CCF forces was indicated in
the FECOM daily intelligence summary for 28 October, which contained the fol-
lowing statement:

From a tactical viewpoint, with victorious U. S. Divisions in full deployment,
it would appear that the auspicious time for such [Chinese] intervention has long
since passed; it is difficult to believe that such a move, if planned, would have
been postponed to a time when remnant North Korean forces have been reduced
to a low point of effectiveness.!*

The presence of Chinese soldiers in Korea was of course reported to the Joint
Chiefs of Staff promptly but, it appears, with no particular sense of urgency.
On 26 October the Central Intelligence Agency had available the results of
Eighth Army’s interrogation of the first Unsan prisoner. The information was
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disseminated to the Joint Chiefs of Staff and other recipients, with an evaluation
of “F-6,” indicating the lowest possible appraisal of both source and content.!%
Further details were furnished by G-2, FECOM, on 27 October, in the daily tele-
type conference with G-2 in Washington.'”” The summaries of the Korean situa-
tion prepared each day for General Bradley made note of other captures and of
the conclusions drawn by FECOM. %8

No one in Washington challenged the interpretation placed on the evidence in
the field. As with the North Korean invasion four months earlier, there had been
abundant warnings of what was possible, but no clear and specific evidence of
precise Chinese intentions.'” The belief prevailed that Communist China would
have little to gain by intervening in Korea at that time. A paper prepared jointly
by officials of the State and Defense Departments, apparently soon after the mid-
dle of October, concluded that North Korea was probably not of sufficient impor-
tance to China to be worth a direct clash with UN forces. Military action to the
southward—toward Indochina, Tibet, or Macao—seemed far more likely to pay
dividends for the men in Peking.'* “We looked at all the factors that were avail-
able,” said Secretary Acheson seven months later, “and on those factors I think
we all came to the conclusion that it was more likely that they [the Chinese Com-
munists] would not come in than that they would.” And General Bradley was
speaking for his colleagues as well as for himself when he said:

We had no intelligence that they were going to enter the war. We had the
intelligence that they were concentrating in Manchuria. . .. They had the capabil-
ity for intervening in the war....we always had the thought that they might
enter it, but we did not have any intelligence to the positive effect that they were
going to intervene.'®!

The basis for miscalculation in Washington and Tokyo was a failure to view
China’s interests as they were seen in Peking. When full-scale Chinese inter-
vention finally became obvious, it was widely assumed to have resulted in
whole or in part from decisions taken in Moscow. But a careful reading of the
available evidence suggests that the decision was made by the rulers of the
People’s Republic of China (PRC). They apparently acted out of genuine fear of
a US presence close to China and of a possible alighment of a noncommunist
Korea with the United States and Japan—considerations that dictated the
preservation of at least a remnant of the Democratic People’s Republic of
Korea. Maintenance of China’s prestige, as a leading power in Asia and as
model for Communist movements elsewhere in the Far East, probably also
played a part. Allen S. Whiting, a political scientist who has scrutinized the evi-
dence with great care, concludes that “it would seem that a Soviet diktat was
not needed to bring the PRC into the war. There may have been differences
between the two allies as to the timing and extent of the move.... There
undoubtedly were questions of mutual responsibility, some of which may have
been resolved to the dissatisfaction of one or both partners. ... But the final
decision to fight appears to have been basically a Chinese decision, conditioned
by Russian advice and encouraged by Russian support.” 62
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Effects of the First Chinese Attack

ix Chinese armies totaling eighteen divisions had entered Korea during Octo-

ber 1950. Their nominal strength was about 180,000 men (10,000 per division).
Five armies were assigned to the western front. The 38th, 39th, and 40th Armies
deployed along the Ch’ongch’on, where they collided with Eighth Army. Behind
them, in reserve, were the 50th and 66th Armies.!

As October passed into November, these troops inflicted a disaster on one US
unit of Eighth Army and temporarily halted the UN advance. The 8th Cavalry
Regiment, moving up to Unsan to support ROK forces, came under heavy attack
on the night of 1 to 2 November, and was trapped when the South Koreans gave
way. Two US battalions fought their way out, with heavy losses; the third could
not penetrate the enemy ring and was lost.

This reverse in the center of Eighth Army, coming on top of the rout of the
ROK II Corps on the right, endangered the US and British forces on the left. In
the face of this threat, General Walker called off the attack. By 7 November
Eighth Army had withdrawn behind the Ch’ongch’on, holding only a few
beachheads on the north bank of the river. In reply to an exasperated inquiry
from General MacArthur, General Walker promised to resume the offensive as
soon as possible.2

On the east side of the peninsula, where X Corps was operating indepen-
dently of Eighth Army, another Chinese Army, the 42d, sought to block the road
to the Changjin Reservoir. However, the 7th Marine Regiment, which relieved the
ROK 3d Division as the spearhead of the advance, reached Koto-ri, about 10
miles south of the reservoir, on 10 November. At the same time, the 7th US
Infantry Division was pushing northward from Iwon, and the ROK Capital Divi-
sion, reinforced by the 3d ROK Division, moved along the coast. The US 3d Divi-
sion, formerly held in Japan as a reserve, landed at Wonsan to free the rest of the
First Marine Division for movement northward. Already the severity of the win-
ter weather in northeastern Korea gave a foretaste of what was to come.?
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Not only on the ground but also in the air, Communist China provided a fresh
accession of strength for North Korea. During October, US aircraft that strayed
close to the Manchurian border had drawn antiaircraft fire from the other side of
the Yalu. On 1 November, US F-80 jet aircraft clashed with YAK fighters near
Sinuiju, at the mouth of the Yalu. During the course of the day, jet aircraft made
their first appearance on the enemy side. Six MIG-15 fighters, of Soviet design,
crossed the Yalu to attack the US pilots. Thus the foe signified his intention to
contest the aerial supremacy that UN forces had enjoyed since the early days of
the conflict.*

Seen from Washington, the situation in Korea at the beginning of November
was thoroughly confused. General Bradley was puzzled to observe that the pat-
tern of Chinese participation so far was one not foreseen by the Joint Chiefs of
Staff. Organized Chinese units were present, with air and antiaircraft support,
but only in small numbers. The instruction that had been given General
MacArthur concerning “major” Chinese intervention did not cover this “halfway
between” situation.’

On 3 November the Joint Chiefs of Staff asked General MacArthur for an
“interim appreciation” of the problem.¢ His reply, received the following day,
indicated that General MacArthur was as baffled as his superiors. He confessed
that it was “impossible at this time to authoritatively appraise the actualities of
Chinese Communist intervention in North Korea.” On the basis of such intelli-
gence as was available, however, he suggested the following possible explana-
tions of Chinese policy:

(1) That the Chinese Communist Government proposes to intervene with its
full potential military forces, openly proclaiming such course at what it might
determine as an appropriate time.

(2) That it will covertly render military assistance, but will, so far as possible,
conceal the fact for diplomatic reasons.

(3) That it is permitting and abetting a flow of more or less voluntary person-
nel across the border to strengthen and assist the North Korean remnants in their
struggle to retain a nominal foothold in Korea.

(4) That such intervention, as exists, has been in the belief that no UN Forces
would be committed in the extreme northern reaches of Korea except those of
South Korea. A realization that such forces were insufficient for the purpose may
well have furnished the concept of salvaging something from the wreckage.

The first contingency, he pointed out, “would represent a momentous deci-
sion of the gravest international importance.” He believed, however, that it was
less likely than one of the other contingencies, or perhaps a combination of all
three of them. He recommended against “hasty conclusions which might be pre-
mature,” and urged that final appraisal “await a more complete accumulation of
military facts.””

General MacArthur followed up this message with a special report to the
United Nations on 5 November. He drew attention to the fact that UN forces
“are presently in hostile contact with Chinese Communist military units.”
Twelve pieces of corroborative evidence were presented, beginning with the
observation of antiaircraft fire from the Manchurian side of the Yalu and con-
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cluding with a statement that a total of 35 Chinese prisoners had been captured
in Korea as of 4 November.®

In response to a US request, the UN Security Council assembled in a special
session on 6 November, at which time Ambassador Austin presented this report.
The Council, however, took no action and postponed discussion for two days.’

The Manchurian Border Issue

ust at this moment, with the United States looking toward the United Nations

for support in meeting the changed situation in Korea, General MacArthur took
a step laden with incipient danger. On 5 November he ordered General Strate-
meyer, Commanding General, FEAF, to launch an intensive and widespread
bombing effort to cripple enemy capabilities in northern Korea. All the bridges
across the Yalu were to be destroyed at the Korean end, and, with a few excep-
tions (Rashin, the Suiho dam, and power plants), all installations, factories, means
of communication, cities, and villages between the front line were to be demol-
ished, using both explosive and incendiary weapons. UN aircraft were not to vio-
late the border, however, and targets close to the border would be attacked only
under visual conditions. This aerial offensive was to begin at 0300 on 7 November,
Far East time (1300 EST, 6 November), and was to continue for a two-week period,
during which combat crews would, if necessary, be flown to exhaustion.

Apparently General MacArthur did not interpret this operation as violating
the instructions given him to stay well clear of the borders of Korea. In any event,
he did not seek the approval of the Joint Chiefs of Staff. In the daily teleconfer-
ence with G-2 in Washington that day, his staff merely gave the information that
B-29 aircraft would be used to destroy the bridges between Sinuiju (Korea) and
Antung (Manchuria).!! Fortunately General Stratemeyer sent a message describ-
ing General MacArthur’s instructions to his Service superior, General Vanden-
berg, who recognized the serious nature of the issue involved. He quickly
brought the matter to the attention of Secretary Finletter of the Air Force, who, in
turn, notified the Deputy Secretary of Defense, Robert A. Lovett.

Mr. Lovett at once hurried to the Department of State, where he conferred
with Secretary Acheson and Assistant Secretary Rusk. It was then about 1000 on
the morning of 6 November—only three hours before the bombers were to take
off. In New York, the US delegation at the United Nations was trying to induce
the Security Council to consider the special report on Chinese intervention;
clearly it was no time to risk alienating other nations by undertaking massive
operations near the Chinese border. Mr. Rusk revealed that the United States had
promised the British Government (which was holding a cabinet meeting that day
to consider policy toward China) to consult it before taking any action that might
affect Manchuria. Both he and Secretary Acheson felt that, in the absence of some
compelling military reason for immediate action, the risk was very large in rela-
tion to the possible benefits. Mr. Lovett explained that his department did not
know the full reasons behind the order but assumed that they were important;
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apparently the intention was to close off a major route for troops and supplies
moving into North Korea from Manchuria. He was inclined to doubt the efficacy
of the proposed bombing, since charts showed that the Yalu was shallow near its
mouth and destruction of bridges would therefore not shut off troop movements,
although rail traffic would be affected. A hasty telephone conference with Secre-
tary Marshall resulted in an agreement that the air attack should be postponed
until the President, who had gone home to Missouri to vote in the Congressional
elections, could be consuited.

Fortunately Secretary Acheson was able to reach the President promptly. Mr.
Truman indicated that his major concern was for the safety of UN troops but
agreed that General MacArthur should be asked to justify the attack before it
took place. His first thought was that the Secretary should call the General per-
sonally; however, when it was suggested that the matter should be handled
through military channels, he agreed and left it to Mr. Acheson and Mr. Lovett to
handle the matter as they thought best.

Secretary Lovett carried the President’s decision to the Joint Chiefs of Staff,
who at once sent the following brief message to CINCFE:

1. Consideration being urgently given to Korean situation at governmental
level. One factor is present commitment not to take action affecting Manchuria
without consultation with the British.

2. Until further orders postpone all bombing of targets within five miles of
Manchurian border.

3. Urgently need your estimate of situation and reason for ordering bombing
Yalu River bridges as indicated in telecon this date.!?

General MacArthur’s reply, received by the Joint Chiefs of Staff that evening,
depicted the tactical situation in a manner that was startlingly at variance with
his message of 4 Novemter, in which he had counseled against hasty decisions.
He said:

Men and materiel in large force are pouring across all bridges over the Yalu
from Manchuria. This movement not only jeopardizes but threatens the ultimate
destruction of the forces under my command. The actual movement across the
river can be accomplished under cover of darkness and the distance between the
river and our lines is so short that the forces can be deployed against our troops
without being seriously subjected to air interdiction. The only way to stop this
reinforcement of the enemy is the destruction of these bridges and the subjection
of all installations in the north area supporting the enemy advance to the maxi-
mum of our air destruction. Every hour that this is postponed will be paid for
dearly in American and other United Nations blood. The main crossing at Sinuiju
was to be hit within the next few hours and the mission is actually already being
mounted. Under the gravest protest that I can make, I am suspending this strike
and carrying out your instructions. What I have ordered is entirely within the
scope of the rules of war and the resolutions and directions which I have received
from the United Nations and constitute no slightest act of belligerency against
Chinese territory, in spite of the outrageous international lawlessness emanating
therefrom. I cannot overemphasize the disastrous effect, both physical and psy-
chological, that will result from the restrictions which you are imposing. I trust
that the matter be immediately brought to the attention of the Eresi ent as I
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believe your instructions may well result in a calamity of major proportion for
which I'cannot accept the responsibility without his personal and direct under-
standing of the situation. Time is so essential that I request immediate reconsider-
ation of your decision pending which complete compliance will of course be
given to your order.

The Joint Chiefs of Staff must have been jolted by this message, with its accus-
ing tone, its virtual appeal to the President over their heads, and its unexpected
revelation of a dangerous situation. General Bradley telephoned President Tru-
man and read the message to him. The President was well aware of the danger of
a serious border violation. But, accepting the judgment of the theater comman-
der, he gave his approval for the operation.1¢

Following a meeting with Secretaries Acheson and Marshall and Deputy Sec-
retary Lovett, the Joint Chiefs of Staff sent General MacArthur a carefully worded
message authorizing the attack on the bridges while at the same time stressing its
dangers. They did not fail to point out that the situation he had depicted was
“considerably changed” from that reported on 4 November. They continued as
follows:

... We agree that the destruction of the Yalu bridges would contribute materi-
ally to the security of the forces under your command unless this action resulted
in increased Chinese Communist effort and even Soviet contribution in response
to what they might well construe as an attack on Manchuria. Such a result would
not only endanger your forces but would enlarge the area of conflict and U.S.
involvement to a most dangerous degree.

However in view of first sentence your [message] you are authorized to go
ahead with your planned bombing in Korea near the frontier including targets at
Sinuiju and Korean end of Yalu bridges provided that at time of receipt of this
message you still find such action essential to safety of your forces. The above
does not authorize the bombing of any dams or power plants on the Yalu River.

Because of necessity for maintaining optimum position with United Nations
Folicy and directives and because it is vital in the national interest of the U.S. to

ocalize the fighting in Korea it is important that extreme care be taken to avoid
violation Manchurian territory and airspace and to report promptly hostile action
from Manchuria.

It is essential that we be kept informed of important changes in situation as
they occur and that your estimate as requested in our [message of 3 November]
be submitted as soon as possible.’®

In reply to the final sentence of this message, General MacArthur submitted a
fairly complete situation report and a further justification of the air operation.
Intelligence received since 4 November, he said, had confirmed his appraisal of
probable Chinese motives and intentions, while the presence of organized Chi-
nese forces in Korea had been verified beyond question. The exact strength of
these forces was unknown, but they had been able to seize the initiative in the
west and to slow the advance in the east. If the enemy strength continued to
increase, it might become necessary to give up hope of further advance or even
to fall back. He intended to try to resume the attack in the west sector, possibly
within ten days, if the enemy’s flow of reinforcements could be checked. “Only
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through such an offensive effort can any accurate measure be taken of enemy
strength,” he declared.

Air bombing of the targets under discussion, continued the General, was “the
only resource left to me to prevent a potential buildup of enemy strength to a point
threatening the safety of the command.” It amounted to interdiction of enemy
communications within Korea and, as such, was “so plainly defensive that it is
hard to conceive that it would cause an increase in the volume of local intervention
or, of itself, provoke a general war.” Inviolability of Manchuria and Siberia had
been a “cardinal obligation of this headquarters from the beginning of hostilities,”
and there had never been any intention to destroy hydroelectric installations.'®

This exchange of messages was supplemented by another between the Secretary
of Defense and the Far East Commander. General Marshall was obviously inspired
by a desire to prevent any estrangement between Washington and Tokyo and to do
everything possible to create an understanding of the policy pursued by the admin-
istration. On 7 November he sent General MacArthur the following dispatch:

This is a very personal and informal message to you from me. [ have just
talked to the President in Independence, Missouri. Though absent from Washing-
ton he has been kept almost hourly aware of the latest developments as reported
by you. The discussions and decisions here are heavily weighted with the
extremely delicate situation we have before the Security Council of the UN at the
present time whose meeting tomorrow may have fateful consequences.

We all realize your difficulty in fighting a desperate battle in a mountainous
region under winter conditions and with a multi-national force in all degrees of
military preﬁaredness. I also understand, I think, the difficulty involved in con-
ducting such a battle under necessarily limiting conditions and the necessity of
keepinl_gI far distant headquarters closely informed of developments and deci-
sions. However, this appears to be unavoidable—but I want you to know that I
understand your problem. Everyone here, Defense, State, and the President, is
intensely desirous of supporting you in the most effective manner within our
means. At the same time we are faced with an extremely grave international
problem which could so easily lead to a world disaster.

Incidentally, for my personal information, do you feel that the hydroelectric
and reservoir situation is probably the dominant consideration in this apparently
last-minute move by the Chinese Communists incited by the Soviets to protect
their interests in Vladivostok, Dairen, and Port Arthur??”

General MacArthur replied in the same spirit, expressing deep appreciation
for this “cordial and understanding message,” together with “complete agree-
ment with the basic concept of localizing, if possible, the Korean struggle.” He
went on to explain why he did not believe that Chinese actions stemmed from
concern for hydroelectric facilities on the border. The initial North Korean attack
had been “launched with the complete moral and material support of the Chi-
nese Communists,” at a time when there was no possible threat to those installa-
tions. Moreover, the importance of these facilities had been greatly exaggerated;
they had suffered so severely from “Soviet post-war looting” that they were
“clearly of insufficient consequence to become provocative of major war.” Rang-
ing back into fifty years of history, General MacArthur found the explanation for
Chinese behavior in the changing “character and culture” of the nation; formerly
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divided, and animated by peaceful ideals, it had become increasingly unified,
nationalistic, and aggressive. These tendencies had culminated under the present
regime. General MacArthur had been convinced from the beginning

that the Chinese Communist support of the North Koreans was the dominant
one. Their interests are at present parallel to those of the Soviet, but I believe that
the aggressiveness now displayed not only in Korea but in Indo-China and Tibet
and pointing potentially toward the south reflects predominantly the same lust
for the expansion of power which has animated every would-be conqueror since
the beginning of time.'*

General Marshall acknowledged with thanks this “comprehensive analysis of
the causes and effect of the present situation. I think you misunderstood my
query re hydroelectric installations,” he added. “I was referring only to the sud-
den developments of the past week. Don’t bother to acknowledge this.”!

Meanwhile the aerial onslaught that had occasioned this flurry of messages
had gotten under way on 8 November. Carrier aircraft as well as land-based
bombers took part in the assault on the Yalu bridges, from the mouth of the river
as far northeast as Hyesan, and on other military targets in northern Korea. The
destruction of supply and communication centers was thorough, but the attack
on the bridges was less effective. UN aircraft were hindered by enemy fighters
and antiaircraft fire and also by the need to avoid violations of the border, which
severely limited the possible axes of attack. By the time the campaign was sus-
pended on 5 December, four of the twelve rail and highway bridges linking
Korea with Manchuria were severed and most others damaged. However, the
enemy quickly threw up new pontoon bridges, and the river soon froze over,
thus making bridges unnecessary. And it was subsequently determined that
large numbers of Chinese troops had already entered Korea before the aerial
offensive began.’

Whatever the results of the operation, it had been carried out essentially as
General MacArthur had proposed, despite the misgivings in Washington. But at
the same time, the Far East Commander opened another issue that was even
more disturbingly complex. The hostile aircraft that joined the battle for North
Korea at the end of October 1950 operated from bases in Manchuria with almost
complete impunity. They could swoop across the border in a quick run to the
main line of contact, then retire behind their sanctuary. On 7 November 1950
General MacArthur drew the attention of the Joint Chiefs of Staff to this situa-
tion. “The effect of this abnormal condition upon the morale and combat effi-
ciency of both air and ground troops is major,” he declared. He asked instruc-
tions for dealing with this “new and threatening development,” which might
assume “decisive proportions” unless corrective measures were taken.!

Probably what General MacArthur had in mind was authority for UN aircraft
to cross the Yalu to pursue enemy fighters or to carry out attacks on air bases, or
both. If the matter of flying close to the Korean borders was politically sensitive,
overt aerial invasion of Manchuria was vastly more so. The issue was one to be
decided by the President after careful consultation with other countries. The Joint
Chiefs of Staff therefore returned a temporizing reply at that time. “Situation and
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urgent necessity corrective measures being presented for highest United States
level consideration,” they told CINCFE.?

Policy Reexamined in Washington

As surprising as the sudden appearance of Chinese forces in Korea was the
manner in which they withdrew from the fight and seemingly vanished into
the hills. A dispatch from Tokyo dated 7 November reported that Chinese and
North Korean troops had broken contact with Eighth Army in a “surprise
maneuver,” following repulse of their efforts to break through the UN line north
of Anju.? Likewise, the forces that had contested the advance of the First Marine
Division toward Changju Reservoir abandoned the struggle. There was little
fighting for the next few weeks, while UN troops consolidated their positions
and prepared to resume the advance.

The reasons for this abrupt withdrawal are as uncertain today as they were at
the time. Did it reflect Mao Tse-tung’s inherently cautious outlook, as revealed in
his writings? Was the Chinese Government waiting to test the US reaction—per-
haps meanwhile trying to signal a willingness to negotiate? Or did the Chinese
simply need more time to reinforce their troops and prepare for the rigors of a
winter campaign??

Whatever its explanation, the ensuing three-week lull on the battlefield,
between what the Chinese later called their “First Phase” and “Second Phase”
offensives, provided the United States with a breathing space in which to read-
just its policy and strategy to a changed situation. Through indecision, vacilla-
tion, and faulty judgment this opportunity was lost. In Secretary Acheson’s
words, “the Government missed its last chance to halt the march to disaster in
Korea. All the President’s advisors in this matter, civilian and military, knew
that something was badly wrong, though what it was, how to find out, and
what to do about it they muffed.” It was not from lack of effort; the flurry of
meetings held in Washington during the month of November attested to the
search for a formula that would avert disaster. But such a formula, if it existed,
was never found.”

At the very least, it was obviously necessary to take a hard look at the course
of existing policy. The Department of State initiated this reexamination on 6
November 1950, when Deputy Under Secretary H. Freeman Mathews sent Gen-
eral Burns the draft of a resolution to be presented to the UN Security Council
regarding Chinese intervention. He asked for comments on the draft and also on
the “military significance of the Chinese intervention.”?

This request was passed to the Joint Chiefs of Staff, who sought General
MacArthur’s advice. Speed was necessary, since the National Security Council
intended to discuss the Korean situation on 9 November. The Joint Chiefs of Staff
indicated their opinion that the scale of Chinese intervention, as reported by
CINCFE, constituted “entry into North Korea by major. .. Chinese Communist
forces,” in the words of their directive of 27 September. Therefore, it appeared
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necessary to reexamine the mission assigned CINCFE—"the destruction of the
North Korean Armed Forces”—which had been contingent upon the absence of
such intervention. The implication, though the Joint Chiefs of Staff did not spell it
out, was that General MacArthur should abandon his planned attack and fall
back on the defensive.?”

General MacArthur, however, had no intention of giving up his attack.
Although on 7 November he had affirmed that “the introduction of Chinese
Communist forces in strength into the Korean campaign has completely changed
the overall situation,”? he now emphatically rejected any thought of modifying
his mission, and so informed the Joint Chiefs of Staff. The existing situation, he
declared, was fully covered by the JCS message of 9 October, which had autho-
rized him, in the event of “open or covert employment anywhere in Korea of
major Chinese Communist units,” to continue operations so long as there
remained a “reasonable chance of success.” In his view, “it would be fatal to
weaken the fundamental and basic policy of the United Nations to destroy all
resisting armed forces in Korea and bring that country into a united and free
nation.” In this passage, General MacArthur combined the military mission
given him by the Joint Chiefs of Staff with the recommendations of the UN Gen-
eral Assembly resolution of 7 October 1950.

General MacArthur had every confidence that, using his superior air power,
he could interdict Chinese reinforcements from Manchuria and destroy those
already in Korea. He would begin his destruction of the enemy on 15 November
with a major attack that would carry his forces to the northern borders of Korea.
As he argued:

Any program short of this would completely destroy the morale of my forces
and its psychological consequence would be inestimable. It would condemn us
to an indefinite retention of our militar¥ forces along difficult defense lines in
North Korea and would unquestionably arouse such resentment among the
South Koreans that their forces would collapse or might even turn against us.

CINCEE scoffed at the idea of making political overtures aimed at restricting the
southward advance of the Chinese Communists in Korea.

Alluding to a reported British plan to establish a buffer zone in northern
Korea, General MacArthur denounced it as amounting to a giveaway of Korean
territory, comparable to the cession of the Sudeten region of Czechoslovakia to
Nazi Germany in 1938. The proper course of action for the United States was to
press for a UN resolution that would condemn Communist China’s defiance of
the United Nations and would threaten military sanctions if Chinese forces were
not withdrawn. “I recommend with all the earnestness that I possess,” he con-
cluded, “that there be no weakening at this crucial moment and that we press on
to complete victory which I believe can be achieved if our determination and
indomitable will do not desert us.”?

Little of General MacArthur’s viewpoint appeared in the memorandum of
advice that the Joint Chiefs of Staff sent the Secretary of Defense on 9 November.
They first considered and rejected the possibility that the Chinese Communist
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forces in Korea were composed of mere volunteers. Available intelligence indi-
cated that “well-organized, well-led and well-equipped Chinese Communist
units, probably as large as divisions,” were entering Korea. Admitting their
inability to determine the motives of the rulers in Peiping, they offered three
possible explanations for Chinese intentions. First, China might be seeking to
protect the hydroelectric power complexes along the Yalu, and perhaps at the
same time to establish a cordon sanitaire south of the river. If these were the
motives, the Chinese forces might be willing to withdraw in return for a UN
guarantee not to infringe on the sovereignty of Manchuria or to disturb the elec-
tric generating and distributing system. In any case, if such assurances were
given and the Chinese nevertheless remained, one possible explanation for
China’s behavior could be eliminated.

A second possibility was that Communist China was seeking to maintain an
undeclared war in Korea in order to tie down US forces at little cost to them-
selves. If so, it was essential for the United States not to allow the Korean conflict
to sap its strength and leave it unprepared for trouble elsewhere. On the other
hand, such an objective, being limited, might be compatible with a negotiated
settlement of the conflict. Throughout their discussion of this possibility, the Joint
Chiefs of Staff were obviously mindful of the dangers of Soviet involvement.

As a third alternative, the Joint Chiefs of Staff considered that the Chinese
Communists might be seeking to drive the UN forces out of Korea entirely. They
doubted that such an effort could succeed without the aid of Soviet naval and air
power. Soviet intervention would signal the onset of World War III and would
make it essential to withdraw UN forces from Korea as soon as possible.

The Joint Chiefs of Staff saw three courses of action open to the UN Com-
mand: to force the action to a successful conclusion; to establish and hold a
defensive line short of the Korean border; or to withdraw. The choice among
these three would depend on the strength of the Chinese commitment in Korea.
The first would require additional UN forces even if the Chinese Communists’
scale of effort were not materially increased; the third was unacceptable and, if
forced upon the United States, “could only be accepted as the prelude to global
war.” The second course was feasible and “might be a temporary expedient
pending clarification of the military and political problems raised by Chinese
intervention.” While the Joint Chiefs of Staff did not specifically advise this line
of action, their preference was implied in their recommendation that “every
effort should be expended as a matter of urgency to settle the problem of Chinese
Communist intervention in Korea by political means, preferably through the
United Nations.” This effort would include reassurances concerning UN inten-
tions and, if necessary, direct negotiations through the good offices of nations
that had recognized Communist China. In the meantime, they concluded, the
present mission of the UN Commander should not be changed but should be
kept under constant review, while the United States should develop its plans on
the assumption that the risk of global war had increased.

At the same time, the Joint Chiefs of Staff took the opportunity to draw atten-
tion to the exploitation of the Manchurian boundary by Communist aircraft. The
situation, they warned, “may well become intolerable,” and it might be necessary
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to authorize the UN Commander to take “appropriate air and naval action out-
side Korea against Communist China,” as provided in NSC 81/1.%

In preparation for the NSC meeting of 9 November, the NSC Senior Staff met
on the day before. The Joint Chiefs of Staff were represented by their Special
Assistant for NSC Affairs, Rear Admiral E. T. Wooldridge; Secretary of the Air
Force Finletter represented the Department of Defense. Both he and Admiral
Wooldridge warned the others that General MacArthur might in the near future
insist on the need for air attacks on Manchuria to cut off the flow of men and sup-
plies into Korea. Admiral Wooldridge admitted that there were no JCS “evalua-
tions” of the ability of the UN Command to hold its present positions against sub-
stantially increased pressure. The CIA representative estimated that there were
750,000 Chinese Communist troops in Manchuria, available for use in Korea. The
two Defense spokesmen observed that General MacArthur’s situation would
indeed be serious if these forces intervened and no action was allowed against
Manchuria. It would be most undesirable, however, they recognized, to start a
full-scale war with Communist China. The use of air power by the UN Command,
they thought, would not be decisive but would impede enemy progress.*!

The recommendations of the Joint Chiefs of Staff were made available to the
National Security Council on 9 November, together with a brief appraisal of the
situation by the Director of Central Intelligence, General Walter B. Smith, USA.
The CIA conclusion was that the commitment of Chinese Communist forces,
with Soviet materiel assistance, indicated that the Soviets were willing to risk
general war in Korea. Whether or not they would actually undertake such a con-
flict, however, was uncertain. It was not probable that UN air attacks north of the
Yalu would alone trigger such action, though they would probably lead to a
materiel increase in the extent of Chinese participation in Korea.*

The Council discussed these views at a meeting presided over by Secretary
Acheson, in the absence of the President. General Bradley presented the JCS con-
clusions. In the ensuing discussion, General Bradley expressed the belief that UN
forces could hold approximately along their present lines, but he was not sure
how much pressure they could stand if not allowed to attack Chinese bases in
Manchuria; however, he recognized that permission to operate across the border
must come from the United Nations. He further expressed skepticism that bomb-
ing the Yalu bridges could, as General MacArthur believed, stem the flow of Chi-
nese troops into Korea.

Secretary Marshall commented on the wide dispersal of UN forces on the
eastern front in Korea. General Bradley replied that this disposition of forces had
been made by General MacArthur in order to carry out his directive to occupy
the entire country and hold elections. It appears that, significantly, no one ques-
tioned this sweeping interpretation, which, of course, coincided with General
MacArthur’s own.®

Secretary Acheson asked if a line farther south would be easier to defend
than the existing line. General Bradley replied that it would, but that any retreat
of UN forces would impair the morale of the South Koreans. The Secretary of
State pointed to the sensitivity of the Soviet Union toward its borders, and sug-
gested that a buffer area be established in northeast Korea, to be policed by a
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UN constabulary. As to the Chinese, he believed that their major interest was to
keep the United States involved in Korea; they were also concerned with their
border and the power plants along the Yalu. He recommended that the United
States explore “privately” the possibility of a demilitarized zone ten miles wide
on each side of the Manchurian border, though he admitted that such a proposal
would undoubtedly cause the Chinese to insist on the departure of all foreign
troops from Korea, which would abandon the country to the Communists.

It was finally agreed that no change would be made in General MacArthur’s
directive at that time; he would be free to act at his discretion (but not to attack
Manchuria). At the same time, the Department of State would investigate the
possibility of negotiating with the Chinese Communists.3

The NSC Staff incorporated these conclusions in NSC 81/2, which was
intended to provide interim recommendations pending a more complete study
by the Senior Staff of possible alternatives.* But this latter study was never com-
pleted, and NSC 81/2 never went to the Council for approval.3

In Tokyo, General MacArthur had a conversation on 14 November with his
political advisor, Ambassador William J. Sebald, which illuminated the thinking
behind his plans. His immediate objective, he said, was to destroy the Yalu bridges
and thus to isolate the area between the present battle line and the border. He had
ordered the FEAF to observe the border scrupulously, a fact resented by many
pilots because they could not retaliate against enemy air attacks from Manchuria.
At the same time, FEAF was to destroy built-up areas between his forces and the
border so that the Communist forces could not “live off the country.”

The drive to the Yalu was now in preparation. If his forces could reach the
border before the Yalu froze, he told Mr. Sebald, the Korean campaign would be
at an end. Should his attack fail and the enemy continue to pour reinforcements
into Korea from Manchuria, he saw no alternative but to bomb key points in
Manchuria. Admittedly, if this were done, “the fat would be in the fire”; the
Soviet Union would almost certainly come in. He therefore hoped that such dras-
tic action would not become necessary.

The General felt that Communist China’s intervention in Korea was moti-
vated by “imperialistic aspirations.” He had no doubt that Chinese actions in
North Korea, Tibet, and Indochina were taken on Communist China’s own
responsibility. Soviet Russia, while satisfied by these actions, had remained in
the background.

If the drive to the border succeeded, General MacArthur believed that the war
would be over. The Chinese would have demonstrated their desire to help their
Communist neighbors and their ability to conduct a modern war, and thus
would be satisfied. They had not intervened earlier, in General MacArthur’s
view, because they were confident that the North Koreans could defeat the UN
forces without help. When they found out otherwise, it had taken them some
time to shift their military center of gravity from central and southern China
northward to Manchuria and Korea.?”

Three days later, talking with Ambassador Muccio, General MacArthur main-
tained that the Chinese Communists could not have infiltrated more than 30,000
soldiers into North Korea. Any larger numbers would have required overt troop
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movements that would have been detected by air. He predicted that his coming
offensive would clear all areas now held by the Communists within ten days.
Immediately thereafter, to emphasize the end of the Korean military action, he
would order the Eighth Army back to Japan, leaving X Corps, UN national units,
and ROK forces to maintain stability. Korean prisoners of war would be released,
with a warning that if they resumed fighting they would be dealt with as irregu-
lars; the question of restoring their civil rights would be left to the ROK. Chinese
prisoners would be taken to the border and released.’

About the same time, one of Secretary Marshall’s advisors in Washington pro-
posed another face-to-face conference with the General in order to seek agree-
ment. General James H. Burns, Assistant for Foreign Military Affairs and Military
Assistance, pointed out on 14 November 1950 that the difference between Wash-
ington and Tokyo involved the relation between means and ends, not the ends
themselves. No one doubted that “complete victory” was inherently desirable,
but what price must be paid for it? General MacArthur’s estimate of the probable
cost was clearly lower than that of the Joint Chiefs of Staff. General Burns sug-
gested that the JCS members, accompanied by officials of State and Defense
(below the secretarial level), journey to Tokyo to seek a “meeting of the minds”
on these matters.®

Secretary Marshall doubted the wisdom of “transferring such discussions
from Washington to Tokyo” and of distracting General MacArthur at that
moment. However, he asked General Burns to sound out the Department of
State. Assistant Secretary Rusk and Ambassador at Large Philip E. Jessup, with
whom General Burns conferred, indicated that they were opposed to such a
meeting at that time, though they recognized that US objectives in Korea needed
reexamination. Reporting this conference to Secretary Marshall, General Burns
made clear his alarm over the drift of events. “Many people feel, and I am one of
them,” he wrote, “that if we continue to pursue our present military objectives in
Korea we are running a serious risk of becoming involved in the world war we
are trying to avoid.”4

Political and Diplomatic Maneuvers

resident Truman and his advisors were fully aware of the need to coordinate

their course of action with other UN members, and particularly with the major
allies. At the same time, they sought, largely through UN channels, to sound out
Chinese intentions and to reassure the Peiping Government with regard to its
legitimate concern for the security of its borders. The UN Security Council
reassembled on 8 November and decided, over a Soviet protest, to discuss Gen-
eral MacArthur’s special report on Chinese intervention. The Council also agreed
to invite a representative of Communist China to attend the discussion.*

The Department of State drafted a resolution to be presented to the Security
Council, intended to bring about removal of Chinese troops from Korea. All
states and authorities were urged to refrain from aiding the North Korean regime
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in any way and to withdraw all of their nationals, including members or units
of their armed forces. Assurance was given that UN forces would remain in
Korea only long enough to establish a unified and democratic government
there. The UN Commission for the Unification and Rehabilitation of Korea
(UNCURK), which had been established by the Assembly resolution of 7 Octo-
ber, would be requested to aid in settling problems along the Korean border.
This draft resolution was the one that had been sent to the Department of
Defense for comment on 6 November. The Joint Chiefs of Staff reviewed it and
pronounced it acceptable.?

Another resolution, prepared by the French delegation, reflected an assump-
tion that Communist China’s principal concern was with the sources of electrical
power. The French proposal would request the UN Command, “with due consid-
eration for the necessities of military safety,” to take all measures needed to pre-
vent any damage to the installations along the Yalu. The Department of State had
suggested that the wording be changed to read “without prejudice to military
necessity,” so as to allow General MacArthur somewhat broader discretion. In
conversations with US officials, however, the French representatives indicated
that they would be willing to withdraw their resolution and accept that of the
United States, subject to addition of a statement to the US draft affirming that it
was UN policy “to hold the Chinese frontier with Korea inviolate and fully to
protect Chinese legitimate interest in the frontier zone.” The Joint Chiefs of Staff
adjudged the original French resolution acceptable if amended as suggested by
the Department of State. But the proposed French addition to the US resolution
was “wholly unacceptable,” since it would in effect “guarantee a sanctuary for
attacking Chinese aircraft.”*

Although the JCS views had the endorsement of the Secretary of Defense,*
the Department of State, after consulting the French and British UN delegations,
agreed to accept the provision pronouncing the Chinese border “inviolate.” Thus
amended, the resolution was introduced into the Security Council on 10 Novem-
ber by the United States and five other sponsoring nations. Debate on the resolu-
tion then began, over the objection of the Soviet delegate, who contended that the
subject should only be discussed in the presence of a representative of Commu-
nist China.

The session ended before a vote could be taken, and the matter was temporar-
ily dropped. On 11 November Communist China notified the Council that it
would not participate in discussion of the special UNC report. This refusal, plus
the breaking off of contact by Chinese forces in Korea, apparently convinced
most of the Council members that no immediate action was necessary. There was
a feeling, as Ambassador Austin told General MacArthur in a message on 15
November, that the mere introduction of the resolution had served its purpose
(presumably by reassuring China).*

About the same time, however, came contrary evidence that Communist
China had not been reassured. Two friendly neutrals, Sweden and Burma, both of
which had embassies in Peiping, reported evidence that Communist China was
planning a new and larger intervention. Less alarming information received from
the Netherlands was that Communist China genuinely feared aggression and
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would not act further if UN forces stopped fifty miles from the Yalu. The Central
Intelligence Agency appraised all of these reports somewhat skeptically. Its opin-
ion was that China’s operations in Korea “will probably continue to be defensive
in nature.”4

A citizens’ conference on foreign affairs held in Washington on 15 November
provided Secretary Acheson with an opportunity to send an indirect message to
the Chinese Government. In an extemporaneous review of US foreign policy, the
Secretary discussed Korea and the recent Chinese intervention there. It was
essential, he said, to “clear away any possible misunderstanding that there may
be in the minds of the Chinese.” If they were actually worried about their fron-
tiers, he continued, then “everything in the world should be done and is being
done to make them understand that their proper interests will be taken care of.”
But if they were bent upon precipitating “a really grave crisis,” then there was
nothing to do but to meet the situation resolutely. “We must explore carefully
and wisely,” he declared, “every possibility of ending this Korean aggression in
accordance with the principles of the Charter of the United Nations.”+

On 16 November the Security Council resumed discussion of the six-power
resolution on Korea. At a news conference that day, President Truman cited this
resolution as one among many UN actions attesting that there was no intent to
carry hostilities into Chinese territory. The policy of the United Nations, which
was fully supported by the United States, was “to localize the conflict and to
withdraw its forces from Korea as soon as the situation permits.” The United
States, he added,

will take every honorable step to prevent any extension of the hostilities in the
Far East. If the Chinese Communist authorities or people believe otherwise, it can
only be because they are being deceived by those whose advantage it is to pro-
long 1and extend hostilities in the Far East against the interests of all Far Eastern
people.®

United States Representative Ernest A. Gross read this statement to the Secu-
rity Council but failed to induce the members to approve the resolution. Follow-
ing a day of inconclusive discussion, the Council turned its attention to the
perennial problem of Palestine, and, after enacting a resolution on this subject,
adjourned sine die. Apparently the members were influenced by the fact that
Communist China had announced its intention to accept the Council’s invitation,
issued two months earlier, to take part in a discussion of US “aggression” against
Taiwan.* Why not wait until the Chinese spokesmen were present, and then dis-
cuss with them the entire Far Eastern situation? The hope of negotiation thus
became justification for inaction, and the Security Council forfeited whatever
opportunity it might have had to shape the course of events. By the time the men
from Peiping arrived, the war had flared up again with unparalleled intensity
and the situation had slipped out of control.%

Outside the Council, however, there was considerable activity. The British
proposal for a neutral buffer zone, of which General MacArthur had heard
rumors, was presented to the US Government about the middle of November. It
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specified that all the territory north of the narrow part of North Korea (approxi-
mately the Ch’ongju-Hungnam line) should be demilitarized and placed under
the administration of some UN body on which Communist China would be rep-
resented. The British Government felt that this proposal offered the only hope of
ending the Korean conflict without risking a wider war.%!

This scheme was clearly in harmony with the views expressed by Secretary
Acheson at the NSC meeting of 9 November. It would have dovetailed neatly
with General MacArthur’s original plan for military operations in North Korea.
Now, however, its implementation would require that General MacArthur be
ordered to halt his forces or to pull them back after they reached the border. Sec-
retary Acheson was inclined to favor some sort of a buffer zone, as shown subse-
quently by the tenor of his remarks in the 21 November meeting with the Joint
Chiefs of Staff. For the moment, however, he persuaded the British not to
advance their proposal in the United Nations.®? In any event, the prospects that
the suspicious Chinese regime would agree to any such plan appeared doubtful
at best. A broadcast from Peiping on 17 November heaped scorn on the recent
reassuring statements by Secretary Acheson and President Truman and alleged
that the United States intended to invade Manchuria.*

“Hot Pursuit”

Meanwhile air operations along the northern border continued to raise dan-
gerous problems. Taking advantage of UN unwillingness to violate the
Manchurian border, Soviet-made jet aircraft, presumably piloted by Chinese and
North Koreans, swept across the border in larger and larger numbers, attacking
US planes, then darting back to the safety of Manchurian air space before US
pilots could retaliate. The Joint Chiefs of Staff shared General MacArthur’s view
that, in order to stop these attacks, the restrictions on his air operations should be
lifted to allow his pilots to pursue enemy attackers 6 or 8 miles across the
Manchurian border. Secretary Marshall agreed, as did Secretary Acheson and
President Truman. But they were reluctant to grant permission for “hot pursuit”
without consulting the other nations whose forces were in Korea. As was being
amply demonstrated, these nations were growing more and more apprehensive
that some rash move on the part of the United States, particularly in relation to
the northern borders of Korea, might cause the conflict to spread.>

On 13 November the Department of State made a cautious approach to vari-
ous other countries. Five governments closely allied to the United States—those
of the United Kingdom, Canada, the Netherlands, France, and Australia—were
informed that it might become necessary to authorize UN aircraft to engage in
“hot pursuit” of enemy aircraft that fled into Manchuria after attacking UN
forces. All five governments reacted unfavorably; they expressed fears of the
spread of the conflict and indicated that any such action should be taken only
after a formal UN decision had been announced and Chinese reaction had been
tested. The US Ambassador in The Hague cabled his opinion that the Nether-
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lands and possibly other NATO members might disassociate themselves from
any such unilateral decision by the United States.

To some degree, the reaction of these countries may have been inspired by
fears of Soviet intervention. Intelligence obtained by the United States through
“reliable channels” reported that a Soviet diplomat in Peiping had told
Ambassador Panikkar that the Soviet Air Force would enter the fray if UN air-
craft bombed Manchuria.* In any case, the scale of enemy air action never
reached the point where it became necessary for the United States to pursue
the matter further.” But the incident provided an indication of the diverging
viewpoints of the United States and its allies. Many UN member governments
were willing to pay almost any price to avoid provoking Communist China or
the Soviet Union.

Reconsideration of Force Cutbacks

hatever China’s ultimate objectives and intentions might be, the

appearance of the new enemy clearly made it unwise to reduce the
scale of the UN military effort. By the beginning of November 1950 it had
become entirely possible that General MacArthur might need more assis-
tance, rather than less.

On 4 November Deputy Secretary Lovett suggested to the Joint Chiefs of
Staff the advisability of reconsidering the general reductions in UN forces that
they had approved only a little more than a week earlier.*® Two days later, Gen-
eral Collins submitted to his colleagues his recommendations on this subject. “It
now appears probable that the Korean operations will last longer than antici-
pated,” he wrote, in what was to prove a major understatement. “Therefore I
feel that we must avoid all possible cutbacks at this time in the foreign contin-
gents already in Korea or scheduled for deployment to Korea, including medical
units.” He recommended that all the original requirements remain in force
except that involving Greece, since logistic adjustments to reduce the Greek con-
tingent to a single battalion had already been made. The Joint Chiefs of Staff did
not immediately act on these proposals; they merely told the Secretary of
Defense that action on their recommended reductions should be held in
abeyance for the time being.>

After further consideration, it was agreed among the Joint Chiefs of Staff and
the Departments of State and Defense that the cutbacks previously agreed upon
would be suspended. Plans would continue for the utilization of all the units
then in Korea or projected for deployment thereto, except that the Canadian as
well as the Greek force would be reduced to a battalion; in both of these
instances, it was too late to reverse earlier decisions.®

A prospective need to send additional US forces to Korea also confronted the
Joint Chiefs of Staff. General MacArthur, as already noted, had asked for rein-
forcements in a message of 7 November. All units that he had previously
requested, he said at that time, must now be regarded as a minimum requirement;
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the alternatives to fulfilling these requests would be “either a stalemate or the
prospect of losing all that has thus far been gained.” The flow of Army replace-
ments, which had been cut off, must be resumed; all naval and air units in the Far
Eastern theater must remain there. It was possible that additional units of all the
Services might later have to be requested.*!

This message was turned over to the Department of the Army. With Secretary
Marshall’s approval, it was decided to send General MacArthur approximately
sixty-four of the smaller service support units, from Reserve or National Guard
sources, that he had requested. On 16 November General Collins assured
CINCEFE that the question of augmenting his forces was under consideration;
there would be no reduction in naval forces, he added, and the flow of Army
replacements had already been increased.®> General MacArthur’s requests that
remained unfilled at the end of November included three divisions,® twelve tank
companies, three tank battalions, ten artillery and six engineer battalions, and
various supporting units.* There was little hope of reducing this deficit until the
National Guard divisions in process of mobilization were ready for service.

But there was one source of additional military manpower close at hand: the
Republic of Korea. CINCFE had already undertaken to make use of this supply.
Well before the Inch’on landing, he approved a suggestion by General Walker to
reorganize and expand the ROK Army, of which only five divisions had survived
the North Korean onslaught. Under the Walker plan, five new divisions would
be created, at the rate of one per month, to be supplied with equipment shipped
from the United States. Three of these new divisions had come into existence by
the end of October 1950.°

The legal authority for this plan was somewhat uncertain, since it involved
the provision of US support beyond the 65,000-man limit that had been estab-
lished in 1949 for the Korean MDA program. CINCFE and the Department of the
Army proceeded on the assumption that the President’s statement of 27 June
1950, announcing that US forces would support the ROK Army, authorized them
to exceed this limit. However, on 1 November 1950 the Secretary of the Army
asked President Truman to approve the ten-division plan and the steps already
taken to put it into effect. The President did so three days later. The Joint Chiefs
of Staff were not consulted; the matter was treated as a budgetary problem
between the Department of the Army and the President.®

The Joint Chiefs of Staff had, however, given some thought to the ultimate
size of the ROK forces to be maintained after hostilities ended. At the suggestion
of General Collins, the JSPC had studied this question and on 18 October had
recommended a ten-division army with small naval and air forces. General
Collins, however, pointed out that the expansion of the ROK Army to that goal
was already under way and that the ultimate size of the ROK forces would be
affected by the planned withdrawal of UN forces when fighting ended. He
therefore recommended, and the Joint Chiefs of Staff agreed, that the JSPC
report be set aside for the time being.?” Several days later the Joint Chiefs of Staff
similarly put off action on a study of the postwar ROK Air Force suggested by
General Vandenberg.®

140



A Time of Uncertainty

Preparations for the Final Attack

uring the interlude that followed Eighth Army’s withdrawal behind the

Ch’ongch’on, UN forces registered gains only in northeastern Korea. ROK
troops, with US air and naval support, moved along the coast against stubborn
North Korean resistance, drawing closer to Ch’ongjin, the last major city before
the Siberian border. The 17th Regiment of the US 7th Infantry Division pushed
north to the Yalu at Hyesanjin on 21 November, thus becoming the only US unit
to reach the Korean border. The First Marine Division moved more slowly, with a
caution that was soon to prove its salvation. The 7th Regiment advanced from
Koto-ri to Hagaru-ri, at the southern end of the Changjin Reservoir, and began
constructing an advance base there, while the 5th Regiment moved into Koto-ri
to strengthen the assault.®

At the same time, Eighth Army was preparing to resume its interrupted
advance to the northwestern borders. General Walker had issued an operational
plan for this purpose on 6 November, even before the withdrawal was com-
pleted. The 2d and 25th Infantry Divisions were to be brought up to join the 1st
Cavalry and 24th Infantry Divisions in the assault. The US forces, the ROK 1st
Division, and the Turkish and British brigades would constitute the left and cen-
ter of the advance, while the ROK II Corps, with three divisions, would operate
on the right. The attack was at first scheduled to begin on 15 November, but sup-
ply difficulties necessitated postponement.”

It was originally planned that X Corps would continue its northward advance
in three roughly parallel columns, keeping pace with the Eighth Army. But since
Eighth Army would be moving northwestward, the gap separating it from X
Corps would grow broader as the two forces advanced into a widening spread of
territory. Hence, after some discussion among planning staffs of Eighth Army, X
Corps, and Far East Command, it was agreed that the Marines of X Corps would
reorient their advance toward the west, aiming at the enemy’s main supply
route, which was believed to run southward from Manp’ojin to Kanggye (the
route recently used by the Chinese invaders) and thence southward through
Koindong to Huich’on, in the upper Ch’ongch’on valley. The 3d Division was
expected to provide flank protection for both Eighth Army and X Corps, while
retaining responsibility for the security of Wonsan.”

The Joint Chiefs of Staff had of course been informed that a new attack was in
preparation. On 18 November General MacArthur informed them that the Eighth
Army offensive would begin on 24 November and would be aimed principally at
enemy concentrations between Huich’on and Kanggye. “The air attack of the last
10 days,” he added, “has been largely successful in isolating the battle area from
added reinforcement and has greatly diminished the enemy flow of supply.”7?

This prospective renewal of the northward offensive drew no objections from
the Joint Chiefs of Staff. General Collins and General Bradley later recalled that,
about that time, they felt some alarm about the exposed position of X Corps, but
they did not attempt to interfere with the disposition of the troops. Secretary
Acheson was “deeply apprehensive,” but did not take it upon himself to try to
have the attack called off or postponed.”™
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The United States was at that time deeply engaged in exploring diplomatic
approaches to the Korean problem. An important meeting of the President’s
advisors took place on 21 November 1950—the last, as it turned out, before Gen-
eral MacArthur’s attack began. In preparation for the meeting, Secretary Ache-
son drafted a list of “broad political objectives,” including: withdrawal of the
Chinese and surrender of the remaining North Korean forces, through UN politi-
cal action; unification of the country under the supervision of UNCURK; relin-
quishment of military responsibilities to the ROK; restriction of the fighting to
Korea; and above all, avoidance of “major hostilities” with Communist China.”

An air of mild concern pervaded the meeting, which was attended by the Sec-
retaries of State and Defense, Deputy Secretary Lovett, the Joint Chiefs of Staff,
and several high-ranking State Department officials, including Ambassador Har-
riman and Assistant Secretary Rusk. Secretary Acheson spoke first, presenting
his list of political objectives. He stressed the fear of other UN members that the
United States might become involved in war with Communist China. However,
he agreed that General MacArthur’s attack should proceed as planned—a view
that the Secretary of Defense greeted with pleasure. Secretary Marshall believed
that political initiatives should be postponed until after the attack had been car-
ried out, on the assumption that it would be a success. Secretary Acheson was
less inclined to make this assumption. He noted that he had discouraged the
United Kingdom from pressing its proposal for a demilitarized zone, partly
because he anticipated difficulty in reaching agreement on a zone covering both
sides of the frontier. He continued to stress the need to terminate the Chinese
intervention and the sensitivity of the Soviets toward their borders. Secretary
Marshall urged that it was important for the United States to put forth proposals
while the UN forces were advancing, instead of waiting for other countries to
make proposals that might be unacceptable. Secretary Acheson thought that it
might be possible to give assurance through the UN that would satisfy the Chi-
nese Communists temporarily while a lasting solution was sought.

In the course of this discussion, Mr. Lovett suggested that, instead of an
attempt to establish a demilitarized zone through negotiation, General
MacArthur, after pushing his forces to the border of Manchuria, might simply
pull them back to a defensible position south of the Yalu, thus, in effect, creating
a de facto demilitarized zone by unilateral action. This possibility was considered
by the conferees, most of whom favored it. Generals Bradley, Collins, and Van-
denberg agreed that it would be militarily advantageous to hold the high ground
south of the river rather than the river itself. With the aid of a map, General
Collins traced a possible line that followed the terrain at distances ranging from
10 to 25 miles south of the Yalu. He suggested that General MacArthur might
publicly announce that this line would be held with ROK forces alone and that
the rest of the UN forces would be withdrawn to rear areas while a new govern-
ment was formed. Mr. Lovett and General Vandenberg thought that it would be
“weakness” for the United States to burden itself with self-imposed limitations in
the absence of a negotiated settlement. Secretary Acheson pointed out that it
would be advantageous if the Chinese Communists could be persuaded “to take
through negotiation what we would do anyway,” that is, withdrawal of US
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forces south of the river; he thought that the administrative status of the inter-
vening territory could be left for later determination or perhaps ignored.

After this discussion, Secretaries Marshall and Acheson withdrew, leaving the
others to continue the meeting. The Joint Chiefs of Staff agreed that, if it were
ultimately decided that General MacArthur should in fact withdraw his forces to
the high line south of the river, his directive would have to be amended to make
it clear that he was not required to occupy the intervening territory. The possibil-
ity that his offensive might bog down was considered. Admiral Sherman and
General Vandenberg believed that, in that eventuality, it might be necessary to
threaten to attack Manchuria unless the Chinese withdrew. But the meeting
ended with no consensus on this point.”

At no time during the meeting, it appears, did anyone suggest that General
MacArthur should be ordered to cancel or delay his proposed offensive. Thus
almost by default, the conferees agreed to leave him a free hand.

Following this meeting, Assistant Secretary of State Rusk drafted a message to
CINCFE embodying the sense of the discussion and sent it to General Collins for
review. While recognizing that it was not the responsibility of the State Depart-
ment to draft directives for General MacArthur, he thought that this was “the
most convenient means for setting forth our views for the consideration of the
Department of Defense.””® After further interdepartmental discussion and minor
amendment, General Collins sent the message to General MacArthur on the
evening of 23 November.”

The introductory paragraph of this message warned General MacArthur that
many UN members feared a general war growing out of the clash between UN
troops and Chinese forces. For that reason, it was possible that proposals might
be made in the United Nations for “unwelcome restrictions” on UN troop move-
ments, “since some sentiment exists in UN for establishing a demilitarized zone
between your forces and the frontier.”

The Army Chief of Staff then set forth some proposals for modification of
General MacArthur’s plan. This portion of the message deserves full quotation,
in order to indicate how carefully the authorities in Washington avoided issuing
direct orders to the General.

The consensus of political and military opinion [at the meeting of 21 Novem-
ber] was that there should be no change in your mission, but that immediate
action should be taken at top governmental level to formulate [a] course of action
which would permit the establishment of a unified Korea and at the same time
reduce risk of more general involvement. On the assumption that your coming
attack will be successtul, exploratory discussions were had [sic] to discover what
military measures, which you might in any event wish to take, might lend them-
selves to political action which would reduce tension with Peiping and the Soviet
Union and maintain a solid UN front. The following represent a search for such
measures:

1. After advancing to or near the Yalu, you might secure the position which
you had thus achieved by holding forces on terrain dominatin%t e approaches
from the Valley of the Yalu, from its mouth to approximately the position now
held by the 17th Infantry. These forces would be principally ROK troops while
other UN forces would be grouped in positions ofp readiness to ensure the hold-
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ing of the established line. This, of course, would be contingent on the cessation
of effective enemy resistance.

2. The above position would be extended to the Japan Sea along a general line
approximately east from the 17th Infantry’s position with an outpost at Chongjin,
which would be the limit for the present of your advance to the northeast.

3. It was thought that the above would not seriously affect the accomplish-
ment of your military mission.

4. UN forces would continue to make every effort to spare all hydro-electric
installations in North Korea; destruction of these facilities could result only as
incident to resistance from enemy forces.

5. UNCURK would, at the appropriate time, enter into negotiation with
appropriate representatives to ensure an equitable distribution of hydro-electric

ower.
P 6. In the event that the Chinese did not again attack in force across the Yalu,
the conduct of orderly elections in North Korea and the unification of the country
could proceed in accordance with UN action.

7. Ultimate handling of the extremely sensitive Northeast Province would
await further UN procedures.

While it is recognized that from the point of view of the Commander in the
field this course of action may leave much to be desired, it is felt that there may
be other considerations whicK must be accepted and that the above procedures
would not seriously affect the accomplishment of your military mission. At the
same time it might well provide an out for the Chinese Communists to withdraw
into Manchuria without loss of face and might lessen the concern of the Russians
as to the security of Vladivostok. This concern may be at the root of Russian pres-
sure on the Chinese Communists to intervene in Korea.

The above is suggested as a course of action upon which we would appreciate
your comments. If it should prove feasible the second question would arise as to
whether and how such a course of action might be announced. This would have
to be worked out in such a way as not to impede your operations, but in such a
way that the Chinese and Russians could not mistake UN intentions. Your views
as to timing and source of such an announcement would be appreciated.

Since there are many political and military implications involved in these
ideas and since other nations would be involved, no action along these lines is
contemplated until full opportunity has been given for further consideration of
your views, final decision by the President, and possibly discussion with certain
other governments.

This message unmistakably, though indirectly, authorized General MacArthur
to launch his planned offensive on schedule. Its tentative, almost hesitant, sug-
gestions for changes in his plan were out of date when sent. Both UN and Chi-
nese forces were already poised for major assaults, on a scale larger than at any
previous time in the war. There was no time for leisurely formulation of political
agreements that would satisfy the government in Peiping. The Joint Chiefs of
Staff of course had no knowledge of this fact, having been assured by CINCFE
that the battlefield had been “isolated” by airpower.

Eighth Army’s attack was set to begin on the morning of 24 November in
Korea—about the time when, in Washington, the Joint Chiefs of Staff sent this mes-
sage. Just before the attack, General MacArthur flew to Eighth Army Headquarters
for a tour of the front. According to his account, he observed that ROK troops were
not in good condition and resolved that, if the Chinese were present in force, he
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would at once withdraw and abandon the attempt to move north. For this pur-
pose, he made a further aircraft observation tour behind enemy lines, from the
Ch’ongch’on to the Yalu. Seeing no evidence of large enemy forces anywhere on
the snow-covered landscape, he decided to allow the offensive to take its course.”

On his return to Tokyo, General MacArthur found the latest JCS message wait-
ing him.” But he did not reply until the next day.® He then told the Joint Chiefs of
Staff that he “fully understood and shared” the desire to confine the spread of the
war, but that their approach “would be provocative of the very consequences we
seek to avert.” His reconnaissance of the objective area had, he said,

demonstrated conclusively that it would be utterly impossible for us to stop
upon commanding terrain south of the river as suggested and there be in a posi-
tion to hold under effective control [the] lines of approach to North Korea. The
terrain ranging from the lowlands in the west to the rugged central and eastern
sectors is not adaptable to such a system of defense were we, for any reason, to
sacrifice the natural defense features of the river line itself, features to be found in
no other natural defense line in all of Korea. Nor would it be either militarily or
politically defensible to yield this natural protective barrier safeguarding the ter-
ritorial integrity of Korea.

General MacArthur went on to argue against the “disastrous consequences”
of failing to push the war to a successful conclusion. It would be regarded as a
“betrayal” by the people of Korea and as weakness by other Asiatic nations.
Soviet and Chinese propaganda provided no evidence that those countries were
seriously disturbed by the prospect of UN control of the south bank of the Yalu.
The possibility of Chinese intervention was a risk assumed when the United
States first committed its forces to Korea. There had been no apparent Chinese or
Soviet reaction to the presence of US troops at Hyesanjin. The UN Command had
“repeatedly and publicly” emphasized the fact that it had no aggressive designs.
His intention, as soon as he could consolidate the UN position along the Yalu,
was to replace US forces with ROK troops as far as possible. He would then issue
orders returning US troops to Japan and paroling all prisoners to their homes,
leaving Korean unification to be carried out by the people of Korea, with UN
assistance. He concluded by expressing the view that

the promﬁt implementation of this plan as soon as our military objectives have
been reached will effectively appeal to reason in the Chinese mind. If it will not,
then the resulting situation is not one which might be influenced by bringing to a
halt our military measures short of present commitments. By resolutely meeting
those commitments and accomplishing our military mission as so often publicly
delineated lies best—indeed only—hope that Soviet and Chinese aggressive
designs may be checked before these countries are committed to a course from
which for political reasons they cannot withdraw.®'

Obviously General MacArthur did not share the concern felt in Washington
over the danger of a wider war. “He seems very disdainful of our concern over
the major conflict with the Chinese,” Admiral Sherman commented after reading
this message.®
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By the time this message reached Washington, UN troops were in motion all
across the front, wholly ignorant of the size of the enemy forces lying in wait for
them. The stage had been set for the shattering defeat that was soon to come. By
not interfering with General MacArthur’s plans, the administration had “missed
its last chance to halt the march to disaster in Korea,” as Secretary Acheson later
wrote.® The Secretary’s comments about the drift of events during the critical
period in November, from the first appearance of Chinese troops to General
MacArthur’s final announcement of his impending offensive, deserve extensive
quotation:

... All the dangers from dispersal of our own forces and intervention by the Chi-
nese were manifest. We were all deeply apprehensive. We were frank with one
another, but not quite frank enough. }I) was unwilling to urge on the President a
military course that his military advisers would not propose. They would not pro-
pose it because it ran counter to American military tradition of the proper powers
of the theater commander. . ..If General Marshall and the Chiefs had proposed
withdrawal to the Pyongyang-Wonsan line and a continuous defensive position
under united command across it—and if the President had backed them, as he
undoubtedly would have—disaster would probably have been averted. But it
would have meant a fight with MacArthur. .. and his relief under arguable cir-
cumstances. So they hesitated, wavered, and the chance was lost. While everyone
acted correctly, no one, I suspect, was ever quite satisfied with himself afterward.®
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MacArthur’s Attack Begins

he “final” offensive of the UN Command, intended to carry the troops right

up to the northern boundary of Korea, began on the morning of 24 Novem-
ber 1950. On the same day, in Tokyo, UNC headquarters released a special com-
munique setting forth the objectives and the general nature of the planned opera-
tion, as follows:

The United Nations massive compression envelopment of North Korea against
the new Red Armies operating there is now approaching its decisive effort.
The isolating component of the pincer, our Air Forces of all types, have, for the
past three weeks, ... successfully interdicted enemy lines of support from the
north so that further reinforcement therefrom has been sharply curtailed and
essential supplies markedly limited. The eastern sector of the pincer...has
steadily advanced in a brilliant tactical movement and has now reached a com-
manding envelol}:in position, cutting in two the northern reaches of the
enemy’s geographical potential. This morning the western sector of the pincer
moves forward in a general assault in an effort to complete the compression
and close the vise. If successful this should for all practical purposes end the
war, restore peace and unity to Korea, enable the prompt withdrawal of
United Nations military forces, and permit the complete assumption by the
Korean people and nation of full sovereignty and international equality. It is
that for which we fight.!

The attacking forces jumped off at 0800. On the left of the battle line were the
US 24th Infantry Division, the ROK 1st Division, and the 27th British Brigade,
making up the US I Corps. The 25th and 2d Infantry Divisions and the Turkish
Brigade (IX Corps) held the center, while the ROK II Corps (6th, 7th, and 8th
Divisions) constituted the right wing. The 1st Cavalry Division was in reserve.
The initial objective line (roughly one-quarter of the distance from the starting
line to the northwestern boundary of Korea) ran from Napch’ongjong, seven or
eight miles east of Chongju, through T’aech’on, Onjong, and Huich’on.?
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The enemy’s total strength was believed by FECOM to amount to almost
83,000 North Koreans and from 40,000 to 70,935 Chinese Communists.’ These fig-
ures were, however, far too low. Unknown to US intelligence, the IX Chinese
Communist Army Group—12 divisions in three armies—had moved into Korea
to oppose X Corps. This force, added to the 18 divisions on Eighth Army’s front,
gave a total of 30 divisions, or approximately 300,000 men.*

All went well at first. The US 24th Division, on the extreme left, led the pace,
registering gains of three to four miles within the first two hours. Throughout
the first day and most of the second, US forces moved steadily forward, finding
little opposition. By the end of 25 November the 24th Division had already
passed Napch’ongjong and was within a mile of Chongju. The ROK units were
less successful. The 1st Division had been driven back by a counterattack
southeast of T’aech’on, while the 7th and 8th Divisions had encountered resis-
tance from the outset.

Disaster Strikes

n the evening of 25 November the enemy unleashed his full force. A power-
ful attack erupted against the ROK 8th Division, on the extreme right, and

drove it back in disorder. On the following day the attack spread to the ROK 7th
Division and then all across Eighth Army’s front. The enemy concentrated on the
ROK troops, fully aware that they were the weakest elements in Eighth Army.

During the next two days, it became clear that the Chinese had wrested the
initiative from Eighth Army. The ROK II Corps was all but destroyed; its rem-
nants fell back to Pukch’ong, well below the beginning line of the advance, and
sought to rally behind the protection of the ROK 6th Division. The right flank of
US 2d Division, on the east edge of IX Corps, now stood exposed. On the left, the
ROK 1st Division seemed likely to give way, thus endangering the 24th Division.
By 28 November it had become clear that there was no hope of further advance.
Once more Eighth Army headed back toward the Ch’ongch’on River, this time
under extreme pressure.®

The “western sector of the pincer,” as General MacArthur had described
Eighth Army in his communique of 24 November, had been smashed. The east-
ern sector fared no better. On 27 November, the 5th and 7th Marine Regiments
moved westward from the Changjin Reservoir, in the direction of the enemy sup-
ply route. Heavy fighting limited their advance to less than a mile the first day.
During the night, Chinese troops slipped into position all around them, cutting
their line of retreat. By the next day, the attackers had become the besieged. The
Marines reversed their direction and started to fight their way back to their base
at Hagaru-ri.”

On 28 November General MacArthur reported to the Joint Chiefs of Staft the
complete collapse of the UN offensive in the following words:
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The developments resulting from our assault movements have now assumed
a clear definition. All hope of localization of the Korean conflict to enemy forces
composed of North Korean troops with alien token elements can now be com-
pletely abandoned. The Chinese military forces are committed in North Korea in
great and ever increasing strength. No pretext of minor support under the guise
of volunteerism or other subterfuge now has the slightest validity. We face an
entirely new war. . ..

The “pattern of Chinese strategy,” continued General MacArthur, had now
become clear. The initial intervention had been intended to arrest the UN
advance. Having done so, the Chinese had broken contact in order to build up
overwhelming strength for an offensive, probably to be launched in the spring.
The ultimate Chinese objective, in the General’s view, was “the complete destruc-
tion of all United Nations forces in Korea.”

General MacArthur went on to complain, as he was to continue to do in the
weeks that followed, that his command had been given a task that was beyond
its capacity. He told the Joint Chiefs of Staff

At the present moment the freezing of the Yalu River increasingly opens up
avenues of reinforcement and supply which it is impossible for our air potential
to interdict. It is quite evident that our present strength of force is not sufficient to
meet this undeclared war by the Chinese with the inherent advantages which
accrue thereby to them. The resulting situation presents an entire new picture
which broadens the potentialities to world embracing considerations beyond the
slghere of decision by the Theater Commander. This command has done every-
thing humanly possible within its capabilities but is now faced with conditions
beyond its control and its strength.

His present plan, he concluded, was, in accord with the JCS directives of 27
September and 9 October, “to pass from the offensive to the defensive with such
local adjustments as may be required by a constantly fluid situation.”®

The Reaction in Washington

he Joint Chiefs of Staff had been following the developing tactical situation,

and had observed that matters were not progressing as General MacArthur
had predicted. They met on 27 November for a lengthy discussion of various top-
ics, and doubtless touched upon the subject of Korea, but at that time matters did
not seem excessively alarming.’ It was not until early the next morning that 